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QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2005

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File No. 0-5965

NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 36-2723087
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

50 South LaSalle Street
Chicago, Illinois 60675
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’ s telephone number, including area code: (312) 630-6000

Indicate by check
mark whether the
registrant (1) has filed
all reports required to
be filed by Section 13
or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter
period that the
registrant was
required to file such
reports), and (2) has
been subject to such
filing requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes
No [
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes No O

218,635,700 Shares - $1.66 2/3 Par Value
(Shares of Common Stock Outstanding on March 31, 2005)
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

March 31 December 31 March 31
($ In Millions Except Share Information) 2005 2004 2004
Assets
Cash and Due from Banks

$2,277.7 $2,052.5 $1,417.4

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell
2,063.1 1,339.9 829.9

Time Deposits with Banks
12,375.8 11,793.2 9,565.7

Other Interest-Bearing
34.5 34.4 32.7

Securities

Available for Sale
7,675.3 7,918.9 7,541.8

Held to Maturity (Fair value - $1,153.6 at March 2005, $1,156.6 at December 2004, $1,138.7 at
March 2004)
1,135.8 1,120.2 1,088.5

Trading Account
10.2 2.6 5.7

Total Securities
8,821.3 9,041.7 8,636.0

Loans and Leases

Commercial and Other
10,870.5 9,847.4 9,163.4

Residential Mortgages
8,067.2 8,095.3 7,910.2
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Total Loans and Leases (Net of unearned income - $480.4 at March 2005, $487.5 at December 2004,

$430.3 at March 2004)

Reserve for Credit Losses Assigned to Loans and Leases

Buildings and Equipment

Customers’ Acceptance Liability

Trust Security Settlement Receivables

Other Assets

Total Assets

Liabilities

Deposits

Demand and Other Noninterest-Bearing

Savings and Money Market

Savings Certificates Savings Certificates

Other Time Other Time

Foreign Offices - Demand

- Time

Total Deposits
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18,9377 17,9427  17,073.6
(131.1 ) (1307 ) (1434 )
480.7 465.1 491.4
1.0 2.0 1.3
268.5 148.9 284.7
2,632.1 2,587.0 1,989.6
$47,761.3  $45276.7  $40,178.9
$5,556.7  $5,472.8  $4,524.6
7,789.3 7,950.6 7,698.6
1,476.1 1,494.0 1,490.6
370.8 370.7 295.5
1,380.3 904.2 741.9
18,5235 14,8653  13,696.4
35,0967  31,057.6  28,447.6


http://www.secdatabase.com

Federal Funds Purchased

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase

Commercial Paper

Other Borrowings

Senior Notes

Long-Term Debt

Floating Rate Capital Debt

Liability on Acceptances

Other Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock, $1.66 2/3 Par Value; Authorized 560,000,000 shares; Outstanding 218,635,700
shares at March 2005, 219,067,733 shares at December 2004 and 220,388,521 shares at March

2004

Retained Earnings

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Common Stock Issuable - Stock Incentive Plans

Deferred Compensation
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1,034.2 1,018.3 1,476.9
1,757.0  2,847.9 1,590.5
140.3 145.4 145.0
2,6128  3,177.0 2,092.5
288.3 200.0 350.0
1,1443  863.6 864.5
276.3 276.3 276.2

1.0 2.0 1.3
2,049.0 23930 1,816.0
44,399.9  41981.1  37,060.5
379.8 379.8 379.8
3,389.2  3,300.6 3,069.1
(14.9 147 ) 117 )

72.6

(39.3

63.0 72.4

250 ) (343 )
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Treasury Stock (at cost, 9,285,824 shares at March 2005, 8,853,791 shares at December 2004 and
7,533,003 shares at March 2004)
(426.0 ) (4081 ) (3569 )

Total Stockholders’ Equity
3,361.4 3,295.6 3,118.4

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
$47,761.3  $45,276.7  $40,178.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

Three Months
Ended March 31
($ In Millions Except Per Share Information) 2005 2004
Noninterest Income
Trust, Investment and Other Servicing Fees
$357.2 $327.9
Foreign Exchange Trading Profits
38.2 41.4
Treasury Management Fees
19.7 23.0
Security Commissions and Trading Income
14.1 14.5
Other Operating Income
20.1 19.7
Investment Security Gains
1 =
Total Noninterest Income
449.4 426.5
Net Interest Income
Interest Income
343.5 254.4
Interest Expense
186.1 115.9
Net Interest Income
157.4 138.5
Provision for Credit Losses
- 5.0
Net Interest Income after Provision for Credit Losses
157.4 143.5
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Noninterest Expenses

Compensation
178.2
Employee Benefits
46.4
Occupancy Expense
30.3
Equipment Expense
19.3
Other Operating Expenses
120.8
Total Noninterest Expenses
395.0
Income before Income Taxes
211.8
Provision for Income Taxes
72.7
Net Income
$139.1
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock
$139.1
Per Common Share
Net Income
- Basic
$.64
- Diluted
.63
Cash Dividends Declared
21
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165.4

38.4

30.7

20.1

122.6

377.2

192.8

65.3

$127.5

$127.5

$.58

.57

.19
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Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding - Basic
218,453,518

- Diluted
221,657,839

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

($ In Millions)

Net Income

Other Comprehensive Income (net of tax)

Net Unrealized Losses on Securities Available for Sale

Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Cash Flow Hedge Designations

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments

Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive Income
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220,102,831

224,384,348

Three Months
Ended March 31
2005 2004

$139.1  $1275

3 ) (1)
2 23 )
() (4 )
2 ) @8)

$138.9 $124.7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY - NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

(In Millions)

Common Stock

Balance at January 1 and March 31

Retained Earnings

Balance at January 1

Net Income

Dividend Declared - Common Stock

Stock Issued - Incentive Plan and Awards

Balance at March 31

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Balance at January 1

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Balance at March 31

Common Stock Issuable - Stock Incentive Plans

Balance at January 1
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Three Months Ended
March 31
2005 2004
$379.8 $379.8
3,300.6 2,990.7
139.1 127.5
(459 ) (419 )
@6 ) (72 )
3,389.2 3,069.1
147 ) (89 )
2 ) @8 )
(149 ) (117 )
63.0 88.6
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Stock Issuable, net of Stock Issued
9.6 (16.2 )

Balance at March 31
72.6 72.4

Deferred Compensation

Balance at January 1
25.0 ) (264 )

Compensation Deferred
Q77 ) @113 )

Compensation Amortized
34 3.4

Balance at March 31
(393 ) (343 )

Treasury Stock

Balance at January 1

(408.1) (368.5)

Stock Options and Awards
18.6 57.1

Stock Purchased
(365 ) (455 )

Balance at March 31
(426.0 ) (356.9)

Total Stockholders’ Equity at March 31
$3,361.4 $3,1184

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

First Quarter

Ended March 31

($ In Millions) 2005 2004
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net Income
$139.1 $127.5
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Provision for Credit Losses
- (5.0
Depreciation on Buildings and Equipment
19.1 19.9
(Increase) Decrease in Receivables
27.7 14.7
Decrease in Interest Payable
(7.3 (8.2
Amortization and Accretion of Securities and Unearned Income
(50.6 (24.3
Amortization and Retirement of Computer Software
20.2 20.2
Amortization of Other Intangibles
2.2 24
Net (Increase) Decrease in Trading Account Securities
(7.6 1.7
Other Operating Activities, net
144.5 97.4
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
231.9 246.3
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Net Increase in Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell
(723.2 (75.3
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Net (Increase) Decrease in Time Deposits with Banks

Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Interest-Bearing Assets

Purchases of Securities-Held to Maturity

Proceeds from Maturity and Redemption of Securities-Held to Maturity

Purchases of Securities-Available for Sale

Proceeds from Sale, Maturity and Redemption of Securities-Available for Sale

Net (Increase) Decrease in Loans and Leases

Purchases of Buildings and Equipment, net

Purchases and Development of Computer Software

Net Increase in Trust Security Settlement Receivables

Decrease in Cash Due to Acquisitions

Other Investing Activities, net

Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Net Increase in Deposits

Net Increase (Decrease) in Federal Funds Purchased

Net Decrease in Securities Sold under Agreements to Repurchase
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2,335.9 (798.0 )
1 ) 0.1
438 ) (670 )
30.2 26.5
(13,580.9)  (3,988.4)
13,833.6 4,677.3
(6148 )  749.8
202 ) (137 )
Q7.6 ) (224 )
196 ) (1141 )
4578 ) -
(140.7 )  55.1
471.0 439.9
918.2 2,177.6
15.9 (1,152.5)
(1,090.9 ) (2373 )


http://www.secdatabase.com

Net Increase (Decrease) in Commercial Paper
(5.1 ) 2.7

Net Decrease in Short-Term Other Borrowings
6045 ) (1,577.9)

Proceeds from Term Federal Funds Purchased
138.0 =

Repayments of Term Federal Funds Purchased
(1380 ) 6.6 )

Proceeds from Senior Notes & Long-Term Debt
470.7 =

Repayments of Senior Notes & Long-Term Debt
(1003 ) (2 )

Treasury Stock Purchased
361 ) (433 )

Net Proceeds from Stock Options
4.2 15.4

Cash Dividends Paid on Common Stock
(46.0 ) 418 )

Other Financing Activities, net

B8 ) (8 )

Net Cash (Used in) Financing Activities
471.7 ) (864.7 )

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Due from Banks

225.2 (178.5 )
Cash and Due from Banks at Beginning of Year
2,052.5 1,595.9
Cash and Due from Banks at End of Period
$2,277.7 $1,417.4
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Interest Paid
$193.4 $124.1
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Income Taxes Paid (Received)
182 ) 18.3
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presentation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Northern Trust Corporation (Corporation) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, Northern Trust), all of which are wholly-owned. Significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated. The consolidated financial statements reflect Northern Trust’ s purchase on March 31, 2005 of Baring Asset Management’ s
Financial Services Group (FSQ), as discussed in Note 7. In June 2003, the Corporation disposed of substantially all of the assets of Northern
Trust Retirement Consulting, L.L.C. (NTRC). The operating results of NTRC, previously presented as discontinued operations, are immaterial
to, and have been incorporated within, the consolidated results of operations of Northern Trust. The consolidated financial statements, as of
March 31, 2005 and 2004, have not been audited by the Corporation’ s independent registered public accounting firm. In the opinion of
management, all accounting entries and adjustments, including normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial
position and the results of operations for the interim periods have been made. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods’
consolidated financial statements to place them on a basis comparable with the current period’ s consolidated financial statements. For a
description of Northern Trust’ s significant accounting policies, refer to Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2004
Annual Report to Shareholders.

2. Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In December 2003, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of
Position 03-3 (SOP 03-3), “Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer” to address the accounting for differences
attributable to credit quality between contractual cash flows and expected cash flows from loans or debt securities acquired in a transfer. SOP
03-3 requires that loans acquired in a transfer initially be recorded at the present value of their expected cash flows. The SOP prohibits the
carrying over or creation of valuation allowances in the initial accounting for loans acquired that are within the scope of the SOP. SOP 03-3 is
effective for loans acquired in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2004. Adoption of this SOP as of January 1, 2005, and its application
to the March 31, 2005 FSG acquisition (see Note 6), did not have a material effect on Northern Trust’ s consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

3. Stock-Based Compensation Plans - The Northern Trust Corporation 2002 Stock Plan (2002 Plan), administered by the Compensation
Committee of the Corporation’ s Board of Directors, provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, stock awards, performance shares and stock units. As of March 31, 2005, shares available for future grant under the 2002
Plan totaled 8,549,897.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “‘Share-Based Payment,” (SFAS No. 123(R)). SFAS No. 123(R)
addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which an enterprise receives employee services in exchange for (a) equity
instruments of the enterprise or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair value of the enterprise’ s equity instruments or that may be settled by
the issuance of such equity instruments. SFAS No. 123(R) requires an entity to recognize the grant-date fair value of stock options and other
equity-based compensation issued to employees within the income statement using a fair-value-based method, eliminating the intrinsic value
method of accounting previously permissible under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (APB No. 25) and related interpretations.

On April 15, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued a ruling amending the date for compliance with SFAS No. 123(R).
Registrants will be required to adopt FAS 123(R) beginning with the first interim or annual reporting period of the registrant’ s first fiscal year
beginning on or after June 15, 2005. For Northern Trust, this ruling will require adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) by no later than January 1,
2006.

Prior to the required adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), Northern Trust has elected to account for its stock-based incentive plans and awards under
APB No. 25, and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure.”

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is presented on the following page as if the Corporation had accounted for
all stock-based compensation under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123. For purposes of estimating the fair value of the Corporation’ s
employee stock options at the grant date, a Black-Scholes option pricing model was used with the following weighted average assumptions for
2005 and 2004, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 4.21% and 3.13%; dividend yields of 3.03% and 2.53%; volatility factors of the
expected market price of the Corporation’ s common stock of 33.7% and 33.8%; and a weighted average expected option life of 5.5 years for
both years.

The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2004 was $13.62 per share. For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair
value of these options are amortized over the options’ one- to four-year vesting periods.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

In February 2005, 2,401,500 options, with a weighted average fair value of $12.37 per share, were granted to employees of the Corporation
under the 2002 Plan. The terms of this option grant provided for full vesting on March 31, 2005. The pro forma information for the current
quarter presented below includes $29.7 million ($18.5 million after-tax) of pro forma expense reflecting the full vesting of the February 2005
option grant on March 31, 2005. As a result, no compensation expense relating to the February 2005 options will be included within Northern
Trust’ s results of operations after its adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). In addition to the reduced compensation expense, the vesting period for
the February 2005 grant was influenced by the fact that over half of the then outstanding options granted prior to 2005 had exercise prices that
exceeded the current market value of Northern Trust’ s stock.

The Corporation’ s pro forma information follows.

Three Months
Ended March 31

(In Millions Except per Share Information) 2005 2004

Net Income as Reported
$139.1 $127.5

Add: Stock-Based Employee Compensation Expense Included in Reported Net Income, Net of Tax
2.2 4.8

Deduct: Total Stock-Based Employee Compensation Expense Determined Under the Fair Value Method,
Net of Tax
(24.7) (15.6)

Pro Forma Net Income
$116.6 $116.7

Earnings Per Share as Reported:

Basic
$.64 $.58
Diluted
.63 57
Pro Forma Earnings Per Share:
Basic
$.53 $.53
Diluted
52 52

The pro forma information presented above for 2004 has been revised to adjust the amortization period for options granted to retirement-
eligible employees or employees projected to become retirement-eligible during the vesting period of an option grant, to the lesser of the
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vesting period or the period to retirement eligibility. Previously, pro forma compensation cost for all stock options was amortized over the
options’ vesting periods.

Northern Trust anticipates adopting SFAS No. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006, in accordance with the SEC’ s ruling. Expense treatment
under SFAS No. 123(R) for the vesting of options granted through March 31, 2005 will increase pre-tax compensation expense for the fiscal
year 2006 by approximately $5 million, resulting in an approximate $.02 reduction in 2006 earnings per share. Future stock option grants will
result in additional expense recognition through their respective vesting periods. The amount and timing of expense to be recorded under
SFAS No. 123(R) for future grants will be dependent upon the volumes, terms, and valuations of such grants.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4. Securities - The following table summarizes the book and fair values of securities.

March 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 March 31, 2004
Book Fair Book Fair Book Fair
(In Millions) Value Value Value Value Value Value

Available for Sale
U.S. Government
$33.5 $33.5 $23.6 $23.6 $102.2 $102.2

Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions
324 324 32.8 32.8 343 343

Government Sponsored Agency
6,371.2 6,371.2  6,710.5 6,710.5 6,831.7 6,831.7

Preferred Stock
65.6 65.6 69.1 69.1 64.1 64.1

Asset-Backed
1,009.9 1,009.9 9004 900.4 284.6 284.6

Other
162.7 162.7 182.5 182.5 224.9 224.9
Subtotal
7,675.3 7,675.3 79189 79189 7,541.8 7,541.8
Held to Maturity

U.S. Government
Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions
896.1 919.5 896.8 938.0 898.2 952.6

Government Sponsored Agency
11.5 11.4 11.7 11.7 9.9 9.9

Other
228.2 222.7 211.7 206.9 179.9 175.7

Subtotal
1,135.8 1,153.6 11,1202 1,156.6 1,088.5 1,138.7
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Trading Account
10.2 10.2 2.6 2.6 5.7 5.7

Total Securities
$8,821.3 $8,839.1 $9,041.7 $9,078.1 $8,636.0 $8,686.2

Reconciliation of Amortized Cost to Fair Values of Securities Available for Sale

March 31, 2005

Amortized _Gross Unrealized Fair
(In Millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. Government
$33.5 W= $- $33.5
Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions
30.6 1.8 - 32.4
Government Sponsored Agency
6,372.3 9 2.0 6,371.2
Preferred Stock
65.6 - - 65.6
Asset-Backed
1,009.9 5 .5 1,009.9
Other
162.5 2 - 162.7
Total

$7,6744 $34 $2.5 $7,675.3

Reconciliation of Book Values to Fair Values of Securities Held to Maturity

March 31, 2005

Book Gross Unrealized Fair

(In Millions) Value Gains Losses Value

Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions
$896.1 $27.7 $43 $919.5

Government Sponsored Agency
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Other
228.2 .1 5.6 222.7

Total
$1,135.8 $27.9 $10.1 $1,153.6
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

5. Loans and Leases - Amounts outstanding in selected loan categories are shown below.

(In Millions) March 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 March 31, 2004

Domestic

Residential Real Estate

$8,067.2 $ 8,095.3 $7,910.2
Commercial
3,534.8 3,190.0 3,243.6
Broker
26.4 27.9 28.9
Commercial Real Estate
1,387.3 1,307.5 1,237.7
Personal
2,857.1 2,927.2 2,485.6
Other
714.1 609.7 464.3
Lease Financing
1,239.3 1,221.8 1,211.0
Total Domestic
17,826.2 17,379.4 16,581.3
International
1,111.5 563.3 492.3
Total Loans and Leases
$18,937.7 $17,942.7 $17,073.6
Reserve for Credit Losses Assigned to Loans and Leases
(131.1 ) (130.7 ) (1434 )
Net Loans and Leases
$18,806.6 $17,812.0 $16,930.2

At March 31, 2005, other domestic and international loans included $937.9 million of overnight trust-related advances, compared with $710.0

million at December 31, 2004 and $490.9 million at March 31, 2004.
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At March 31, 2005, nonperforming loans and leases totaled $34.0 million. Included in this amount were loans with a recorded investment of
$32.2 million (net of $7.3 million in charge-offs) that were also classified as impaired. A loan is impaired when, based on available
information, it is probable that a creditor will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.
Impaired loans totaling $2.4 million (net of $4.8 million in charge-offs) had no portion of the reserve for credit losses allocated to them while
impaired loans totaling $29.8 million (net of $2.5 million in charge-offs) had an allocated reserve of $24.6 million. For the first quarter of
2005, the total recorded investment in impaired loans averaged $31.0 million. There was approximately $7 thousand of interest income
recorded on impaired loans for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

At March 31, 2004, nonperforming loans and leases totaled $71.6 million and included $69.1 million (net of $14.8 million in charge-offs) of
impaired loans. Of these impaired loans, $5.1 million (net of $4.8 million in charge-offs) had no portion of the reserve for credit losses
allocated to them while $64.0 million (net of $10.0 million in charge-offs) had an allocated reserve of $33.5 million. The total recorded
investment in impaired loans for the first quarter of 2004 averaged $74.2 million. There was no interest income recognized on such loans for
the three months ended March 31, 2004.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

At March 31, 2003, residential real estate loans totaling $1.5 million were held for sale and carried at the lower of cost or market. Loan
commitments for residential real estate loans that will be held for sale when funded are carried at fair value and had a total notional amount of
$8.9 million at March 31, 2005. All other loan commitments are carried at the amount of unamortized fees with a reserve for credit loss
liability recognized for any probable losses. At March 31, 2005, legally binding commitments to extend credit totaled $16.4 billion compared
with $16.2 billion at both December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2004.

6. Reserve for Credit Losses - Changes in the reserve for credit losses were as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31

(In Millions) 2005 2004

Balance at Beginning of Period
$139.3 $157.2

Charge-Offs

1 ) 4.1 )
Recoveries

5 34
Net Recoveries (Charge-Offs)

4 ‘7 )
Provision for Credit Losses

- 5.0 )

Balance at End of Period
$139.7 $151.5

Reserve for Credit Losses Assigned to:

Loans and Leases
$131.1 $143.4

Unfunded Commitments and Standby Letters of Credit
8.6 8.1

Total Reserve for Credit Losses
$139.7 $151.5

In accordance with SOP 03-3, no reserve for credit losses was established for the $366.6 million of loans acquired through the March 31, 2005
purchase of FSG. Loans acquired were recorded at the present value of their expected cash flows, which did not differ materially from their
contractual principal outstanding at the date of acquisition.
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The reserve for credit losses represents management’ s estimate of probable inherent losses that have occurred as of the date of the financial
statements. The loan and lease portfolio and other credit exposures are regularly reviewed to evaluate the adequacy of the reserve for credit
losses. In determining the level of the reserve, Northern Trust evaluates the reserve necessary for specific nonperforming loans and also
estimates losses inherent in other credit exposures.

The result is a reserve with the following components:

Specific Reserve. The amount of specific reserve is determined through a loan-by-loan analysis of nonperforming loans that considers
expected future cash flows, the value of collateral and other factors that may impact the borrower’ s ability to pay.

11
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Allocated Inherent Reserve. The amount of the allocated portion of the inherent loss reserve is based on loss factors assigned to Northern
Trust’ s credit exposures, which depend upon internal credit ratings. These loss factors primarily include management’ s judgment concerning
the effect of the current business cycle on the creditworthiness of Northern Trust’ s borrowers as well as historical charge-off experience.

Unallocated Inherent Reserve. Management determines the unallocated portion of the inherent reserve based on factors that cannot be
associated with a specific credit or loan category. These factors include management’ s subjective evaluation of local and national economic
and business conditions, portfolio concentration and changes in the character and size of the loan portfolio. The unallocated portion of the
inherent reserve reflects management’ s attempt to ensure that the overall reserve appropriately reflects a margin for the imprecision inherent
in the process of estimating probable credit losses.

7. Business Combinations - On March 31, 2005, Northern Trust completed its acquisition of Baring Asset Management' s Financial Services
Group (FSG) from ING Group N.V. (The Netherlands). The purchase price totaled 260 million British pounds Sterling (GBP) (approximately
$490 million based on March 31, 2005 exchange rates), and is subject to adjustment 120 days post closing to reflect changes in certain defined
revenues. Changes to the purchase price, if any, will be reflected as an adjustment to the cost of the acquisition when resolved and
determinable.

FSG is a fund services group that offers fund administration, custody, and trust services, and had approximately $70 billion in funds under
administration, $33 billion in custody, and $32 billion in trust assets as of March 31, 2005. The acquisition of FSG will expand Northern
Trust’ s global fund administration, hedge fund, private equity, and property administration capabilities.

The cost of the acquisition, inclusive of approximately $10 million of transaction costs, totaled approximately $500 million. Assets of $3.7
billion, including $2.9 billion of money market assets, $366.6 million of loans, $189.7 million of goodwill and $142.0 million of other
intangible assets, and liabilities of $3.2 billion were recorded at their estimated fair values. Other intangible assets recorded in connection with
the acquisition, reflecting the value of acquired client relationships, will be amortized over ten years. There are no results of operations for
FSG included within Northern Trust’ s operating results for the current quarter due to the March 31, 2005 acquisition date.

Goodwill and other intangible assets are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The following table shows the changes in
the carrying amount of goodwill by business unit for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

Corporate and

Institutional Personal Financial

(In Millions) Services Services Total
Balance at December 31, 2004

$ 141.7 $ 583 $200.0
Goodwill Acquired - FSG

179.7 10.0 189.7

Balance at March 31, 2005

$ 3214 $ 683 $389.7
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of other intangible assets at March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004, was as follows:

March 31
2005 2004
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
(In Millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Other Intangible Assets- Subject to Amortization
$ 2573 $ 81.6 $ 1143 $ 72.0

Other intangible assets consist primarily of the value of acquired client relationships. Amortization expense related to other intangible assets
totaled $2.2 million and $2.4 million for the quarters ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Amortization for the remainder of 2005
and for the years 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 is estimated to be $18.7 million, $24.7 million, $22.4 million, $20.0 million and $19.5 million,
respectively.

8. Sterling Debt - On March 11, 2005, the Corporation, through its principal subsidiary The Northern Trust Company (Bank), issued debt
totaling 250 million GBP ($470 million), the proceeds of which were used primarily to fund the acquisition of FSG (see Note 7). The debt
consists of (i) subordinated notes with a total face value of 150 million GBP ($282 million) which mature March 11, 2015 and were issued at a
discount of .484%, or 726 thousand GBP ($1.4 million), and (ii) senior notes with a total face value of 100 million GBP ($188 million) which
mature March 11, 2010 with no discount. Interest on the subordinated notes is fixed at 5.375% with payment due annually. Interest on the
senior notes floats based on the three-month Sterling LIBOR plus 10 basis points with payment due quarterly.

13
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

9. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income - The following tables summarize the components of accumulated other comprehensive

income at March 31, 2005 and 2004, and changes during the three month periods then ended, presented on an after-tax basis.

(In Millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2005

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Securities Available for Sale

Less: Reclassification Adjustments

Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Securities Available for Sale

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Cash Flow Hedge Designations

Less: Reclassification Adjustments

Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Cash Flow Hedge Designations

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments

Minimum Pension Liability

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

(In Millions)

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Securities Available for Sale

Less: Reclassification Adjustments

Beginning Period Change Ending
Balance Pre-Tax Tax Balance
(Net of Tax) Amount Effect (Net of Tax)
$C(7 ) $(4 ) $.a $(1.0 )

7 ) “4 ) 1 1.0 )
5 (1.8 ) 7 6 )
— 2.1) 8 13 )
5 3 (1) i
8 ) 2 ) 1 ¢ )
(137 ) — -~ (137 )
$(147 ) $(3 ) 8.4 $ (149 )
Three Months Ended March 31, 2004
Beginning Period Change Ending
Balance Pre-Tax Tax Balance
(Net of Tax) Amount Effect (Net of Tax)
$2.7 $C1 ) % $2.6
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Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Securities Available for Sale

2.7 (1 ) = 2.6
Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Cash Flow Hedge Designations

3 (2 ) .1 2
Less: Reclassification Adjustments

= 3.5 (1.3) 22

Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Cash Flow Hedge Designations

3 3.7) 1.4 20 )
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments

.1 (.8 ) 4 (3 )
Minimum Pension Liability

(12.0 ) = = (12.0 )
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

$®89 ) $(4.6 ) $1.8 $(11.7 )

10. Net Income Per Common Share Computations - The computation of net income per common share is presented in the following table.

($ In Millions Except Per Share Information)

Basic Net Income Per Common Share

Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding

Net Income Applicable to Common Stock

Basic Net Income Per Common Share

Diluted Net Income Per Common Share

Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding

Plus Dilutive Potential Common Shares:

Stock Options
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Three Months Ended March 31

2005

218,453,518

$139.1

$.64

218,453,518

2,187,296

2004

220,102,831

$127.5

$.58

220,102,831

3,278,296
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Stock Incentive Plans

1,017,025 1,003,221
Average Common and Potential Common Shares
221,657,839 224,384,348
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock
$139.1 $127.5
Diluted Net Income Per Common Share
$.63 $.57

Note: For the quarters ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, options to purchase 16,768,275 and 11,856,629 shares of the Corporation’s common
stock, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices were greater than the

average market price of Northern Trust’s common stock during these periods.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

11. Pension and Other Postretirement Plans - The following tables set forth the net periodic pension cost of the domestic qualified and
nonqualified pension benefit plans and the other postretirement plan for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004.

Net Periodic Pension Expense Three Months Ended
Qualified Plan March 31
(In Millions) 2005 2004

Service Cost

$ 6.6 $54
Interest Cost
6.4 5.8
Expected Return on Plan Assets
9.0 ) 8.1 )
Amortization:
Net Loss
2.9 1.9
Prior Service Cost
3 -
Net Periodic Pension Expense
$7.2 $5.0
Net Periodic Pension Expense Three Months Ended
Nonqualified Plan March 31
(In Millions) 2005 2004
Service Cost
$ .6 $5
Interest Cost
8 7
Expected Return on Plan Assets
Amortization:
Net Loss
6 6
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Prior Service Cost

Net Periodic Pension Expense

$ 2.0 $ 1.8
Net Periodic Benefit Expense Three Months Ended
Other Postretirement Plan March 31
(In Millions) 2005 2004
Service Cost
$.5 $ 4
Interest Cost
1.0 7
Amortization:
Transition Obligation
A1 1
Net Loss
.6 3
Net Periodic Benefit Expense
$ 2.2 $ 1.5
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

12. Contingent Liabilities - Standby letters of credit obligate Northern Trust to meet certain financial obligations of its clients, if, under the
contractual terms of the agreement, the clients are unable to do so. These instruments are primarily issued to support public and private
financial commitments, including commercial paper, bond financing, initial margin requirements on futures exchanges and similar
transactions. Certain standby letters of credit have been secured with cash deposits or participated to others. Northern Trust is obligated to
meet the entire financial obligation of these agreements and in certain cases is able to recover the amounts paid through recourse against cash
deposits or other participants. Standby letters of credit outstanding were $2.7 billion on March 31, 2005, $2.7 billion on December 31, 2004
and $2.7 billion on March 31, 2004. Northern Trust’ s liability on the consolidated balance sheet for standby letters of credit, measured as the
amount of unamortized fees on these instruments, was $6.5 million at March 31, 2005, $4.5 million at December 31, 2004 and $4.2 million at
March 31, 2004.

As part of securities custody activities and at the direction of trust clients, Northern Trust lends securities owned by clients to borrowers who
are reviewed by the Credit Policy Credit Approval Committee. In connection with these activities, Northern Trust has issued certain
indemnifications against loss resulting from the bankruptcy of the borrower of the securities. The borrowing party is required to fully
collateralize securities received with cash, marketable securities, or irrevocable standby letters of credit. As securities are loaned, collateral is
maintained at a minimum of 100 percent of the fair value of the securities plus accrued interest. The collateral is revalued on a daily basis. The
amount of securities loaned subject to indemnification was $129.5 billion at March 31, 2005, $112.7 billion at December 31, 2004 and $92.4
billion at March 31, 2004. Because of the requirement to fully collateralize securities borrowed, management believes that the exposure to
credit loss from this activity is remote and there are no liabilities reflected on the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2005, December 31,
2004 or March 31, 2004 related to these indemnifications.

In the normal course of business, the Corporation and its subsidiaries are routinely defendants in or parties to a number of pending and
threatened legal actions, including actions brought on behalf of various classes of claimants, regulatory matters, and challenges from tax
authorities regarding the amount of taxes due. In certain of these actions and proceedings, claims for substantial monetary damages or
adjustments to recorded tax liabilities are asserted. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, the
Corporation cannot state what the eventual outcome of these matters will be; however, based on current knowledge and after consultation with
legal counsel, management does not believe that judgments or settlements, if any, arising from pending or threatened legal actions, regulatory
matters or challenges from tax authorities, either individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial position or liquidity of the Corporation, although they could have a material effect on operating results for a particular period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

In 2003, a putative class action was filed against Northern Trust Bank of California N.A. seeking class-wide reimbursement, with interest and
punitive damages, for approximately 300 trust accounts that were allegedly charged fees in excess of fee provisions in the underlying trust
documents. Virtually all of the trust accounts in the putative class were purchased in 1992 by the California bank from Trust Services of
America, Inc., then a subsidiary of CalFed. On August 10, 2004, the Corporation announced that the California bank had entered into a
settlement in principle to resolve the putative class action. On March 25, 2005, the court signed an order giving final approval to the
settlement under which the California bank paid approximately $21 million. The settlement, including estimated associated costs, resulted in a
third quarter 2004 pre-tax charge of $17.0 million.

One subsidiary of the Corporation was named as a defendant in several Enron-related class action suits that were consolidated under a single
complaint in the Federal District Court for the Southern District of Texas (Houston). Individual participants in the employee pension benefit
plans sponsored by Enron Corp. sued various corporate entities and individuals, including the Bank in its capacity as the former directed
trustee of the Enron Corp. Savings Plan and former service-provider for the Enron Corp. Employee Stock Ownership Plan. The lawsuit makes
claims, inter alia, for breach of fiduciary duty to the plan participants, and seeks equitable relief and monetary damages in an unspecified
amount against the defendants. On September 30, 2003, the court denied the Bank’ s motion to dismiss the complaint as a matter of law. In an
Amended Consolidated Complaint filed on January 2, 2004, plaintiffs continue to assert claims against the Bank and other defendants under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, seeking a finding that defendants are liable to restore to the benefit plans and the
plaintiffs hundreds of millions of dollars of losses allegedly caused by defendants’ alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. The trial date currently
is scheduled for fall 2006. The Corporation and the Bank will continue to defend this action vigorously. In June 2003, after conducting an
extensive investigation, the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) filed a civil action against numerous parties charging that they violated their
obligations to the Enron plan participants. The DOL did not name any Northern Trust entity or employee as a defendant in its suit. In another
Enron-related matter, in November and December 2003, Enron as debtor-in-possession filed two lawsuits seeking to recover for its
bankruptcy estate more than $1 billion it paid in the fall of 2001 to buy back its commercial paper. Enron claims that the money it paid to buy
back its commercial paper approximately six weeks prior to its bankruptcy filing represented “preference” payments and “fraudulent
transfers” that can be reversed with the money going back to Enron. Since the Bank sold approximately $197 million of this Enron
commercial paper that it held for some of its clients, the Bank and those clients are among scores of defendants named in these complaints.
The Corporation and the Bank will continue to defend these actions vigorously.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The IRS has challenged the Corporation’ s tax position related to 13 investments made in structured leasing transactions that had a book value
of $425 million at March 31, 2005. The Corporation believes that these transactions are valid leases for U.S. tax purposes and that its tax
treatment of these transactions is appropriate based on its interpretation of the tax regulations and legal precedents; a court or other judicial
authority, however, could disagree. The Corporation will continue to defend its position vigorously.

13. Pledged Assets - Securities and loans pledged to secure public and trust deposits, repurchase agreements and for other purposes as
required or permitted by law were $10.4 billion on March 31, 2005, $11.8 billion on December 31, 2004 and $10.1 billion on March 31, 2004.
Included in the March 2005 pledged assets were securities available for sale of $1.6 billion that were pledged as collateral for agreements to
repurchase securities sold transactions. The secured parties to these transactions have the right to repledge or sell these securities.

Northern Trust is also permitted to repledge or sell collateral from agreements to resell securities purchased transactions. The total fair value
of accepted collateral as of March 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2004 was $639.4 million, $592.5 million and $693.9 million,
respectively. There was no repledged collateral as of March 31, 2005 or December 31, 2004. The fair value of repledged collateral as of
March 31, 2004 was $50.5 million. Repledged collateral is used in other agreements to repurchase securities sold transactions.

14. Business Units - The table on page 25, reflecting the earnings contribution of Northern Trust’ s business units for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2005 is incorporated by reference.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

FIRST QUARTER CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

Net income per common share on a diluted basis was a record $.63 for the first quarter, an increase of 11% from $.57 per share earned in last
year’ s first quarter. Net income increased 9% to a record $139.1 million, up from $127.5 million earned in the first quarter of last year. This
performance produced an annualized return on average common equity (ROE) of 17.06% versus 16.74% reported for the comparable quarter
last year and an annualized return on average assets (ROA) of 1.29% versus 1.30% in 2004.

Revenues stated on a fully taxable equivalent basis of $621.1 million were up 7% from $578.2 million in last year’ s first quarter, while
expenses increased 5%. The revenue performance reflects record trust, investment and other servicing fees (formerly referred to as “trust
fees”), a 13% increase in net interest income and continued strength in the quality of Northern Trust’ s loan portfolio.

Financial Services Group Acquisition

On March 31, 2005, Northern Trust completed its acquisition of Baring Asset Management’ s Financial Services Group (FSG) from ING
Group N.V. (The Netherlands). Under the terms of the agreement, the purchase price totaled 260 million GBP (approximately $500 million
inclusive of transaction costs) and is subject to adjustment 120 days after closing to reflect changes in certain defined revenues. Balance sheet
assets of FSG at March 31, 2005, totaled approximately $3.7 billion. FSG total revenues on a stand-alone basis were approximately $160
million in 2004. No revenues and expenses of FSG are included in Northern Trust’ s operating results, although certain initial integration
costs, totaling $2.1 million, are included in the current quarter’ s operating expenses. FSG had approximately $70 billion in funds under
administration, $33 billion in custody, and $32 billion in trust assets as of March 31, 2005. The acquisition of FSG, including approximately
$25 million of estimated 2005 integration costs, is expected to reduce earnings per share by approximately $.04 to $.06 in 2005.
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Noninterest Income

Noninterest income totaled $449.4 million for the quarter, up 5% from $426.5 million reported last year, and accounted for 72% of total

taxable equivalent revenue. Trust, investment and other servicing fees were $357.2 million in the quarter, up 9% from $327.9 million in the

first quarter of last year and represented 58% of total taxable equivalent revenue. The increase resulted primarily from improved equity
markets and new business. The components of noninterest income for the first quarter of 2005 and 2004 are listed in the following table:

Noninterest Income

(In Millions)

Trust, Investment and Other Servicing Fees

Foreign Exchange Trading Profits

Treasury Management Fees

Security Commissions and Trading Income

Other Operating Income

Investment Security Gains

Total Noninterest Income

Three Months
Ended March 31
2005 2004

$357.2  $327.9
38.2 41.4
19.7 23.0
14.1 14.5
20.1 19.7
d -

$449.4  $426.5

Assets under custody totaled $2.6 trillion at March 31, 2005. This represents an increase in assets under custody of 2% from December 31,
2004 and 18% from March 31, 2004. Assets under management reached a new high and totaled $588.6 billion compared with $520.8 billion at

March 31, 2004. As of current quarter-end, managed assets were invested 39% in equities, 17% in fixed-income securities and 44% in cash

and other assets.

Assets Under Custody *
(In Billions)

Corporate & Institutional

Personal

Total Assets Under Custody
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March 31, December 31, March 31,
2005 2004 2004
$2,405.9  $2,345.1 $2,017.0
209.9 209.3 193.7
$2,615.8 $2,554.4 $2,210.7
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Assets Under Management March 31, December 31, March 31,
(In Billions) 2005 2004 2004

Corporate & Institutional

$477.5 $461.5 $414.3
Personal
111.1 110.4 106.5
Total Assets Under Management
$588.6 $571.9 $520.8

* Assets Under Custody do not include assets administered but not held under custody that were previously included within the category of
Assets Under Administration.

Trust, investment and other servicing fees are generally based on the market value of assets managed, custodied and administered, the volume
of transactions, securities lending volume and spreads, and fees for other services rendered. Certain investment management fee arrangements
also may provide for performance fees, which are based on client portfolio returns exceeding predetermined levels. In addition, Corporate &
Institutional Services (C&IS) trust relationships are generally priced to reflect earnings from activities such as foreign exchange trading and
custody-related deposits that are not included in trust, investment and other servicing fees. Based on analysis of historical trends and current
asset and product mix, management estimates that a 10% rise or fall in overall equity markets would cause a corresponding increase or

decrease in trust, investment and other servicing fees of approximately 4% and total revenues of approximately 2%.
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Noninterest Income (continued)

Trust, investment and other servicing fees from C&IS in the quarter were up 11% to $184.7 million from the year-ago quarter reflecting strong
growth in all products and services, improved equity markets and new business. Custody fees increased 16% to $76.0 million for the quarter,
with strong growth in global custody revenues, while fees from asset management grew 2% to $59.3 million. Securities lending fees totaled
$34.0 million, up 22% compared with last year’ s first quarter, primarily reflecting higher lending volumes.

C&IS assets under custody totaled $2.41 trillion at March 31, 2005 compared with $2.02 trillion at March 31, 2004. Assets under custody
include $1.03 trillion of global custody assets, an increase of 29% compared with $797 billion one year ago. C&IS assets under management
totaled $477.5 billion compared with $414.3 billion at March 31, 2004. As of current quarter-end, C&IS managed assets were invested 36% in
equities, 13% in fixed-income securities and 51% in cash and other assets.

Trust, investment and other servicing fees from Personal Financial Services (PFS) in the quarter increased 7% and totaled $172.5 million
compared with $161.6 million a year ago. The increase in PFS fees resulted primarily from improved equity markets and new business.
Revenue growth was broad-based, with all states and the Wealth Management Group reporting year-over-year increases in fees. PFS assets
under custody totaled $209.9 billion at March 31, 2005 compared with $193.7 billion at March 31, 2004. Of the total assets under custody,
$111.1 billion is managed by Northern Trust compared with $106.5 billion at March 31, 2004. As of current quarter-end, PFS managed assets
were invested 50% in equities, 35% in fixed-income securities and 15% in cash and other assets.

Foreign exchange trading profits were $38.2 million in the quarter compared with $41.4 million in the first quarter of last year. The decline
reflects reduced volatility in currency markets, particularly in the major European currencies, partially offset by increased client activity.
Treasury management fees in the quarter were $19.7 million compared with $23.0 million in the same quarter last year. Approximately 50%
of this decrease was offset by improved net interest income as clients opted to pay for services via compensating deposit balances. Revenues
from security commissions and trading income were $14.1 million, down 3% from the prior year. Other operating income, the components of

which are listed below, was $20.1 million for the first quarter compared with $19.7 million in the same period last year.

Three Months
Other Operating Income Ended March 31
(In Millions) 2005 2004
Loan Service Fees
$4.7 $5.7
Banking Service Fees
7.9 7.9
Other Income
7.5 6.1
Total Other Operating Income
$20.1 $19.7
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Net Interest Income

Net interest income for the quarter totaled $157.4 million, 14% higher than the $138.5 million reported in the first quarter of 2004. Net interest
income is defined as the total of interest income and amortized fees on earning assets, less interest expense on deposits and borrowed funds,
adjusted for the impact of hedging activity. When net interest income is adjusted to a fully taxable equivalent (FTE) basis, yields on taxable,
nontaxable and partially taxable assets are comparable, although the adjustment to a FTE basis has no impact on net income. Net interest
income for the quarter stated on a FTE basis totaled $171.7 million, up 13% from $151.7 million in the prior year quarter, reflecting both net
interest margin improvement and an increase in average earning assets, up $4.1 billion. The net interest margin increased to 1.79% from
1.73% in the prior year quarter. The improved margin is largely due to wider spreads earned on short-term and floating rate loans as yields on
these assets increased more than the cost of retail deposit funding sources. Total average earning assets of $39.0 billion were 11% higher than
a year ago with the increase concentrated in securities and money market assets. Securities increased 15% and averaged $9.3 billion, with the
increase concentrated primarily in short-term U.S. government sponsored agency and asset-backed securities. Average money market assets
increased 18% to $11.6 billion, while average loans increased 5% to $18.1 billion.

Average domestic loans outstanding during the quarter, at $17.5 billion, were 4% higher than the $16.8 billion outstanding in the first quarter
of last year, while average international loans increased $121 million from a year ago to $565 million. Residential mortgages averaged $8.1
billion in the quarter, up 2% from the prior year’ s first quarter and represented 45% of the total average loan portfolio. Commercial and
industrial loans averaged $3.5 billion, up 3% from $3.4 billion last year, while personal loans increased 13% to average $2.9 billion compared
with last year’ s first quarter.

Northern Trust utilizes a diverse mix of funding sources. Total interest-related deposits averaged $24.0 billion, up 17% from the first quarter
of 2004. Foreign office time deposits increased $3.1 billion, up 27% as a result of global custody activity, while retail deposit levels increased
$300 million due primarily to higher balances in money market deposit accounts. Other interest-related funds averaged $8.6 billion in the
quarter compared with $8.8 billion in last year’ s first quarter due primarily to lower levels of federal funds purchased, offset in part by
increases in securities sold under agreements to repurchase and other borrowed funds. The balances within these classifications vary based on
funding requirements and strategies, interest rate levels, changes in the volume of lower-cost deposit sources, and the availability of collateral
to secure these borrowings. Noninterest-related funds utilized to fund earning assets increased 9% from the prior year, averaging $6.4 billion.
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Provision for Credit Losses

The reserve for credit losses at March 31, 2005 was $139.7 million compared with $139.3 million at the previous quarter-end, reflecting net
recoveries of $.4 million. There was no provision for credit losses in the quarter. The provision for the prior year first quarter was a negative
$5.0 million and net charge-offs totaled $.7 million. For a discussion of the provision and reserve for credit losses, refer to the “Asset Quality”
section beginning on page 28.

Noninterest Expenses

Noninterest expenses totaled $395.0 million for the quarter, up 5% from $377.2 million in the year-ago quarter. The components of

noninterest expenses and a discussion of significant changes from the prior year quarter are provided below.

Three Months
Noninterest Expenses Ended March 31
(In Millions) 2005 2004
Compensation
$178.2 $165.4

Employee Benefits

46.4 38.4
Occupancy Expense

30.3 30.7
Equipment Expense

19.3 20.1
Other Operating Expenses

120.8 122.6

Total Noninterest Expenses

Compensation and employee benefit expenses totaled $224.6 million, up 10% compared with last year. These expenses reflect annual salary
increases, higher incentive compensation and increased pension and health care costs. Staff on a full-time equivalent basis at March 31, 2005
totaled 8,844 compared with 7,994 a year ago. Staffing level increases were primarily the result of the March 31, 2005 addition of 785 FSG
staff. Other staff increases were related to staffing for new offices and other strategic initiatives.

Net occupancy expense totaled $30.3 million compared with $30.7 million in the first quarter of 2004. The previous year included a $1.2
million charge associated with revisions made to the estimated cost of reducing required office space, partially offset by real estate tax

refunds. The current year expense level was essentially unchanged after adjusting for these items.

Equipment expense, comprised of depreciation, rental and maintenance costs, totaled $19.3 million, down 4% from the $20.1 million reported
in the first quarter of 2004. The reduction resulted from lower levels of depreciation of computer hardware and lower data line lease costs.
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Noninterest Expenses (continued)

Other operating expenses in the quarter totaled $120.8 million compared with $122.6 million last year. The decrease reflects lower expenses
associated with operating risks related to servicing and managing financial assets, which included an $11.6 million loss in the first quarter of
last year from securities processing activities related to a stock conversion offer. The current quarter’ s lower expenses were partially offset by
higher employee relocation and hiring costs, increased business promotion, investments in technology that increased software amortization
and related costs, and higher fees for global subcustody and asset management sub-advisor services. The components of other operating

expenses were as follows:

Three Months
Other Operating Expenses Ended March 31
(In Millions) 2005 2004
Outside Services Purchased
$57.9 $52.4
Software Amortization and Other Costs
27.4 26.5
Business Promotion
12.5 10.4
Other Intangibles Amortization
2.2 2.4
Other Expenses
20.8 30.9

Total Other Operating Expenses

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income tax was $72.7 million for the first quarter compared with $65.3 million in the year-ago quarter, primarily reflecting
the increase in pre-tax earnings. The effective income tax rate for the quarter was 34.3% compared with 33.9% in the first quarter of 2004.
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BUSINESS UNIT REPORTING

The following table reflects the earnings contribution and average assets of Northern Trust’ s business units for the quarters ended March 31,
2005 and 2004.

Corporate and

Results of Operations Institutional Personal Financial Treasury and Total
First Quarter Services Services Other Consolidated
($ In Millions) 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Noninterest Income

Trust, Investment and
Other Servicing Fees

$184.7 $166.3 $172.5 $161.6 $- $- $357.2 $327.9
Other
66.6 72.0 234 243 2.2 2.3 92.2 98.6
Net Interest Income *
55.7 419 118.0 109.6 20 ) 2 171.7 151.7
Provision for Credit Losses
a.7 ) 4.7 ) 1.7 (.3 ) - = = 5.0 )
Noninterest Expenses
183.8 178.0 194.4 185.2 16.8 14.0 395.0 377.2
Income before Income Taxes*
124.9 106.9 117.8 110.6 (16.6 ) (115 ) 226.1 206.0
Provision for Income Taxes*
48.6 41.5 45.7 429 73 ) 59 ) 87.0 78.5
Net Income
$76.3 $65.4 $72.1 $67.7 $09.3 ) $(5.6 ) $139.1 $127.5

Percentage of Net Income

Contribution
55 % 51 % 52 % 53 % (7 )% (4 )% 100 % 100 %

Average Assets
$23,977.3  $19,839.0 $16,757.0  $15,984.6  $2,853.3 $3,699.4  $43,587.6  $39,523.0

* Stated on a fully taxable equivalent basis (FTE). Total consolidated includes FTE adjustments of $14.3 million for 2005 and $13.2 million
for 2004.
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Corporate and Institutional Services

C&IS net income for the first quarter totaled $76.3 million compared with $65.4 million reported in 2004. Noninterest income was $251.3
million, up 5% from $238.3 million in last year’ s first quarter. Trust, investment and other servicing fees in the quarter were up 11% to $184.7
million from the year-ago quarter reflecting strong growth in all products and services, improved equity markets and new business. Custody
fees increased 16% to $76.0 million for the quarter, with strong growth in global custody revenues, while fees from asset management grew
2% to $59.3 million. Securities lending fees totaled $34.0 million, up 22% compared with last year’ s first quarter, primarily reflecting higher
volumes. Other noninterest income was $66.6 million compared with $72.0 million in last year’ s first quarter. Lower levels of foreign

exchange trading profits and treasury management fees were the primary causes of the decline.

Net interest income stated on a FTE basis was $55.7 million, up 33% from $41.9 million in last year’ s first quarter. Net interest income was
positively impacted by a $3.9 billion or 23% increase in average earning assets, concentrated in short-term money market assets. The net
interest margin improved to 1.07% for the current quarter from .98% in last year’ s first quarter. The improved margin is largely due to wider

spreads on money market assets as yields on these assets increased more than their funding sources.
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Corporate and Institutional Services (continued)

The $1.7 million negative provision for credit losses in the current quarter compares with a negative $4.7 million provision in the first quarter
of last year. The prior year negative provision primarily reflects cash payments received on lower-rated loans that required higher reserve
levels. Total noninterest expenses of C&IS, which include both the direct expenses of the business unit and indirect expense allocations from
Northern Trust Global Investments (NTGI) and Worldwide Operations and Technology (WWOT) for product and operating support,
increased 3% and totaled $183.8 million for the first quarter. Increases in compensation expense resulting from annual salary increases and
higher performance-based pay, employee benefit charges, costs associated with business promotion, and fees for other professional services
contributed to the overall increase in operating expenses.

Personal Financial Services

PFS net income for the quarter was $72.1 million, up 6% from $67.7 million reported a year ago. Trust, investment and other servicing fees
increased 7% and totaled $172.5 million. The increase in PFS fees resulted primarily from improved equity markets and new business.
Revenue growth was broad-based, with all states and the Wealth Management Group reporting year-over-year increases in fees. Other
operating income totaled $23.4 million compared with $24.3 million in the prior year quarter due primarily to lower treasury management

fees.

Net interest income stated on a FTE basis was $118.0 million in the quarter compared with $109.6 million in the prior year’ s first quarter.
These results reflect a 5% increase in average earning assets concentrated primarily in loans and an increase in the net interest margin from
2.90% last year to 2.99% in the current quarter. The improved margin is largely due to wider spreads on short-term and floating rate loans as

yields on these assets increased more than the cost of retail deposit funding sources.

A $1.7 million provision for credit losses was recorded in the first quarter compared with a negative provision of $.3 million last year. Total
noninterest expenses of PFS, which include both the direct expenses of the business unit and indirect expense allocations from NTGI and
WWOT for product and operating support, increased 5% to $194.4 million from $185.2 million in last year’ s first quarter. Higher
compensation expense resulting from annual salary increases and incentive compensation, employee benefit and other staff related costs, and

higher allocations for product and operating support contributed to the overall increase in operating expenses.
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Treasury and Other

The Treasury Department is responsible for managing the Bank’ s wholesale funding, capital position and interest rate risk, as well as the
investment portfolio. The ‘Other’ category of corporate income and noninterest expenses represents items that are not allocated to the
business units and generally represent certain nonrecurring items and certain executive level compensation. Net interest income for the first
quarter was a negative $2.0 million compared with $.2 million in the year-ago quarter. Noninterest expenses totaled $16.8 million for the
quarter, compared with $14.0 million in the year-ago period which included a charge associated with a reduction in office space. The increase,
after adjusting for the prior year charge, primarily reflects higher employee benefit costs.

BALANCE SHEET

Total assets at March 31, 2005 were $47.8 billion and averaged $43.6 billion for the first quarter, compared with last year’ s average of $39.5
billion. Loans and leases totaled $18.9 billion at March 31, 2005 and averaged $18.1 billion for the first quarter, compared with $17.1 billion
at March 31, 2004 and the $17.3 billion average for the first quarter last year. Securities totaled $8.8 billion at March 31, 2005 and averaged

$9.3 billion for the quarter, compared with $8.6 billion at March 31, 2004 and $8.0 billion on average last year. Money market assets totaled
$14.5 billion at March 31, 2005 and averaged $11.6 billion in the first quarter, up 18% from the year-ago quarter.

Common stockholders’ equity increased to $3.36 billion at March 31, 2005 and averaged $3.30 billion for the quarter, up 8% from last year’ s
first quarter average. The increase primarily reflects the retention of earnings, offset in part by the repurchase of common stock pursuant to the
Corporation’ s share buyback program. During the quarter, the Corporation acquired 836,779 shares at a cost of $36.4 million. An additional
5.9 million shares are authorized for purchase after March 31, 2005 under the previously announced share buyback program.

Northern Trust’ s risk-based capital ratios remained strong at March 31, 2005 and were well above the minimum regulatory requirements of
4% for tier 1 and 8% for total risk-based capital ratios. Northern Trust’ s leverage ratio (tier 1 capital to first quarter average assets) at March
31, 2005 also exceeded the minimum regulatory requirement of 3%. Shown below are the March 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 capital
ratios of Northern Trust and of the Bank.

March 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Northern Trust The Northern Northern Trust The Northern
Capital Ratios Corporation Trust Company Corporation Trust Company
Tier 1 Capital

9.6 % 7.7 % 11.0 % 9.2 %
Total Capital

12.7 % 114 % 133 % 11.9 %
Leverage Ratio

71 % 5.7 % 7.6 % 6.1 %
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BALANCE SHEET (continued)

The March 31, 2005 capital ratios of Northern Trust and the Bank reflect the March 31, 2005 acquisition of FSG and the March 11, 2005
issuance of $282 million of subordinated notes, as discussed in Notes 7 and 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively. Each of
Northern Trust’ s other subsidiary banks had March 31, 2005 ratios of 10.8% or higher for tier 1 capital, 11.4% or higher for total risk-based
capital, and 8.2% or higher for the leverage ratio.

ASSET QUALITY

Nonperforming assets consist of nonaccrual loans and other real estate owned (OREO). Nonperforming assets at March 31, 2005 totaled $34.1
million compared with $33.1 million at December 31, 2004 and $72.1 million at March 31, 2004. Domestic nonaccrual loans and leases,
consisting primarily of commercial loans, totaled $34.0 million, or .19% of total domestic loans and leases at March 31, 2005. At December
31, 2004 and March 31, 2004, domestic nonaccrual loans and leases totaled $32.9 million and $71.6 million, respectively. The $1.1 million
increase in nonperforming loans during the quarter is primarily the result of two additional loans classified as nonaccrual, offset by principal
repayments. There were no nonperforming loans included within the $366.6 million of loans purchased in connection with the March 31, 2005
acquisition of FSG.

The following table presents the outstanding amounts of nonaccrual loans and OREO. Also shown are loans that have interest or principal
payments that are delinquent 90 days or more and are still accruing interest. The balance of loans delinquent 90 days or more and still accruing
interest can fluctuate widely based on the timing of cash collections, renegotiations and renewals.

Nonperforming Assets March 31, December 31, March 31,
(In Millions) 2005 2004 2004

Nonaccrual Loans

Domestic

Residential Real Estate

$2.7 $ 28 $4.0
Commercial
29.8 29.5 67.4
Commercial Real Estate
1 B 1
Personal
1.4 5 1
International
Total Nonaccrual Loans
34.0 32.9 71.6
Other Real Estate Owned
1 2 5
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Total Nonperforming Assets
$ 34.1 $ 33.1 $72.1

90 Day Past Due Loans Still Accruing
$7.9 $ 9.9 $14.1

Provision and Reserve for Credit Losses

The provision for credit losses is the charge against current earnings, determined through a disciplined credit risk management process, needed
to maintain a reserve that is sufficient to absorb credit losses inherent in Northern Trust’ s loan and lease portfolios and other credit
undertakings. The reserve provides for probable losses that have been identified with specific borrower relationships (specific reserve) and for
probable losses that are believed to be inherent in the loan and lease portfolios and other credit undertakings but that have not yet been

specifically identified (inherent reserve).
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Provision and Reserve for Credit Losses (continued)

Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements includes a table that details the changes in the reserve for credit losses during the three month

periods ended March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004 due to charge-offs, recoveries and the provision for credit losses during the respective

periods. The following table shows (i) the specific reserve, (ii) the allocated portion of the inherent reserve and its components by loan
category, and (iii) the unallocated portion of the inherent reserve at March 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2004.

Allocation of the Reserve for Credit Losses

($ in Millions)

Specific Reserve

Allocated Inherent Reserve

Residential Real Estate

Commercial

Commercial Real Estate

Personal

Other

Lease Financing

International

Total Allocated Inherent Reserve

Unallocated Inherent Reserve

March 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 March 31, 2004
Percent of Percent of Percent of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Reserve Total Reserve Total Reserve Total
Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans
$24.6 = % $24.0 = % $33.5 = %
11.6 43 11.6 45 12.0 46
49.4 19 49.9 18 54.9 19
17.1 7 17.1 7 16.9 7
6.7 15 5.5 16 5.1 15
- 4 - 4 - 3
4.6 6 4.5 7 43 7
1.9 6 1.6 3 1.6 3
$91.3 100 %  $90.2 100 % $94.8 100 %
23.8 = 25.1 = 232 =
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Total Reserve

%

$139.7 100 % $1393 100 % $151.5 100
Reserve Assigned to:
Loans and Leases
$131.1 $130.7 $143.4
Unfunded Commitments and Standby Letters of Credit
8.6 8.6 8.1
Total Reserve
$139.7 $139.3 $151.5

Specific Reserve. At March 31, 2005, the specific component of the reserve stood at $24.6 million compared with $24.0 million at December

31, 2004. The $.6 million increase in specific reserves from December 31, 2004 is due primarily to additional reserves required on two

additional loans classified as nonperforming.

Allocated Inherent Reserve. The allocated inherent portion of the reserve totaled $91.3 million at March 31, 2005 compared with $90.2
million at December 31, 2004. This component of the reserve increased by $1.1 million due primarily to the growth in commercial loan

volumes offset in part by principal repayments received on lower-rated loans.

Unallocated Inherent Reserve. The unallocated portion of the inherent reserve is based on management’ s review of overall factors affecting
the determination of probable inherent losses, primarily in the commercial portfolio, which are not necessarily captured by the application of

historical loss ratios. This portion of the reserve analysis involves the exercise of judgment and reflects considerations such as management’ s

view that the reserve should have a margin that recognizes the imprecision inherent in the process of estimating probable credit losses. The

unallocated inherent portion of the reserve was $23.8 million at March 31, 2005.

29

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

Provision and Reserve for Credit Losses (continued)

Other Factors. At March 31, 2005, the total amount of the two highest risk loan groupings, those rated “7” and “8” (based on Northern
Trust’ s internal rating scale, which closely parallels that of the banking regulators) was $106 million of which $32.2 million was classified as
impaired, down from $110 million at December 31, 2004 when $30.3 million was classified as impaired, and down from $184 million at
March 31, 2004 when $69.1 million was classified as impaired.

Total Reserve. Management’ s evaluation of the factors above resulted in a reserve for credit losses of $139.7 million at March 31, 2005. The
reserve of $131.1 million assigned to loans and leases, as a percentage of total loans and leases was .69% at March 31, 2005, compared with
.73% at December 31, 2004.

Reserves assigned to unfunded loan commitments and standby letters of credit, recorded as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet,
totaled $8.6 million at March 31, 2005, unchanged from December 31, 2004.

Provision. No provision for credit losses was recorded in the first quarter of 2005 compared with a negative $5.0 million provision in the prior
year quarter. The negative provision in the prior year quarter primarily reflects the impact of principal repayments received on lower rated

loans.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

As described in the 2004 Annual Report to Shareholders, Northern Trust manages its interest rate risk through measurement techniques which
include simulation of earnings, simulation of the economic value of equity, and gap analysis. Also, as part of its risk management activities, it
regularly measures the risk of loss associated with foreign currency positions using a value at risk model.

Based on this continuing evaluation process, Northern Trust’ s interest rate risk position and the value at risk associated with the foreign
exchange trading portfolio have not changed significantly since December 31, 2004.
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FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE RESULTS

This report contains statements that may be considered forward-looking, such as the statements relating to Northern Trust’ s financial goals,
dividend policy, expansion and business development plans, anticipated expense levels and projected profit improvements, business prospects
and positioning with respect to market and pricing trends, strategic initiatives, re-engineering and outsourcing activities, new business results
and outlook, changes in securities market prices, credit quality including reserve levels, planned capital expenditures and technology spending,
and the effects of any extraordinary events and various other matters (including developments in litigation and regulation involving Northern
Trust and changes in accounting policies, standards and interpretations) on Northern Trust’ s business and results. Forward-looking statements

9« 9 9 s

anticipate,” “intend,” “‘estimate,

9

are typically identified by words or phrases, such as “believe,” “expect, may increase,” “may fluctuate,”

G

“plan,” “goal,” “strategy,” and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as “will,” “should,” “would,” and “could.” Forward-
looking statements are Northern Trust’ s current estimates or expectations of future events or future results. Actual results could differ
materially from the results indicated by these statements because the realization of those results is subject to many risks and uncertainties

including:

The future health of the U.S. and international economies and other economic factors (such as the pace of inflation/deflation and

investor confidence in the securities markets) that affect wealth creation, investment and savings patterns;

Changes in U.S. and worldwide securities markets with respect to the market values of financial assets, the stability of particular
securities markets and the level of volatility in certain markets such as foreign exchange;

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates that, as Northern Trust’ s business grows globally, and to the extent that they are not
fully hedged, may impact Northern Trust’ s level of revenue and expense and net income and the value of its investments in non-
U.S. operations, in each case as expressed in U.S. dollars;

U.S. and international economic factors that may impact Northern Trust’ s interest rate risk, including the level of or change in
interest rates, and credit risk exposure;

Northern Trust’ s success in integrating recent and future acquisitions, strategic alliances and preferred provider arrangements and

using acquired businesses, alliances and preferred provider arrangements to execute its business strategy;

Factors or conditions that may affect Northern Trust’ s ability to achieve its liquidity management objectives, including a decline in
the confidence of potential debt and/or equity securities purchasers in the funds markets generally or in Northern Trust in particular
or a change in Northern Trust’ s credit ratings;
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FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE RESULTS (continued)

The effect of geopolitical risks on the U.S. and international economies and securities markets as well as the effects of any
extraordinary events (such as terrorist events, war and the U.S. government’ s response to those events), contagious disease
outbreaks or epidemics (such as a SARS outbreak) or natural disasters;

The pace and extent of continued globalization of investment activity and growth in worldwide financial assets, including the
effects of changes in the level of cross-border investing by clients resulting from changing economic factors, political conditions or
currency markets;

Regulatory, monetary and banking developments and changes in accounting requirements or interpretations in the U.S. and other

countries where Northern Trust has significant business;

The interpretation and implementation by U.S. and other regulators of the New Basel Capital Accord developed by the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision and its effect on the minimum regulatory capital requirements of the Corporation, its
subsidiaries and its competitors;

Success in obtaining regulatory approvals when required;

Changes in the nature of Northern Trust’ s competition, including changes resulting from industry consolidation and the regulatory
environment and changes in particular markets, as well as actions taken by particular competitors;

Expansion or contraction of Northern Trust’ s products, services, and targeted markets in response to strategic opportunities or
changes in demand for particular services, including longstanding offerings and newer offerings such as investment management

outsourcing;

Changes in the level of investment or reinvestment in Northern Trust’ s products, services, and targeted markets and the pricing of
those products and services;

Northern Trust’ s success in maintaining existing business and continuing to generate new business in its existing markets, as well
as its success in identifying and penetrating targeted markets, through acquisition, strategic alliance or otherwise, and generating a
profit in those markets in a reasonable time;

Northern Trust’ s ability to continue to generate strong investment results for clients and continue to develop its array of
investment products, internally or through acquisition, in a manner that meets client needs;

Northern Trust’ s ability to continue to fund and accomplish technological innovation, improve internal processes and controls,
address operating and technology risks (including material systems interruptions, human errors or omissions, fraud, and breaches
of internal controls), and attract and retain capable staff in order to address operating and technology challenges and increasing

volume and complexity in many of its businesses;

32

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE RESULTS (continued)

The success of Northern Trust’ s strategic initiatives and its re-engineering and outsourcing activities;

Northern Trust’ s success in controlling expenses, including employee benefit expenses and the impact of factors such as future
health care and pension costs;

The impact of divestiture or discontinuance of portions of Northern Trust’ s businesses;
The ability of each of Northern Trust’ s principal businesses to maintain a product mix that achieves acceptable margins;

Changes in tax laws or other legislation in the U.S. or other countries (including pension reform legislation) that could affect
Northern Trust or clients of its personal and institutional asset administration businesses; and

Risks and uncertainties inherent in the regulatory and litigation process (including risks associated with pending and threatened
legal actions and proceedings and the potential effects of adverse publicity arising from the failure or perceived failure to comply
with legal and regulatory requirements) that are evaluated within the context of current judicial decisions and legislative and
regulatory interpretations, and with respect to which a trier of fact, either a judge or jury, could decide a case contrary to Northern
Trust’ s evaluation of the relevant facts or law, and a court or regulatory agency could act to change or modify existing law on a
particular issue.

Some of these risks and uncertainties that may affect future results are discussed in more detail in the sections of “Management’ s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” captioned “Risk Management,” “Market Risk Management” and
“Operational and Fiduciary Risk Management” in the 2004 Annual Report to Stockholders (pages 49-59), in the section of the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements™ in the 2004 Annual Report to Stockholders captioned “Note 24. Contingent Liabilities” (pages 90-91),
and in the sections of “Ttem 1-Business” of the 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K captioned “Government Policies,” “Competition” and
“Regulation and Supervision” (pages 7-13). All forward-looking statements included in this report are based upon information presently
available, and Northern Trust assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
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The following schedule should be read in conjunction with the Net Interest Income section of Management's Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE STATEMENT OF CONDITION
WITH ANALYSIS OF NET INTEREST INCOME

(Interest and rate on a fully taxable equivalent basis)

($ in Millions)

NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

First Quarter

Average Earning Assets

Money Market Assets

Federal Funds Sold and Resell Agreements

Time Deposits with Banks

Other Interest-Bearing

Total Money Market Assets

Securities

U.S. Government

Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions

Government Sponsored Agency

Other

Total Securities

2005 2004
Average Average
Interest Balance Rate Interest Balance Rate
$4.7 $754.9 2.53% $2.4 $872.4 1.13%
79.1 10,835.3 2.96 46.0 8,974.5 2.06
2 34.5 1.94 N 40.7 .58
84.0 11,624.7 2.93 48.5 9,887.6 1.97
2 30.6 2.42 3 103.1 1.26
16.0 921.0 6.96 15.9 886.2 7.17
44.1 6,947.2 2.58 20.0 6,333.6 1.27
12.5 1,377.4 3.67 7.2 716.4 4.06
72.8 9,276.2 3.18 43.4 8,039.3 2.17
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Loans and Leases
201.0 18,067.6 4.51 175.7 17,2535 4.10

Total Earning Assets
$357.8 38,968.5 3.72% $267.6 35,1804 3.06%

Reserve for Credit Losses Assigned to Loans

= (1309 ) - = (1523 ) -
Cash and Due from Banks

- 2,048.9 - - 1,628.4 -
Other Assets

= 2,701.1 = = 2,866.5 =
Total Assets

- $43,587.6 - = $39,523.0 -

Average Source of Funds

Deposits

Savings and Money Market
$22.4  $7,452.0 1.22% $11.7 $7,132.6 .66 %

Savings Certificates
10.2 1,4989  2.75 9.1 1,517.9 240

Other Time
2.1 381.9 2.22 1.0 277.0 1.47

Foreign Offices Time
78.5 14,638.0 2.18 35.6 11,556.0 1.24

Total Interest-Bearing Deposits
1132  23,970.8 1.91 57.4 20,483.5 1.13

Federal Funds Purchased
15.5 2,652.9 2.37 8.1 3,482.4 93

Securities Sold under Agreements to Repurchase
11.6 1,989.0 2.36 3.9 1,685.3 .92

Commercial Paper
9 139.3 2.50 A4 143.1 1.05
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Other Borrowings

26.1 2,424.8
Senior Notes

2.1 190.3
Long-Term Debt

14.5 930.3
Floating Rate Capital Debt

2.2 276.3
Total Interest-Related Funds

186.1  32,573.7
Interest Rate Spread
Noninterest-Bearing Deposits

- 5,743.7
Other Liabilities

= 1,965.6
Stockholders’ Equity

- 3,304.6
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

- $43,587.6
Net Interest Income/Margin (FTE Adjusted)

$171.7 -
Net Interest Income/Margin (Unadjusted)
$157.4 -

ANALYSIS OF NET INTEREST INCOME CHANGES
DUE TO VOLUME AND RATE

(In Millions)

Earning Assets (FTE)
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4.36

4.55

6.27

3.18

2.31

1.41%

1.79%

1.64%

26.1 2,054.1 5.11
5.1 350.0 5.89
13.7 864.6 6.36
1.2 276.2 1.67
1159 29,3392 1.59
= = 1.47%
- 5,228.8 -

= 1,892.5 =

- 3,062.5 -

- $39,523.0 -
$151.7 - 1.73%
$138.5 - 1.58%

First Quarter 2005/2004
Change Due To
Average
Balance Rate Total
$31.2  $59.0 $90.2
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Interest-Related Funds
18.0 522 702

Net Interest Income (FTE)
$132 $6.8  $20.0
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to “Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations-Market Risk Management” on page 30 of this document.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

The Corporation’ s management, with the participation of the Corporation’ s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of Northern Trust’ s “disclosure controls and procedures™ (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such
evaluation, such officers have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Corporation’ s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in bringing to their attention on a timely basis material information relating to the Corporation (including its
consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in the Corporation’ s periodic filings under the Exchange Act. Further, there have been no
changes in the Corporation’ s internal control over financial reporting during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or that are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’ s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(c) The following table shows certain information relating to the Corporation’ s purchases of common stock for the three months ended March
31, 2005 pursuant to the Corporation’ s share buyback program:

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as Maximum Number of
Total Number of Shares Average Price Part of a Publicly Shares That May Yet Be
Period Purchased (1) Paid per Share Announced Plan (2) Purchased Under the Plan
January 1-31, 2005
31,309 $ 44.04 31,309
February 1-28, 2005
666,919 43.76 666,919
March 1-31, 2005
138,551 42.44 138,551
Total (First
Quarter)
836,779 $ 43.55 836,779 5,939,439

(1) Includes shares purchased from employees in connection with equity plan transactions such as the surrender of shares to pay an option

exercise price or tax withholding.

(2) The Corporation’ s current stock buyback program, announced April 16, 2003, authorizes the purchase of up to 12.0 million shares of the
Corporation’ s common stock. The program has no fixed expiration date.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

The annual meeting of the stockholders of Northern Trust Corporation was held on April 19, 2005 for the purposes of (i) electing 12 Directors
to hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and (ii) ratifying the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Corporation’ s independent
registered public accountants for the year 2005. Proxies for the meeting were solicited pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and there was no solicitation in opposition to management’ s nominees.

All of management’ s nominees for Director as listed in the proxy statement were elected by the votes set forth below. As contemplated by the
description of cumulative voting procedures in the proxy statement, votes withheld from some (but less than all) of the nominees were
allocated by the proxies among nominees with respect to whom authority was not withheld. Accordingly, the “WITHHELD BEFORE
CUMULATIVE VOTING” totals below reflect the number of shares with respect to which authority to vote for all nominees as a group was
withheld, plus the number of shares with respect to which authority to vote for individual nominees was withheld; the “WITHHELD AFTER
CUMULATIVE VOTING” totals below reflect the number of shares with respect to which authority to vote for all nominees as a group was
withheld; and the “FOR” totals below reflect the number of votes for all nominees as a group, plus the number of votes allocated to nominees
with respect to whom authority was not withheld. There were no broker non-votes with respect to any nominees.

WITHHELD WITHHELD
BEFORE AFTER

CUMULATIVE CUMULATIVE
NOMINEES VOTING VOTING FOR
Duane L. Burnham

4,481,208 3,580,965 197,279,870
Susan Crown

4,304,235 3,580,965 197,586,003
Robert A. Helman

11,068,517 3,580,965 190,133,095
Dipak C. Jain

4,640,872 3,580,965 197,105,672
Arthur L. Kelly

6,578,421 3,580,965 195,032,272
Robert C. McCormack

4,414,943 3,580,965 197,392,679
Edward J. Mooney

4,266,376 3,580,965 197,557,939
William A. Osborn

6,556,774 3,580,965 195,059,562
John W. Rowe

32,161,524 3,580,965 167,086,579
Harold B. Smith

6,070,778 3,580,965 195,652,392
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William D. Smithburg
6,700,314 3,580,965 194,852,968

Charles A. Tribbett 11T
4,326,914 3,580,965 197,451,625

The appointment of KPMG LLP as the Corporation’ s independent registered public accountants for the year 2005 (the “Appointment’) was
ratified as follows: 194,635,064 votes were cast “FOR” ratification of the Appointment, 2,020,142 votes were cast “AGAINST” ratification

of the Appointment, and 441,647 shares abstained from voting on this matter. There were no broker non-votes on this matter.

37

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

Item 6.

(a)

Exhibits
Exhibits
(4)  Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders

(1)  Fiscal Agency Agreement dated March 11, 2005 by and among The Northern Trust Company as Issuer, Kredietbank
S.A. Luxembourgeoise as Fiscal Agent, and Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise and Brown Shipley & Co. Limited as
Paying Agents.

(10) Material Contracts

(i) Sixth Amendment dated February 10, 2005 of the Northern Trust Corporation Supplemental Thrift-Incentive Plan as
amended and restated as of July 20, 1999.

(i1) Second Amendment dated March 9, 2005 and effective as of January 1, 2005 of the Northern Trust Corporation
Severance Plan.

(iii) Deed of Novation and Amendment dated March 31, 2005 to the Share Purchase Agreement dated November 22, 2004
among Baring Asset Management Holdings Limited, ING Bank NV, The Northern Trust International Banking
Corporation, and The Northern Trust Company (portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment).

(31) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications
(i) Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(i) Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(32) Section 1350 Certifications

(1)  Certifications of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(99) Additional Exhibits

(i) Edited version of remarks delivered by William A. Osborn, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, at the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders of Northern Trust Corporation held on April 19, 2005.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: May 2, 2005 By:
/s/ Steven L. Fradkin

Steven L. Fradkin

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

Date: May 2, 2005 By:
/s/ Aileen B. Blake

Aileen B. Blake

Executive Vice President and Controller
(Chief Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with Northern Trust Corporation’ s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005. You may obtain copies of these exhibits from the SEC’ s Internet site at http.//www.sec.gov.
Stockholders may also obtain copies of such exhibits by writing Rose A. Ellis, Secretary, Northern Trust Corporation, 50 South LaSalle Street,
Chicago, Illinois 60675.

Exhibit
Number Description
4 Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders
(1) Fiscal Agency Agreement dated March 11, 2005 by and among The Northern Trust Company as Issuer, Kredietbank
S.A. Luxembourgeoise as Fiscal Agent, and Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise and Brown Shipley & Co. Limited as
Paying Agents.
(10) Material Contracts
(1) Sixth Amendment dated February 10, 2005 of the Northern Trust Corporation Supplemental Thrift-Incentive Plan as
amended and restated as of July 20, 1999.
(i)  Second Amendment dated March 9, 2005 and effective as of January 1, 2005 of the Northern Trust Corporation
Severance Plan.
(i)  Deed of Novation and Amendment dated March 31, 2005 to the Share Purchase Agreement dated November 22, 2004
among Baring Asset Management Holdings Limited, ING Bank NV, The Northern Trust International Banking
Corporation, and The Northern Trust Company (portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment).
3D Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications

(1)  Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(i)  Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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(32) Section 1350 Certifications

(1) Certifications of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

(99)  Additional Exhibits

(1) Edited version of remarks delivered by William A. Osborn, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders of Northern Trust Corporation held on April 19, 2005.
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Exhibit 4(i)

Dated March 11, 2005

(1) THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
as Issuer

(2) KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE
as Fiscal Agent

(3) KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE
as Paying Agent

(4) BROWN SHIPLEY & CO LIMITED
as Paying Agent

FISCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT

MAY ER
BROWN
R OWE
& M AW

LONDON
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1. Interpretation

2. Appointment of the Paying Agents

3. The Notes

4. Replacement Notes and Coupons

5. Payments to the Agent

6. Payments to Noteholders

7. Duties of the Agent

8. Miscellaneous Duties of the Paying Agents

9. Fees and Expenses

10. Terms of Appointment

11. Changes in Paying Agents

12. Notices

13. Law and Jurisdiction

14. Modification

15. Counterparts

16. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

Schedules

1. Form of Temporary Global Notes for the Senior and Subordinated Notes
2. Form of Permanent Global Notes for the Senior and Subordinated Notes
3. Form of Definitive Notes and Coupons for the Senior and Subordinated Notes
4. Terms and Conditions of the Senior/Subordinated Notes

5. Provisions for Meetings of the Noteholders

6. Specified Offices of the Paying Agents
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THIS AGREEMENT is dated March 11, 2005 and made between:

(1) THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois (the "Issuer");

(2) KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE as fiscal agent (the "Agent");

(3) KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE and BROWN SHIPLEY & CO LIMITED each as paying agent (together with the
Agent, the "Paying Agents").

BACKGROUND:

(A) The Issuer has authorised the creation and issue of Sterling 100,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Floating Rate Senior Notes
due 2010 (the "Senior Notes'"), and Sterling 150,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 5.375 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2015
(the "Subordinated Notes" and, together with the Senior Notes, the "Notes').

(B) The Notes will be in bearer form and issued in denominations of Sterling 50,000. The Notes will initially be in the form of a temporary
global note for each of the Senior Notes and the Subordinated Notes (each the "Temporary Global Note'), interests in which will be
exchangeable for interests in a permanent global note for each of the Senior Notes and the Subordinated Notes (each the ""Permanent
Global Note") in the circumstances specified in the Temporary Global Note. Each Permanent Global Note will in turn be exchangeable
for notes in definitive form ("' Definitive Notes''), with interest coupons (""Coupons") attached, only in certain limited circumstances
specified in such Permanent Global Note. The Issuer will, in relation to the Notes insofar as represented by the respective Permanent
Global Notes, enter into a deed of covenant dated March 11, 2005 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the '""Deed of
Covenant").

(C) The Issuer has made an application to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes issued to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange.

(D) In connection with such application, the Issuer has prepared an offering circular dated March 8, 2005 in connection with the Senior
Notes (the "Senior Notes Offering Circular') and an offering circular dated March 8, 2005 in connection with the Subordinated Notes
(the "Subordinated Notes Offering Circular" and, together with the Senior Notes Offering Circular, the "Offering Circular").

(E) The Issuer and the Paying Agents wish to record certain arrangements which they have made in relation to the Notes.

IT IS AGREED that:

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement the following expressions have the following meanings:

"Agent" means Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise or any successor thereto appointed from time to time in accordance with Clause 11
(Changes in Paying Agents) or any of its Successors;
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"Business Day" means a day (other than Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for

general business in London;
"Clearstream, Luxembourg' means Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg;

"Conditions" means the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes, as the case

may be, and any reference to a numbered "Condition" is to the correspondingly numbered provision thereof;
"Euroclear" means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System;
"Exchange Date'" means the first day following the expiry of 40 days after the issue of the Notes;

"Local Banking Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for business (including
dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the city in which the Agent has its Specified Office;

"Local Time" means the time in the city in which the Agent has its Specified Office;

"London Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business in London;

"Noteholders" means the holders of the Notes for the time being;

"Paying Agents'' means the Paying Agents and includes any successors thereto appointed from time to time in accordance with Clause
11 (Changes in Paying Agents) and any of their respective Successors and '"Paying Agent" means any one of the Paying Agents;

"Required Paying Agent' means any Paying Agent (which may be the Agent) which is the sole remaining Paying Agent with its
Specified Office in any city where a stock exchange on which the Notes are listed requires there to be a Paying Agent;

"Specified Office" means, in relation to any Paying Agent:
(a) the office specified against its name in Schedule 6 (Specified Offices of the Paying Agents); or
(b) such other office as such Paying Agent may specify in accordance with Clause 11.8 (Changes in Specified Offices);

"Successor' means, in relation to any person, an assignee or successor in title of such person who, under the law of its jurisdiction of
incorporation or domicile, has assumed the rights and obligations of such person under this Agreement or to which under such laws the

same have been transferred;
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1.2

1.3

14

"£" and "Sterling" means the lawful money for the time being of the United Kingdom;

"Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes" means the terms and conditions of the Senior Notes (as scheduled to this Agreement and
as modified from time to time in accordance with their terms); and

"Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes" means the terms and conditions of the Subordinated Notes (as scheduled to this

Agreement and as modified from time to time in accordance with their terms).

Meaning of outstanding

For the purposes of this Agreement (but without prejudice to its status for any other purpose), a Note shall be considered to be
"outstanding" unless one or more of the following events has occurred:

(a) it has been redeemed in full and has been cancelled in accordance with Condition 5 (Redemption and Purchase);

(b) the due date for its redemption in full has occurred and all sums due in respect of such Note (including all accrued interest) have
been received by the Agent and remain available for payment against presentation and surrender of such Note or (as the case may
be) the relevant Coupons;

(c) all claims for principal and interest in respect of such Note have become void under Condition 9 (Prescription);

(d) it has been mutilated or defaced, or is alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, and has been replaced pursuant to Condition
11 (Replacement of Notes); or

(e) for the purposes of Schedule 5 (Provisions for Meetings of the Noteholders) only, it is held by, or by any person for the benefit of,
the Issuer;

Provided, however, that, for the purposes of (i) ascertaining the right to attend and vote at any meeting of Noteholders and (ii)
Condition 12 (Meetings of Noteholders and Modifications) and Schedule 5 (Provisions for Meetings of the Noteholders), those
Notes (if any) which are for the time being held by any person (including but not limited to the Issuer or any subsidiary or affiliate
of it) for the benefit of the Issuer or any subsidiary or affiliate of it shall (unless and until ceasing to be so held) be deemed not to
remain outstanding.

Clauses and Schedules

Any reference in this Agreement to a Clause or a sub-clause or a Schedule is, unless otherwise stated, to a clause or a sub-clause hereof

or a schedule hereto.

Principal and interest

In this Agreement, any reference to principal or interest includes any additional amounts payable in relation thereto under the relevant
Conditions.
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1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.2

31

Other Agreements

All references in this Agreement to an agreement, instrument or other document (including the Deed of Covenant and Offering Circular)
shall be construed as a reference to that agreement, instrument or other document as the same may be amended, supplemented, replaced
or novated from time to time.

Terms defined in the Conditions

Terms and expressions used but not defined herein have the respective meanings given to them in the relevant Conditions.

Statutes

Any reference in this Agreement to a statute, any provision thereof or to any statutory instrument, order or regulation made thereunder
shall be construed as a reference to such statute, provision, statutory instrument, order or regulation as the same may have been, or may

from time to time be, amended or re-enacted.

Headings

Headings and sub-headings are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the construction of this Agreement.

APPOINTMENT OF THE PAYING AGENTS
Appointment

The Issuer appoints each Paying Agent (at its respective Specified Office) as its agent in relation to the Notes for the purposes specified
in this Agreement and in the Conditions.

Acceptance of appointment

Each Paying Agent accepts its appointment as agent of the Issuer in relation to the Notes and agrees to comply with the Conditions of
the Notes and the provisions of this Agreement and, in connection therewith, shall take all such action as may be incidental thereto.

THE NOTES

Temporary Global Notes

Each Temporary Global Note shall:

(a) be in substantially the form set out in Schedule 1 (Form of Temporary Global Notes);
(b) have the Conditions attached thereto, or incorporated by reference therein; and

(c) be executed manually or in facsimile by or on behalf of the Issuer and authenticated manually by or on behalf of the Agent.
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3.2

33

34

3.5

Permanent Global Notes

Each Permanent Global Note shall:

(a) be in substantially the form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Permanent Global Notes);
(b) have the Conditions attached thereto, or incorporated by reference therein; and

(c) be executed manually or in facsimile by or on behalf of the Issuer and authenticated manually by or on behalf of the Agent.

Definitive Notes
Each Definitive Note shall:

(a) be in substantially the form set out in Schedule 3 (Form of Definitive Notes) and have attached to it Coupons in substantially the

form set out therein;
(b) be security printed in accordance with all applicable legal and stock exchange requirements;
(¢) have a unique certificate number printed thereon;
(d) have the Conditions endorsed thereon, or attached thereto incorporated by reference therein;
(e) be executed manually or in facsimile by or on behalf of the Issuer and authenticated manually by or on behalf of the Agent; and

(f) otherwise be in accordance with the customary practice of, and format used in, the international Eurobond market.

Signatures

Any signature on a Note shall be that of a person who is at the time of the creation and issue of the Notes an authorised signatory for
such purpose of the Issuer notwithstanding that such person has for any reason (including death) ceased to be such an authorised
signatory at the time at which such Note is delivered.

Availability

The Issuer shall arrange for each unauthenticated Permanent Global Note to be made available to or to the order of the Agent not later
than 10 days before the Exchange Date. If the Issuer is required to deliver Definitive Notes pursuant to the terms of the relevant
Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall arrange for Sterling 100,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of unauthenticated Definitive
Notes in respect of the Senior Notes and Sterling 150,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of unauthenticated Definitive Notes in
respect of the Subordinated Notes to be made available to or to the order of the Agent as soon as practicable and in any event not later
than 30 days after the bearer of a Permanent Global Note has requested its exchange for Definitive Notes. The Issuer shall also arrange
for such unauthenticated
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3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes, Definitive Notes and Coupons as are required to enable the Agent to perform its
obligations under Clause 4 (Replacement Notes and Coupons) to be made available to or to the order of the Agent from time to time.

Duties of Agent

The Agent shall hold in safe custody all unauthenticated Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes, Definitive Notes and
Coupons delivered to it in accordance with Clause 3.5 (4vailability) and shall ensure that they are authenticated (in the case of
Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes and Definitive Notes) and delivered only in accordance with the terms hereof, and the
Conditions of each relevant Temporary Global Note or (as the case may be) each relevant Permanent Global Note.

Authority to authenticate

The Agent is authorised by the Issuer to authenticate each of the Temporary Global Notes and each of the Permanent Global Notes, any
replacement therefor and each Definitive Note by the signature of any of its officers or any other person duly authorised for the purpose
by the Agent.

Delivery of Permanent Global Notes

Subject to receipt by the Agent of any of the Permanent Global Notes in accordance with Clause 3.5 (4vailability), the Agent shall,
against presentation or (as the case may be) surrender to it of the respective Temporary Global Note and in accordance with the terms
thereof, authenticate and deliver to the bearer of such Temporary Global Note the respective Permanent Global Note in the aggregate
principal amount required by the terms of such Temporary Global Note or, if such Permanent Global Note has already been issued in
exchange for part only of such Temporary Global Note, procure that such aggregate principal amount is recorded in the schedule to such
Permanent Global Note and procure the signature of such record on its behalf.

Annotation of Temporary Global Notes and Permanent Global Notes

On each occasion on which any Permanent Global Note is delivered pursuant to Clause 3.8 (Delivery of Permanent Global Notes) or a
further exchange of interests in any Temporary Global Note for interests in the respective Permanent Global Note is made, the Agent
shall procure that there is recorded in the respective schedules to the relevant Temporary Global Note and the relevant Permanent Global
Note, the aggregate principal amount of interests in the relevant Permanent Global Note so delivered (the "relevant principal
amount"), the new aggregate principal amount of the relevant Permanent Global Note (which shall be the previous principal amount
thereof plus the relevant principal amount) and the remaining principal amount of the relevant Temporary Global Note (which shall be
the previous principal amount thereof less the relevant principal amount) and shall procure the signature of each such record on its
behalf. The Agent shall cancel or procure the cancellation of the relevant Temporary Global Note when and if it has made full exchange
thereof for interests in the relevant Permanent Global Note.
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3.10

3.11

3.12

4.1

Delivery of Definitive Notes

Subject to receipt by the Agent of Definitive Notes in accordance with Clause 3.5 (4vailability), the Agent shall, against presentation or
(as the case may be) surrender to it of any of the Permanent Global Notes and in accordance with the terms thereof, authenticate and
deliver Definitive Notes in the required aggregate principal amount to the bearer of such Permanent Global Note; provided, however,
that each Definitive Note shall at the time of its delivery have attached thereto only such Coupons as shall ensure that neither loss nor
gain accrues to the bearer thereof.

Annotation of Permanent Global Notes upon exchange for Definitive Notes

On each occasion on which Definitive Notes are delivered in exchange for any Permanent Global Note, the Agent shall procure that
there is recorded in the schedule to such Permanent Global Note the aggregate principal amount of Definitive Notes so delivered (the
"relevant principal amount") and the remaining principal amount of such Permanent Global Note (which shall be the previous principal
amount thereof less the relevant principal amount) and shall procure the signature of such record on its behalf. The Agent shall cancel or
procure the cancellation of such Permanent Global Note when and if it has made full exchange thereof for Definitive Notes.

Delivery of Definitive Notes and Coupons

Where any Definitive Notes are to be delivered in exchange for a Permanent Global Note or, as the case may be, a Temporary Global
Note, the Agent shall ensure that in the case of Definitive Notes with Coupons attached, such Definitive Notes shall have attached
thereto only such Coupons as shall ensure that neither loss nor gain of interest shall accrue to the bearer thereof upon such exchange.

REPLACEMENT NOTES AND COUPONS
Delivery of Replacements

Subject to receipt of sufficient replacement Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes, Definitive Notes and Coupons in
accordance with Clause 3.5 (Availability), the Agent shall, upon and in accordance with the instructions of the Issuer (which instructions
may, without limitation, include terms as to the payment of expenses and as to evidence, security and indemnity), authenticate (if
necessary) and deliver a Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or Coupon as a replacement for any
Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or Coupon which has been mutilated or defaced or which is alleged to
have been destroyed, stolen or lost; provided, however, that the Agent shall not deliver any Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global
Note, Definitive Note or Coupon as a replacement for any Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or Coupon
which has been mutilated or defaced otherwise than against surrender of the same and shall not issue any replacement Temporary Global
Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note, or Coupon until the applicant has furnished the Agent with such evidence and indemnity
as the Issuer and/or the Agent may reasonably require and has paid such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection with such
replacement.
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4.2

4.3

4.4

5.1

5.2

5.3

Replacements to be numbered

Each replacement Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note, or Coupon delivered under this Agreement shall
bear a unique certificate or (as the case may be) serial number.

Cancellation and Destruction of mutilated or defaced Notes

The Agent shall cancel and destroy each mutilated or defaced Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or

Coupon surrendered to it in respect of which a replacement has been delivered.

Notification

The Agent shall notify the Issuer and each other Paying Agent of the delivery by it in accordance herewith of any replacement
Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or Coupon, specifying the certificate or (as the case may be) serial
number thereof and the certificate or serial number (if any and if known) of the Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note,
Definitive Note or Coupon which it replaces and confirming that the Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note,
or Coupon which it replaces has been cancelled and (if such is the case) destroyed in accordance with Clause 8.8 (Destruction).

PAYMENTS TO THE AGENT
Issuer to pay Agent

In order to provide for the payment of principal and interest in respect of the Notes as the same becomes due and payable, the Issuer
shall pay to the Agent, prior to 11.00 a.m. (London time) on or before the date which is one London Business Day prior to the London
Business Day on which such payment becomes due, an amount equal to the amount of principal and/or (as the case may be) interest
falling due in respect of the Notes on such date.

Manner and time of payment

Each amount payable under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent) shall be paid unconditionally by credit transfer in Sterling and in same day
available, freely transferable, cleared funds not later than 10.00 a.m. (London time) on the relevant day to such account with such bank
in London as the Agent may from time to time by notice to the Issuer specify for such purpose. The Issuer shall, before 11.00 a.m.
(Local Time) at least two Business Days before the due date of each payment by it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent), notify the
Agent of its irrevocable payment instructions to the bank through which payment is to be made by the Issuer to the Agent or as directed
by the Agent.

Exclusion of liens and interest

The Agent shall be entitled to deal with each amount paid to it under this Clause 5 (Payments to the Agent) in the same manner as other

amounts paid to it as a banker by its customers; provided, however, that:

(a) it shall not exercise against the Issuer any lien, right of set-off or similar claim in respect thereof; and
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5.5

6.1

(b) it shall not be liable to any person for interest thereon.

Application by Agent

The Agent shall apply each amount paid to it hereunder in accordance with Clause 6 (Payments to Noteholders) and shall not be obliged
to repay any such amount unless the claim for the relevant payment becomes void under Condition 9 (Prescription) or otherwise ceases
in accordance with the Conditions, in which event it shall refund at the written request of the Issuer such portion of such amount as
relates to such payment by paying the same by credit transfer in Sterling to such account with such bank in London as the Issuer has by
notice to the Agent specified for the purpose.

Notification of Non-Payment

If the Agent has not received any payment due to it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent), it shall forthwith notify the Issuer and the
other Paying Agents. If the Agent subsequently receives notification of such payment instructions or payment of the amount due, it shall
forthwith notify the Issuer and the other Paying Agents thereof.

PAYMENTS TO NOTEHOLDERS
Payments by Paying Agents

Each Paying Agent acting through its Specified Office shall make payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes in
accordance with the Conditions applicable thereto (and, in the case of any Temporary Global Note or any Permanent Global Note, the
terms thereof); provided, however, that:

(a) if any Definitive Note or Coupon is presented or surrendered for payment to any Paying Agent and such Paying Agent has
delivered a replacement therefor or has been notified that the same has been replaced, such Paying Agent shall forthwith notify the
Issuer of such presentation or surrender and shall not make payment against the same until it is so instructed by the Issuer and has
received the amount to be so paid,

(b) aPaying Agent shall not be obliged (but shall be entitled) to make payments of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, if:

(1) in the case of the Agent, it has not received the full amount of any payment due to it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent);
or

(i)  in the case of any other Paying Agent:

(A) it has been notified in accordance with Clause 5.5 (Notification of Non-Payment) that the relevant irrevocable
payment instructions have not been received, unless it is subsequently notified that such payment instructions have
been received; or
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6.2

6.3

(©)

(d

(e)

)

(B) itis not able to establish that the Agent has received (whether or not at the due time) the full amount of any payment
due to it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent);

each Paying Agent shall ensure that payments of both principal and interest in respect of a Temporary Global Note will be made
only to the extent that certification of non U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury requirements (in the form set out
in the Temporary Global Notes) has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg;

each Paying Agent shall cancel each Definitive Note or Coupon against surrender of which it has made full payment and shall, in
the case of a Paying Agent other than the Agent, deliver each Definitive Note or Coupon so cancelled by it to, or to the order of,
the Agent;

in the case of payment of principal or interest against presentation of the Temporary Global Note or any Permanent Global Note,
the relevant Paying Agent shall procure that there is recorded in the schedule to such Temporary Global Note or (as the case may
be) such Permanent Global Note the amount of such payment and, in the case of payment of principal, the remaining principal
amount of such Temporary Global Note or (as the case may be) such Permanent Global Note (which shall be the previous principal
amount thereof less the amount of principal then paid) and shall procure the signature of such record on its behalf; and

notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each Paying Agent shall be entitled to make a deduction or withholding
from any payment which it makes under this Agreement for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties or charges if and to
the extent so required by applicable law, in which event such Paying Agent shall make such payment after such withholding or
deduction has been made and shall account to the relevant authorities for the amount so withheld or deducted.

Exclusion of liens and commissions

No Paying Agent shall exercise any lien, right of set-off or similar claim against any person to whom it makes any payment under

Clause 6.1 (Payments by Paying Agents) in respect thereof, nor shall any commission or expense be charged by it to any such person in

respect thereof.

Reimbursement by Agent

If a Paying Agent other than the Agent makes any payment in accordance with Clause 6.1 (Payments by Paying Agents):

(@

it shall notify the Agent of the amount so paid by it, the certificate or serial number (if any) of the relevant Temporary Global Note,
the relevant Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or Coupon against presentation or surrender of which payment of principal
was made, or of the relevant Temporary Global Note, the relevant Permanent Global Note or Definitive Note against presentation
or surrender of which payment of interest was made, and the number of Coupons by maturity against presentation or surrender of
which payment of interest was made; and

10
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6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

(b) subject to and to the extent of compliance by the Issuer with Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent) (whether or not at the due time), the
Agent shall pay to such Paying Agent out of the funds received by it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent), by credit transfer in
Sterling and in same day, freely transferable, cleared funds to such account with such bank in London as such Paying Agent has by
notice to the Agent specified for the purpose, an amount equal to the amount so paid by such Paying Agent.

Appropriation by Agent

If the Agent makes any payment in accordance with Clause 6.1 (Payments by Paying Agents), it shall be entitled to appropriate for its
own account out of the funds received by it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent) an amount equal to the amount so paid by it.

Reimbursement by Issuer

Subject to sub-clauses 6.1(a) and 6.1(b) (Payments by Paying Agents), if a Paying Agent makes a payment in respect of Notes on or after
the due date for such payment under the Conditions at a time at which the Agent has not received the full amount of the relevant
payment due to it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer fo pay Agent) and the Agent is not able out of funds received by it under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to
pay Agent) to reimburse such Paying Agent therefor (whether by payment under Clause 6.3 (Reimbursement by Agent) or appropriation
under Clause 6.4 (Appropriation by Agent)), the Issuer shall from time to time on demand pay to the Agent for the account of such
Paying Agent:

(a) the amount so paid out by such Paying Agent and not so reimbursed to it; and

(b) interest on such amount from the date on which such Paying Agent made such payment until the date of reimbursement of such

amount;

provided, however, that any payment made under sub-clause 6.5(a) shall satisfy pro tanto the obligations of the Issuer under Clause 5.1
(Issuer to pay Agent).

Interest

Interest shall accrue for the purpose of sub-clause 6.5(b) (Reimbursement by Issuer) (as well after as before judgment) on the basis of a
year of 365 days and the actual number of days elapsed and at the rate per annum which is the aggregate of one per cent. per annum and
the rate per annum specified by such Paying Agent as reflecting its cost of funds for the time being in relation to the unpaid amount.

Partial payments

If at any time and for any reason a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Temporary Global Note, any Permanent
Global Note or any Definitive Note, or Coupon presented for payment to it, such Paying Agent shall enface thereon a statement
indicating the amount and date of such payment.

11
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8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

DUTIES OF THE AGENT

The Agent agrees to act as calculation agent in respect of the Senior Notes and further agrees to comply with the provisions of Condition
4 (Interest) of the Senior Notes and this Agreement.

MISCELLANEOUS DUTIES OF THE PAYING AGENTS
Records
The Agent shall:

(a) maintain a record of all Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes, Definitive Notes and Coupons delivered hereunder and
of their redemption, payment, cancellation, mutilation, defacement, alleged destruction, theft, loss or replacement (and, in the case
of any Temporary Global Notes, exchange of interests thereof for interests in the relevant Permanent Global Note and, in the case
of any Permanent Global Note, exchange of interests thereof for Definitive Notes provided, however, that no record need be
maintained of the serial numbers of Coupons, save for the serial numbers of Coupons for which replacements have been issued
under Clause 4 (Replacement Notes and Coupons) and unmatured Coupons missing at the time of redemption or other cancellation
of the relevant Definitive Notes and for any subsequent payments against such Coupons;

(b) maintain a record of all certifications received by it in accordance with Clause 8.3 (Certifications) or the provisions of any
Temporary Global Note and all confirmations received by it in accordance with Clause 8.4 (Cancellation) and retain certificates as
to non-U.S. beneficial ownership; and

(c) make such records available for inspection at all reasonable times by the Issuer and the other Paying Agents.

Information from Paying Agents

The Paying Agents shall make available to the Agent such information as is reasonably required for the maintenance of the records
referred to in Clause 8.1 (Records).

Certifications

Each Paying Agent shall promptly copy to the Issuer and, in the case of a Paying Agent other than the Agent, the Agent any certification
received by it in accordance with the provisions of any Temporary Global Note.

Cancellation

The Issuer may from time to time deliver to the Agent Definitive Notes and unmatured Coupons relating thereto for cancellation,
whereupon the Agent shall cancel such Definitive Notes and Coupons. In addition, the Issuer may from time to time procure the delivery
to the Agent of any Temporary Global Note or any Permanent Global Note with instructions to cancel a specified aggregate principal
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8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

amount of Notes represented by it (which instructions shall be accompanied by confirmation from Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg that Notes having such aggregate principal amount may be cancelled), whereupon the Agent shall procure that there is
recorded on the schedule to such Temporary Global Note or (as the case may be) such Permanent Global Note the aggregate principal
amount of Notes so cancelled and the remaining principal amount of such Temporary Global Note or (as the case may be) such
Permanent Global Note (which shall be the previous principal amount thereof less the aggregate principal amount of the Notes so
cancelled) and shall procure the signature of such record on its behalf.

Definitive Notes and Coupons in issue

As soon as practicable (and in any event within three months) after each interest payment date in relation to the Notes, after each date on
which Notes are cancelled in accordance with Clause 8.4 (Cancellation) and after each date on which the Notes fall due for redemption
in accordance with the Conditions, the Agent shall notify, upon request, the Issuer (on the basis of the information available to it) of the
number of any Definitive Notes and/or Coupons (by reference by maturity) against surrender of which payment has been made and of
the number of any Definitive Notes or (as the case may be) Coupons which have not yet been surrendered for payment.

Forwarding of communications

The Agent shall promptly forward to the Issuer a copy of any notice or communication addressed to the Issuer by any Noteholder which
is received by the Agent.

Publication of notices

The Agent shall, upon and in accordance with instructions of the Issuer received at least 10 days before the proposed publication date,
arrange for the publication in accordance with the Conditions of any notice which is to be given to the Noteholders and shall supply a
copy thereof to each other Paying Agent, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and any listing authority and/or stock exchange on which
the Notes are admitted to listing and/or trading.

Destruction

Unless the Issuer instructs otherwise the Agent shall destroy any Temporary Global Note following its cancellation and any Permanent
Global Note following its cancellation, and any Temporary Global Note and any Permanent Global Note and each Definitive Note or
Coupon delivered to or cancelled by it in accordance with sub-clause 6.1.(c) (Payments by Paying Agents) or cancelled by it in
accordance with Clause 4.3 (Cancellation and Destruction of mutilated or defaced Notes) or Clause 8.4 (Cancellation), in which case it
shall upon written request furnish the Issuer with a certificate of destruction specifying the certificate or serial numbers (if any) of any
Temporary Global Note or (as the case may be) any Permanent Global Note or Definitive Notes (distinguishing between different
denominations), in numerical sequence and the total number by payment or maturity date of Coupons so destroyed.
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8.9 Documents available for inspection
The Issuer shall provide to the Agent for distribution to the Paying Agent:
(a) conformed copies of this Agreement and the Deed of Covenant;

(b) if the provisions of Condition 5(B) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons) become relevant in relation to the Notes, the documents
required under Condition 5(B) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons); and

(c) such other documents as may from time to time be required by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (or any other stock exchange on
which the Notes are admitted to trading) to be made available at the Specified Office of the Paying Agent having its Specified
Office in Luxembourg.

Each of the Paying Agents shall make available for inspection during normal business hours at its Specified Office the documents
referred to above and such documents as may be specified as so available in the Offering Circular or the Conditions to the Notes, and,
upon reasonable request, will allow copies of such documents to be taken.

8.10 Voting Certificates and Block Voting Instructions

Each Paying Agent shall, at the request of any Noteholder, issue Voting Certificates and Block Voting Instructions in a form and manner
which comply with the provisions of the Fifth Schedule (Provisions for Meetings of the Noteholders) (except that it shall not be required
to issue the same less than 48 hours before the time fixed for any Meeting therein provided for). Each Paying Agent shall keep a full
record of Voting Certificates and Block Voting Instructions issued by it and shall give to the Issuer, not less than 24 hours before the
time appointed for any Meeting or adjourned meeting, full particulars of all Voting Certificates and Block Voting Instructions issued by

it in respect of such Meeting or adjourned meeting.

8.11 Enforcement

Notwithstanding the rights of the Noteholders to take individual action, at any time after the Notes become due and payable, the Agent
may, at its discretion and without further notice, institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of
this Agreement and the Notes, but it need not take any such proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary
Resolution or so requested in writing by Noteholders holding at least 10% in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, and (b) it
shall have been indemnified to its satisfaction.

9. FEES AND EXPENSES
9.1 Fees

The Issuer shall pay to the Agent for the account of the Paying Agents such fees as have been separately agreed between the Issuer and
the Agent from the Agent to the Issuer in respect of the services of the Paying Agents hereunder (plus any applicable value added tax).
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9.2

9.3

10.

10.1

Front-end expenses

The Issuer shall on demand reimburse the Agent for all expenses incurred by it in the negotiation, preparation and execution of this
Agreement, and shall on demand reimburse each Paying Agent for all expenses (including, without limitation, legal fees and any
publication, advertising, communication, courier, postage and other out-of-pocket expenses) properly incurred in connection with its
services hereunder (plus any applicable value added tax).

Taxes

The Issuer shall pay all stamp, registration and other taxes and duties (including any interest and penalties thereon or in connection
therewith) which are payable upon or in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and the Issuer shall jointly and
severally indemnify each Paying Agent on demand against any claim, demand, action, liability, damages, cost, loss or expense
(including, without limitation, legal fees and any applicable value added tax) which it incurs as a result or arising out of or in relation to
any failure to pay or delay in paying any of the same. All payments by the Issuer under this Clause 9 (Fees and Expenses) or Clause 10.4
(Indemnity in favour of the Paying Agents) shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatsoever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by the United States or any
political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In
that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in the receipt by the relevant Paying Agent of such amounts as
would have been received by it if no such withholding or deduction had been required.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT
Rights and powers
Each Paying Agent may, in connection with its services hereunder:

(a) except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise required by law and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust
or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof, but subject to sub-clause 6.1(a)
(Payments by Paying Agents), treat the holder of any Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note, Definitive Note or Coupon
as its absolute owner thereof for all purposes and make payments thereon accordingly;

(b) assume that the terms of any Temporary Global Note, any Permanent Global Note and each Definitive Note and Coupon as issued

are correct;

(c) refer any question relating to the ownership of any Temporary Global Note, any Permanent Global Note or any Definitive Note or
Coupon or the adequacy or sufficiency of any evidence supplied in connection with the replacement of any Temporary Global
Note, any Permanent Global Note or any Definitive Note or Coupon to the Issuer for determination by the Issuer and rely upon any

determination so made;
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10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

(d) rely upon the terms of any notice, communication or other document believed by it to be genuine; and

(e) engage and pay for the advice or services of any lawyers or other experts whose advice or services it considers necessary and rely
upon any advice so obtained (and such Paying Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability as against the Issuer in respect
of any action taken, or permitted to be taken, in accordance with such advice and in good faith).

Extent of duties

Each Paying Agent shall only be obliged to perform the duties set out herein and such other duties as are necessarily incidental thereto.
No Paying Agent shall:

(a) beunder any fiduciary duty or other obligation towards or have any relationship of agency or trust for or with any person other
than the Issuer (save insofar as that any funds received by the Agent under Clause 5.1 (Issuer to pay Agent) shall, pending their
application in accordance with Clause 6.3 (Reimbursement by Agent) or Clause 6.4 (Appropriation by Agent) or their repayment in
accordance with Clause 5.4 (Application by Agent), be held by it in a segregated account which shall be held on trust for the
persons entitled thereto); or

(b) be responsible for or liable in respect of the legality, validity or enforceability of any Temporary Global Note, any Permanent
Global Note or any Definitive Note or Coupon or any act or omission of any other person (including, without limitation, any other
Paying Agent).

Freedom to transact

Any of the Agents, their officers, directors or employees may become the owner of, or acquire any interest in, Notes or Coupons with the
same rights that it or he would have if the Agent concerned were not appointed under this Agreement, and may engage or be interested
in any financial or other transaction with the Issuer, and may act on, or as depositary, trustee or agent for, any committee or body of
holders of Notes or Coupons or other obligations of the Issuer, as freely as if the Agent were not appointed under this Agreement.

Indemnity in favour of the Paying Agents

The Issuer shall indemnify each Paying Agent against any claim, demand, action, liability, damages, cost, loss or expense (including,
without limitation, legal fees and any applicable value added tax) which it incurs, and otherwise than by reason of its own negligence or
wilful misconduct, default or bad faith, as a result or arising out of or in relation to its acting as the agent of the Issuer in relation to the
Notes.

Indemnity in favour of the Issuer

Each Paying Agent shall severally indemnify the Issuer against any claim, demand, action, liability, damages, cost, loss or expense
(including, without limitation, legal fees and any applicable value added tax) which it incurs as a result of the negligence, wilful
misconduct, default or bad faith of such Paying Agent or of its respective officers, directors or employees.
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10.6

10.7

10.8

11.

111

11.2

Survival of Indemnities

Each of the indemnities set out in Clauses 10.4 and 10.5 above shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement.

Consequential damages disclaimer

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, including, without limitation, any indemnity given by the Agent
herein, the Agent shall not in any event be liable for special, indirect, punitive or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever
(including but not limited to lost profits), whether or not foreseeable, even if the Agent has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or
damage and regardless of whether the claim for loss or damage is made in negligence, for breach of contract, breach of trust, breach of
fiduciary obligation or otherwise; provided, however, that this Clause 10.7 shall be deemed not to apply in the event of a determination
of fraud on the part of the Agent in a non-appealable judgment by a court having jurisdiction.

Consultation with Advisers

The Agent may consult with legal and other professional advisers and the opinion of the advisers shall be full and complete protection in
respect of action taken, omitted or suffered under this Agreement in good faith and in accordance with the opinion of the advisers.

CHANGES IN PAYING AGENTS
Resignation

Any Paying Agent may resign its appointment upon not less than 30 days' notice to the Issuer (with a copy, in the case of a Paying Agent
other than the Agent, to the Agent); provided, however, that:

(a) if such resignation would otherwise take effect less than 30 days before or after the maturity date or other date for redemption of
the Notes or any interest payment date in relation to the Notes, it shall not take effect until the thirtieth day following such date;
and

(b) in the case of the Agent, such resignation shall not take effect until a successor has been duly appointed consistently with Clause
11.4 (Additional and successor agents) or Clause 11.5 (Paying Agents may appoint successors) and notice of such appointment has
been given to the Noteholders.

Revocation

The Issuer may revoke its appointment of any Paying Agent by not less than 30 days' notice to such Paying Agent (with a copy, in the
case of a Paying Agent other than the Agent, to the Agent); provided, however, that, in the case of the Agent, such revocation shall not
take effect until a successor has been duly appointed consistently with Clause 11.4 (Additional and successor agents) or Clause 11.5
(Paying Agents may appoint successors) and notice of such appointment has been given to the Noteholders.
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11.3 Automatic termination

The appointment of any Paying Agent shall terminate forthwith if (a) such Paying Agent becomes incapable of acting, (b) a secured
party takes possession, or a receiver, manager or other similar officer is appointed, of the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets
and revenues of such Paying Agent, (c) such Paying Agent admits in writing its insolvency or inability to pay its debts as they fall due,
(d) an administrator or liquidator of such Paying Agent or the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets and revenues of such Paying
Agent is appointed (or application for any such appointment is made), (e) such Paying Agent takes any action for a readjustment or
deferment of any of its obligations or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its
creditors or declares a moratorium in respect of any of its indebtedness, (f) an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the
winding-up of such Paying Agent or (g) any event occurs which has an analogous effect to any of the foregoing. If the appointment of
the Agent is terminated in accordance with this Clause 11.3, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a successor in accordance with Clause

11.4 (Additional and successor agents).

11.4 Additional and successor agents

The Issuer may appoint a successor Agent and additional or successor paying agents and shall forthwith give notice of any such
appointment to the continuing Paying Agents and the Noteholders, whereupon the Issuer, the continuing Paying Agents, and the
additional or successor Agent or paying agent shall acquire and become subject to the same rights and obligations between themselves as

if they had entered into an agreement in the form mutatis mutandis of this Agreement.

11.5 Paying Agents may appoint successors

If the Agent gives notice of its resignation in accordance with Clause 11.1 (Resignation) and by the tenth day before the expiry of such
notice a successor has not been duly appointed in accordance with Clause 11.4 (Additional and successor agents), the Agent may itself,
following such consultation with the Issuer as is practicable in the circumstances, appoint as its successor any reputable and experienced
financial institution and give notice of such appointment to the Issuer, the remaining Paying Agents and the Noteholders, whereupon the
Issuer, the remaining Paying Agents and such successor shall acquire and become subject to the same rights and obligations between
themselves as if they had entered into an agreement in the form mutatis mutandis of this Agreement.

11.6 Release

Upon any resignation or revocation taking effect under Clause 11.1 (Resignation) or 11.2 (Revocation) or any termination taking effect
under Clause 11.3 (Automatic termination), the relevant Paying Agent shall:

(a) Dbereleased and discharged from its obligations under this Agreement (save that it shall remain entitled to the benefit of and subject
to Clause 9.3 (Taxes), Clause 10 (Terms of Appointment) and Clause 11 (Changes in Paying Agents));
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11.7

11.8

12.

12.1

(b) in the case of the Agent, deliver to the Issuer and to its successor a copy, certified as true and up-to-date by an officer or authorised
signatory of the Agent, of the records maintained by it in accordance with Clause 8.1 (Records); and

(c) forthwith (upon payment to it of any amount due to it in accordance with Clause 9 (Fees and Expenses) or Clause 10.4 (Indemnity
in favour of the Paying Agents) transfer all moneys and papers (including any unissued Notes or Coupons held by it hereunder and
any documents held by it pursuant to Clause 8.11 (Documents available for inspection)) to its successor and, upon appropriate
notice, provide reasonable assistance to its successor for the discharge of its duties and responsibilities hereunder.

Merger

Any legal entity into which any Paying Agent is merged or converted or any legal entity resulting from any merger or conversion to
which such Paying Agent is a party shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be the successor to such Paying Agent without any
further formality, whereupon the Issuer, the other Paying Agents and such successor shall acquire and become subject to the same rights
and obligations between themselves as if they had entered into an agreement in the form mutatis mutandis of this Agreement. Notice of

any such merger or conversion shall forthwith be given by such successor to the Issuer, the other Paying Agents and the Noteholders.

Changes in Specified Offices

If any Paying Agent decides to change its Specified Office (which may only be effected within the same city unless the prior written
approval of the Issuer has been obtained), it shall give notice to the Issuer (with a copy to the other Paying Agents) of the address of the
new Specified Office stating the date on which such change is to take effect, which date shall be not less than 30 days after the date of
such notice. The Issuer shall at its own expense not less than 14 days prior to the date on which such change is to take effect (unless the
appointment of the relevant Paying Agent is to terminate pursuant to any of the foregoing provisions of this Clause 11 (Changes in
Paying Agents) on or prior to the date of such change) give notice thereof to the Noteholders.

NOTICES
Addresses for notices
All notices and communications hereunder shall be made in writing (by letter, telex or fax) and shall be sent as follows:

(a) if'to the Issuer, to it at:
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12.2

12.3

12.4

The Northern Trust Company
50 South LaSalle Street
Chicago

Illinois

USA

Telephone No.:  (312) 444-4978
Fax: (312) 444-5666
Attention: Senior Vice President, Treasury Department, B-12

(b) ifto a Paying Agent, to it at the address, telex number or fax number specified against its name in Schedule 6 (Specified Offices of
the Paying Agents) (or, in the case of a Paying Agent not originally a party hereto, specified by notice to the parties hereto at the
time of its appointment) for the attention of the person or department specified therein;

or, in any case, to such other address, telex number or fax number or for the attention of such other person or department as the

addressee has by prior notice to the sender specified for the purpose.

Effectiveness

Every notice or communication sent in accordance with Clause 12.1 (Addresses for notices) shall be effective as follows:
(a) if sent by letter or fax, upon receipt by the addressee; and

(b) if sent by telex, upon receipt by the sender of the addressee's answerback at the end of transmission;

provided, however, that any such notice or communication which would otherwise take effect after 4.00 p.m. on any particular day shall

not take effect until 10.00 a.m. on the immediately succeeding business day in the place of the addressee.

Notices to Noteholders

Any notice required to be given to Noteholders under this Agreement shall be given in accordance with the Conditions; provided,
however, that, so long as all the Notes in respect of any series of Notes are represented by a Temporary Global Note and a Permanent
Global Note, notices to Noteholders in respect of such series of Notes shall be given in accordance with the terms of such Temporary
Global Note and/or such Permanent Global Note.

Notices in English

All notices and other communications hereunder shall be made in the English language or shall be accompanied by a certified English
translation thereof. Any certified English translation delivered hereunder shall be certified a true and accurate translation by a
professionally qualified translator or by some other person competent to do so.
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13.

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

13.5

14.

15.

LAW AND JURISDICTION
Governing law

This Agreement is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.

English courts

The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a "Dispute'), arising from or connected with this Agreement
(including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement) or the consequences of its nullity.

Appropriate forum

The parties agree that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle any Dispute and, accordingly, that
they will not argue to the contrary.

Rights of the Agents to take proceedings outside England

Clause 13.2 (English courts) is for the benefit of the Agents only. As a result, nothing in this Clause 13 (Law and jurisdiction) limits the
rights of the Agents to take proceedings relating to a Dispute (""Proceedings') in any other court of competent jurisdiction. To the
extent allowed by law, the Agents may take Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions (whether concurrently or not).

Process agent

The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other documents required to be served in relation to those
Proceedings may be served on it by being delivered to Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP, 11 Pilgrim Street, London EC4V 6RW. If
such person is not or ceases to be effectively appointed to accept service of process on behalf of the Issuer, the Issuer shall forthwith
appoint a further person in England to accept service of process on its behalf and, failing such appointment within 15 days, any Agent
shall be entitled to appoint such a person by written notice addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Issuer. Nothing in this paragraph
shall affect the right of any Agent to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. This clause applies to Proceedings in England

and to Proceedings elsewhere.

MODIFICATION

This Agreement may be amended by further agreement among the parties hereto and without the consent of the Noteholders.

COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed an original and all of
which so executed shall constitute one and the same binding agreement between the parties. Any party may enter into this Agreement by
signing any such counterpart.
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16. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999

A person who is not a party to this Agreement has no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce or enjoy
the benefit of any of the terms of this Agreement.

AS WITNESS the hands of the duly authorised representatives of the parties hereto the day and year first before written.
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SCHEDULE 1

Part 1
Form of Temporary Global Note for the Senior Notes

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED
STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

(a banking corporation organised under
the laws of the State of Illinois)

Sterling 100,000,000

Floating Rate Notes due 2010

TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTE

1. INTRODUCTION

This Temporary Global Note is issued in respect of the Sterling 100,000,000 floating rate notes due 2010 (the "Notes') of The Northern
Trust Company (the "Issuer'). The Notes are the subject of a fiscal agency agreement dated March 11, 2005 (as amended or
supplemented from time to time, the "Fiscal Agency Agreement") and made between the Issuer, Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise,
as Fiscal Agent (the "Agent", which expression includes any successor Agent appointed from time to time in connection with the
Notes) and the other paying agent named therein (together with the Agent, the "Paying Agents'", which expression includes any
additional or successor or additional paying agents in their capacity as such and any substitute or any additional paying agents appointed
from time to time in connection with the Notes).

2. REFERENCES TO CONDITIONS

The Notes are subject to, and have the benefit of, the terms and conditions (the "Conditions') of the Notes set out in Schedule 4 Part 1
(Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes) hereto and any reference to a numbered "Condition" is to the correspondingly numbered
provision thereof. Words and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meanings when used in this Temporary Global
Note.

3.  PROMISE TO PAY

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note the principal sum of

£100,000,000
(ONE HUNDRED MILLION STERLING)
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3.1

3.2

5.1

5.2

on March 11, 2010 or on such earlier date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the Conditions, and to pay
interest on such principal sum in arrear on the dates and at the rate specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts
payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions; provided, however, that such interest
shall be payable only:

in the case of interest falling due before the Exchange Date (as defined below), payment of interest will only be made to the extent that a
certificate or certificates issued by Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System ('"Euroclear") and/or Clearstream
Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg (" Clearstream, Luxembourg') dated not earlier than the date on which such interest falls due
and in substantially the form set out in Schedule 3 (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg Certification) hereto or in such other
form as is customarily issued in such circumstances by the relevant clearing system is/are delivered to the Specified Office (as defined in
the Conditions) of the Agent; or

in the case of interest falling due on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below), and subject to clause 5, to the extent that, upon due
presentation for exchange by the bearer of this Temporary Global Note (in whole but not in part only) for a Permanent Global Note, such
exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such withholding or refusal is continuing at the relevant payment date.

NEGOTIABILITY

This Temporary Global Note is negotiable and, accordingly, title to this Temporary Global Note shall pass by delivery.

EXCHANGE

On or after the day following the expiry of 40 days after the date of issue of this Global Note (the "Exchange Date') and only upon
receipt by the Issuer of the written certification required under U.S. Treasury Regulations section 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) in substantially the
form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Accountholders Certification) hereto, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the
delivery of a permanent global note (the '"Permanent Global Note'") in substantially the form set out in the Second Schedule (Form of
Permanent Global Note) to the Fiscal Agency Agreement to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent
exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms against:

presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of this Temporary Global Note at the specified office of the Agent; and

receipt by the Agent of a certificate or certificates issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg dated not earlier than the
Exchange Date and in substantially the form set out in Schedule 3 (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg Certification) hereto.

The principal amount of the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates
issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and received by the Agent; provided, however, that in no circumstances shall the
principal amount of the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of this Temporary Global Note.
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WRITING DOWN
On each occasion on which:

(a) the Permanent Global Note is delivered or the principal amount thereof is increased in accordance with its terms in exchange for a
further portion of this Temporary Global Note; or

(b) Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note are to be cancelled in accordance with Condition 5 (Redemption and Purchase),

the Issuer shall procure that (i) the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note, the principal amount of such increase or (as the case
may be) the aggregate principal amount of such Notes and (ii) the remaining principal amount of this Temporary Global Note (which
shall be the previous principal amount hereof less the aggregate of the amounts referred to in (i) above) are recorded in Schedule 1
(Payments, Exchange and Cancellation of Notes) hereto, whereupon the principal amount of this Temporary Global Note shall for all
purposes be as most recently so recorded.

PAYMENTS

The bearer of this Temporary Global Note shall not (unless, upon due presentation of this Temporary Global Note for exchange (in
whole but not in part only) for a Permanent Global Note, such exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such
withholding or refusal is continuing at the relevant payment date) be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the Notes represented
by this Temporary Global Note which falls due on or after the Exchange Date or be entitled to exercise any option on a date after the
Exchange Date.

CONDITIONS APPLY

Until this Temporary Global Note has been exchanged as provided herein or cancelled in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement,
the bearer of this Temporary Global Note shall be subject to the Conditions and, subject as otherwise provided herein, shall be entitled to
the same rights and benefits under the Conditions as if the bearer were the holder of Notes in definitive form in substantially the form set
out in the Third Schedule (Form of Definitive Note) to the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the related principal receipts, interest coupons

and talons for further interest coupons in the denomination of Sterling 50,000 and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal

amount of this Temporary Global Note.

NOTICES

Notwithstanding Condition 15 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by this Temporary Global Note (or by this Temporary
Global Note and the Permanent Global Note) and this Temporary Global Note is (or this Temporary Global Note and the Permanent
Global Note are) deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given
by delivery of the
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10.

11.

relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; provided,
however, that, so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and its rules so require, notices will also be published
in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort).

AUTHENTICATION

This Temporary Global Note shall not be valid for any purpose until it has been authenticated for and on behalf of Kredietbank S.A.
Luxembourgeoise as Agent.

GOVERNING LAW

This Temporary Global Note is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.
AS WITNESS the [manual/facsimile] signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By:

[manual or facsimile signature]
(duly authorised)

ISSUED on [issue date]

AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE
as Fiscal Agent

without recourse, warranty or liability

By:
[manual signature]
(duly authorised)
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SCHEDULE 1

Part 2
Form of Temporary Global Note for the Subordinated Notes

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED
STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)

Sterling 150,000,000

5.375 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2015

TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTE

1. INTRODUCTION

This Temporary Global Note is issued in respect of the Sterling 150,000,000 5.375 per cent. subordinated notes due 2015 (the
"Subordinated Notes') of The Northern Trust Company (the "Issuer"). The Subordinated Notes are the subject of a fiscal agency
agreement dated March 11, 2005 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the ""Fiscal Agency Agreement') and made between
the Issuer, Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise, as Fiscal Agent (the "Agent", which expression includes any successor Agent appointed
from time to time in connection with the Subordinated Notes) and the paying agent named therein (together with the Agent, the '""Paying
Agents'', which expression includes any additional or successor or additional paying agents in their capacity as such and any substitute
or any additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Subordinated Notes).

2. REFERENCES TO CONDITIONS

The Subordinated Notes are subject to, and have the benefit of, the terms and conditions (the '""Conditions') of the Subordinated Notes
set out in Schedule 4 Part 2 (Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes) hereto and any reference to a numbered "Condition" is
to the correspondingly numbered provision thereof. Words and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meanings

when used in this Temporary Global Note.

3.  PROMISE TO PAY

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note the principal sum of

£150,000,000
(ONE HUNDRED AND FIFTY MILLION STERLING)
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3.1

3.2

5.1

5.2

on March 11, 2015 or on such earlier date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the Conditions, and to pay
interest on such principal sum in arrear on the dates and at the rate specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts
payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions; provided, however, that such interest
shall be payable only:

in the case of interest falling due before the Exchange Date (as defined below), payment of interest will only be made to the extent that a
certificate or certificates issued by Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System ('"Euroclear") and/or Clearstream
Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg (" Clearstream, Luxembourg') dated not earlier than the date on which such interest falls due
and in substantially the form set out in Schedule 3 (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg Certification) hereto or in such other
form as is customarily issued in such circumstances by the relevant clearing system is/are delivered to the Specified Office (as defined in
the Conditions) of the Agent; or

in the case of interest falling due on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below), subject to clause 5, to the extent that, upon due
presentation for exchange by the bearer of this Temporary Global Note (in whole but not in part only) for a Permanent Global Note, such
exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such withholding or refusal is continuing at the relevant payment date.

NEGOTIABILITY

This Temporary Global Note is negotiable and, accordingly, title to this Temporary Global Note shall pass by delivery.

EXCHANGE

On or after the day following the expiry of 40 days after the date of issue of this Global Note (the "Exchange Date') and only upon
receipt by the Issuer of the written certification required under U.S. Treasury Regulations section 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) in substantially the
form set out in Schedule 2 (Form of Accountholders Certification) hereto, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the
delivery of a permanent global note (the '"Permanent Global Note'") in substantially the form set out in the Second Schedule (Form of
Permanent Global Note) to the Fiscal Agency Agreement to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent
exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms against:

presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of this Temporary Global Note at the specified office of the Agent; and

receipt by the Agent of a certificate or certificates issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg dated not earlier than the
Exchange Date and in substantially the form set out in Schedule 3 (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg Certification) hereto.

The principal amount of the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates
issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and received by the Agent; provided, however, that in no circumstances shall the
principal amount of the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of this Temporary Global Note.

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

WRITING DOWN
On each occasion on which:

(a) the Permanent Global Note is delivered or the principal amount thereof is increased in accordance with its terms in exchange for a
further portion of this Temporary Global Note; or

(b) Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note are to be cancelled in accordance with Condition 5 (Redemption and Purchase),

the Issuer shall procure that (i) the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note, the principal amount of such increase or (as the case
may be) the aggregate principal amount of such Subordinated Notes and (ii) the remaining principal amount of this Temporary Global
Note (which shall be the previous principal amount hereof less the aggregate of the amounts referred to in (i) above) are recorded in
Schedule 1 (Payments and Cancellation of Notes) hereto, whereupon the principal amount of this Temporary Global Note shall for all
purposes be as most recently so recorded.

PAYMENTS

The bearer of this Temporary Global Note shall not (unless, upon due presentation of this Temporary Global Note for exchange (in
whole but not in part only) for a Permanent Global Note, such exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such
withholding or refusal is continuing at the relevant payment date) be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the Subordinated
Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note which falls due on or after the Exchange Date or be entitled to exercise any option on
a date after the Exchange Date.

CONDITIONS APPLY

Until this Temporary Global Note has been exchanged as provided herein or cancelled in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement,
the bearer of this Temporary Global Note shall be subject to the Conditions and, subject as otherwise provided herein, shall be entitled to
the same rights and benefits under the Conditions as if the bearer were the holder of Notes in definitive form in substantially the form set
out in the Third Schedule (Form of Definitive Note) to the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the related principal receipts, interest coupons

and talons for further interest coupons in the denomination of Sterling 50,000 and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal

amount of this Temporary Global Note.

NOTICES

Notwithstanding Condition 15 (Notices), while all the Subordinated Notes are represented by this Temporary Global Note (or by this
Temporary Global Note and the Permanent Global Note) and this Temporary Global Note is (or this Temporary Global Note and the
Permanent Global Note are) deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders
may be given by
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10.

11.

delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been
given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg;
provided, however, that, so long as the Subordinated Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and its rules so require,
notices will also be published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the

Luxemburger Wort).

AUTHENTICATION

This Temporary Global Note shall not be valid for any purpose until it has been authenticated for and on behalf of Kredietbank S.A.
Luxembourgeoise as Agent.

GOVERNING LAW

This Temporary Global Note is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the law of England and Wales.
AS WITNESS the [manual/facsimile] signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By:
[manual or facsimile signature]
(duly authorised)

ISSUED on [issue date]

AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE
as Fiscal Agent

without recourse, warranty or liability

By:
[manual signature]
(duly authorised)
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delivery or
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SCHEDULE 1

TO FORM OF TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTES

PAYMENTS, EXCHANGE AND CANCELLATION OF

[SENIOR/SUBORDINATED] NOTES

Principal amount
of Permanent
Global Note then

delivered or by

Amount of which Permanent
interest then Global Note then
paid increased
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Aggregate
principal

amount of

Notes then
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SCHEDULE 2
TO FORM OF TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTES

FORM OF ACCOUNTHOLDER'S CERTIFICATION

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)

Sterling 100,000,000/150,000,000

[Floating Rate/5.375 per cent.] [Senior/Subordinated] Notes due [2010/2015] the ""Notes"

This is to certify that as of the date hereof, and except as set forth below, the above-captioned Notes held by you for our account (a) are
owned by persons that are not citizens or residents of the United States, domestic partnerships, domestic corporations or any estate or
trust the income of which is subject to United States Federal income taxation regardless of its source (""United States persons"), (b) are
owned by United States person(s) that (i) are foreign branches of a United States financial institution (as defined in U.S. Treasury
Regulations Section 1.165-12(c)(1)(iv)) ("'financial institutions') purchasing for their own account or for resale, or (ii) acquired the
Notes through foreign branches of United States financial institutions and who hold the Securities through such United States financial
institutions on the date hereof (and in either case (i) or (ii), each such United States financial institution hereby agrees, on its own behalf
or through its agent, that you may advise the issuer or the issuer's agent that it will comply with the requirements of Section
165(G)(3)(A), (B) or (C) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder), or (c) are owned by United
States or foreign financial institution(s) for purposes of resale during the restricted period (as defined in U.S. Treasury Regulations
Section 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(7)), and in addition if the owner of the Securities is a United States or foreign financial institution described
in clause (c) (whether or not also described in clause (a) or (b)) this is to further certify that such financial institution has not acquired the
Notes for purposes of resale directly or indirectly to a United States person or to a person within the United States or its possessions.

As used herein, "United States' means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia); and its
"possessions'' include Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, Guam, American Samoa, Wake Island and the Northern Mariana Islands.

We undertake to advise you promptly by tested telex on or prior to the date on which you intend to submit your certification relating to
the Notes held by you for our account in accordance with your operating procedures if any applicable statement herein is not correct on

such date, and in the absence of any such notification it may be assumed that this certification applies as of such date.

This certification excepts and does not relate to £[amount] of such interest in the above Notes in respect of which we are not able to
certify and as to which we understand exchange and delivery of definitive Notes (or, if relevant, exercise of any rights or collection of
any interest) cannot be made until we do so certify.

10
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We understand that this certification is required in connection with certain tax laws and, if applicable, certain securities laws of the
United States. In connection therewith, if administrative or legal proceedings are commenced or threatened in connection with which
this certification is or would be relevant, we irrevocably authorise you to produce this certification to any interested party in such
proceedings.

Dated: [ ]

[name of account holder]

as, or as agent for,

the beneficial owner(s) of the Securities
to which this certificate relates.

By:

Authorised signatory

11
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SCHEDULE 3
TO THE FORM OF TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTES

FORM OF EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM, LUXEMBOURG
CERTIFICATION

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)
Sterling [100,000,000/150,000,000]
[Floating Rate/ 5.375 per cent.] [Senior/Subordinated] Notes due [2010/2015] (the "Notes")

This is to certify that, based solely on certifications we have received in writing, by tested telex or by electronic transmission from
member organisations appearing in our records as persons being entitled to a portion of the principal amount set forth below (our
"Member Organisations') substantially to the effect set forth in the temporary global note issued in respect of the securities, as of the
date hereof, [currency] [amount] principal amount of the above-captioned Notes (a) is owned by persons that are not citizens or residents
of the United States, domestic partnerships, domestic corporations or any estate or trust the income of which is subject to United States
Federal income taxation regardless of its source (" United States persons'), (b) is owned by United States persons that (i) are foreign
branches of United States financial institutions (as defined in U.S. Treasury Regulations Section 1.165-12(c)(1)(iv)) (" financial
institutions') purchasing for their own account or for resale, or (ii) acquired the Notes through foreign branches of United States
financial institutions and who hold the Notes through such United States financial institutions on the date hereof (and in either case (i) or
(i), each such United States financial institution has agreed, on its own behalf or through its agent, that we may advise the Issuer or the
Issuer's agent that it will comply with the requirements of Section 165()(3)(A), (B) or (C) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the regulations thereunder), or (c) is owned by United States or foreign financial institutions for purposes of resale during
the restricted period (as defined in U.S. Treasury Regulations Section 1.163-5(c)(2)(1)(D)(7)), and to the further effect that United States
or foreign financial institutions described in clause (¢) (whether or not also described in clause (a) or (b)) have certified that they have
not acquired the Notes for purposes of resale directly or indirectly to a United States person or to a person within the United States or its

possessions.

We further certify (1) that we are not making available herewith for exchange (or, if relevant, exercise of any rights or collection of any
interest) any portion of the temporary global security excepted in such certifications and (2) that as of the date hereof we have not
received any notification from any of our Member Organisations to the effect that the statements made by such Member Organisations
with respect to any portion of the part submitted herewith for exchange (or, if relevant, exercise of any rights or collection of any
interest) are no longer true and cannot be relied upon as of the date hereof.
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We understand that this certification is required in connection with certain tax laws and, if applicable, certain securities laws of the
United States. In connection therewith, if administrative or legal proceedings are commenced or threatened in connection with which
this certification is or would be relevant, we irrevocably authorise you to produce this certification to any interested party in such
proceedings.

Dated: [ ]

Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.
as operator of the Euroclear System

or
Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg

By:
Authorised signatory
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SCHEDULE 4
TO THE TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTES
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE [SENIOR/SUBORDINATED] NOTES
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SCHEDULE 2

Part 1
Form of Permanent Global Note for the Senior Notes

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED
STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)

Sterling 100,000,000

Floating Rate Notes due 2010

PERMANENT GLOBAL NOTE

1. INTRODUCTION

This Global Note is issued in respect of the Sterling 100,000,000 floating rate notes due 2010 (the "Notes') of The Northern Trust
Company (the "Issuer"). The Notes have the benefit of a deed of covenant dated March 11, 2005 (as amended or supplemented from
time to time, the ""Deed of Covenant") entered into by the Issuer and are the subject of a fiscal agency agreement dated March 11, 2005
(as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Fiscal Agency Agreement') and made between the Issuer, Kredietbank S.A.
Luxembourgeoise as Fiscal Agent (the ""Agent", which expression includes any successor Agent appointed from time to time in
connection with the Notes) and the paying agent named therein (together with the Agent, the ""Paying Agents', which expression
includes any successor or additional paying agents in their capacity as such and any substitute or any additional paying agents appointed
from time to time in connection with the Notes).

2. REFERENCES TO CONDITIONS

The Notes are subject to, and have the benefit of, the terms and conditions (the "Conditions') set out in Schedule 2 Part 1 (Terms and
Conditions of the Notes) hereto and any reference to a numbered " Condition" is to the correspondingly numbered provision thereof.
Words and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meanings when used in this Global Note.

3.  PROMISE TO PAY

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer of this Global Note the principal sum of
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£100,000,000
(ONE HUNDRED MILLION STERLING)

on March 11, 2010 or on such earlier date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the Conditions, and to pay
interest on such principal sum in arrear on the dates and at the rate specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts
payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

NEGOTIABILITY

This Global Note is negotiable and, accordingly, title to this Global Note shall pass by delivery.

EXCHANGE

This Global Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the bearer of this Global Note, for Notes
in definitive form ("' Definitive Notes") in substantially the form set out in the Third Schedule (Form of Definitive Note) to the Fiscal
Agency Agreement if either of the following events occurs:

(a) Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (" Euroclear') or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme,
Luxembourg (" Clearstream, Luxembourg") is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of

public holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or

(b) any of the circumstances described in Condition 8 (Events of Default) occurs.

DELIVERY OF DEFINITIVE NOTES

Whenever this Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery of such Definitive
Notes, with duly authenticated interest coupons (" Coupons') attached, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount
of this Global Note to the bearer of this Global Note against the surrender of this Global Note at the Specified Office (as defined in the
Conditions) of the Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

FAILURE TO DELIVER DEFINITIVE NOTES OR TO REPAY
If:

(a) Definitive Notes have not been delivered in accordance with paragraph 6 (Delivery of Definitive Notes) above by 6.00 p.m.
(London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of this Global Note for Definitive Notes; or

(b) this Global Note (or any part hereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Conditions or the date for final
redemption of this Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all
accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of this Global Note on the due date for
payment,
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10.

then this Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 6.00 p.m. (London time) on such
thirtieth day (in the case of (a) or at 6.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) and the bearer of this Global Note will
have no further rights hereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of this Global Note or others may have under the
Deed of Covenant). The Deed of Covenant has been deposited at the Specified Office of the Agent and a copy of it may be inspected at
the Specified Office of each Paying Agent.

WRITING DOWN

On each occasion on which:

(a) apayment of principal is made in respect of this Global Note;

(b) Definitive Notes are delivered; or

(¢) Notes represented by this Global Note are to be cancelled in accordance with Condition 5 (Redemption and Purchase),

the Issuer shall procure that (i) the amount of such payment and the aggregate principal amount of such Notes and (ii) the remaining
principal amount of this Global Note (which shall be the previous principal amount hereof less the aggregate of the amounts referred to
in (i) above) are recorded in Schedule 1 (Payments, Delivery of Definitive Notes and Cancellation of Notes) hereto, whereupon the
principal amount of this Global Note shall for all purposes be as most recently so recorded.

WRITING UP

If this Global Note was originally issued in exchange for part only of a temporary global note representing the Notes, then, if at any time
any further portion of such temporary global note is exchanged for an interest in this Global Note, the principal amount of this Global
Note shall be increased by the amount of such further portion, and the Issuer shall procure that the principal amount of this Global Note
(which shall be the previous principal amount hereof plus the amount of such further portion) is recorded in Schedule 1 hereto,
whereupon the principal amount of this Global Note shall for all purposes be as most recently so recorded.

PAYMENTS

All payments in respect of this Global Note shall be made against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal in full with all
interest accrued thereon) surrender of this Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent and shall be effective to satisfy and
discharge the corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of the Notes. On each occasion on which a payment of interest is made in
respect of this Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that the same is recorded in Schedule 1 (Payments, Delivery of Definitive Notes and
Cancellation of Notes) hereto.
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11.

12.

13.

14.

CONDITIONS APPLY

Until this Global Note has been exchanged as provided herein or cancelled in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the bearer
of this Global Note shall be subject to the Conditions and, subject as otherwise provided herein, shall be entitled to the same rights and
benefits under the Conditions as if it were the holder of Definitive Notes and the related Coupons in the denomination of Sterling 50,000
and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of this Global Note.

NOTICES

Notwithstanding Condition 15 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by this Global Note (or by this Global Note and a temporary
global note) and this Global Note is (or this Global Note and a temporary global note are) deposited with a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 15 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; provided, however, that, so long as the Notes
are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and its rules so require, notices will also be published in a leading newspaper having

general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort).

AUTHENTICATION

This Global Note shall not be valid for any purpose until it has been authenticated for and on behalf of Kredietbank S.A.
Luxembourgeoise, as Agent.

GOVERNING LAW
This Global Note is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.
AS WITNESS the [manual/facsimile] signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By:

[manual or facsimile signature]
(duly authorised)

ISSUED as of [issue date]

AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE,
N.A.

as Fiscal Agent

without recourse, warranty or liability

By:

[manual signature]
(duly authorised)
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SCHEDULE 2

Part 2
Form of Permanent Global Notes for the Subordinated Notes

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED
STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)

Sterling 150,000,000

5.375 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2015

PERMANENT GLOBAL NOTE

1. INTRODUCTION

This Global Note is issued in respect of the Sterling 150,000,000 5.375 per cent. subordinated notes due 2015 (the "Subordinated
Notes') of The Northern Trust Company (the "Issuer'). The Subordinated Notes have the benefit of a deed of covenant dated March
11, 2005 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the ""Deed of Covenant') entered into by the Issuer and are the subject of a
fiscal agency agreement dated March 11, 2005 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Fiscal Agency Agreement") and
made between the Issuer, Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise as Fiscal Agent (the "Agent", which expression includes any successor
Agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Subordinated Notes) and the paying agent named therein (together with the
Agent, the ""Paying Agents"', which expression includes any successor or additional paying agents in their capacity as such and any
substitute or any additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Subordinated Notes).

2. REFERENCES TO CONDITIONS

The Subordinated Notes are subject to, and have the benefit of, the terms and conditions (the "Conditions") set out in Schedule 2 Part 2
(Terms and Conditions of the Notes) hereto and any reference to a numbered "Condition" is to the correspondingly numbered provision

thereof. Words and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meanings when used in this Global Note.

3.  PROMISE TO PAY

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer of this Global Note the principal sum of
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£150,000,000
(ONE HUNDRED AND FIFTY MILLION STERLING)

on March 11, 2015 or on such earlier date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the Conditions, and to pay
interest on such principal sum in arrear on the dates and at the rate specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts
payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

NEGOTIABILITY

This Global Note is negotiable and, accordingly, title to this Global Note shall pass by delivery.

EXCHANGE

This Global Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the bearer of this Global Note, for
Subordinated Notes in definitive form (''Definitive Notes') in substantially the form set out in the Third Schedule (Form of Definitive
Note) to the Fiscal Agency Agreement if either of the following events occurs:

(a) Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (" Euroclear') or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme,
Luxembourg (" Clearstream, Luxembourg") is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of

public holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business and in fact does so; or

(b) any of the circumstances described in Condition 8 (Events of Default) occurs.

DELIVERY OF DEFINITIVE NOTES

Whenever this Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery of such Definitive
Notes, with duly authenticated interest coupons (" Coupons') attached, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount
of this Global Note to the bearer of this Global Note against the surrender of this Global Note at the Specified Office (as defined in the
Conditions) of the Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

FAILURE TO DELIVER DEFINITIVE NOTES OR TO REPAY
If:

(a) Definitive Notes have not been delivered in accordance with paragraph 6 (Delivery of Definitive Notes) above by 6.00 p.m.
(London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of this Global Note for Definitive Notes; or

(b) this Global Note (or any part hereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Conditions or the date for final
redemption of this Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all
accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of this Global Note on the due date for
payment,
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10.

then this Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 6.00 p.m. (London time) on such
thirtieth day (in the case of (a) or at 6.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) and the bearer of this Global Note will
have no further rights hereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of this Global Note or others may have under the
Deed of Covenant). The Deed of Covenant has been deposited at the Specified Office of the Agent and a copy of it may be inspected at
the Specified Office of each Paying Agent.

WRITING DOWN

On each occasion on which:

(a) apayment of principal is made in respect of this Global Note;

(b) Definitive Notes are delivered; or

(¢) Notes represented by this Global Note are to be cancelled in accordance with Condition 5 (Redemption and Purchase),

the Issuer shall procure that (i) the amount of such payment and the aggregate principal amount of such Subordinated Notes and (ii) the
remaining principal amount of this Global Note (which shall be the previous principal amount hereof less the aggregate of the amounts
referred to in (i) above) are recorded in Schedule 1 (Payments, Delivery of Definitive Notes and Cancellation of Notes) hereto,
whereupon the principal amount of this Global Note shall for all purposes be as most recently so recorded.

WRITING UP

If this Global Note was originally issued in exchange for part only of a temporary global note representing the Subordinated Notes, then,
if at any time any further portion of such temporary global note is exchanged for an interest in this Global Note, the principal amount of
this Global Note shall be increased by the amount of such further portion, and the Issuer shall procure that the principal amount of this
Global Note (which shall be the previous principal amount hereof plus the amount of such further portion) is recorded in Schedule 1

hereto, whereupon the principal amount of this Global Note shall for all purposes be as most recently so recorded.

PAYMENTS

All payments in respect of this Global Note shall be made against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal in full with all
interest accrued thereon) surrender of this Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent and shall be effective to satisfy and
discharge the corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of the Subordinated Notes. On each occasion on which a payment of
interest is made in respect of this Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that the same is recorded in Schedule 1 (Payments, Delivery of
Definitive Notes and Cancellation of Notes) hereto.
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11.

12.

13.

14.

CONDITIONS APPLY

Until this Global Note has been exchanged as provided herein or cancelled in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the bearer
of this Global Note shall be subject to the Conditions and, subject as otherwise provided herein, shall be entitled to the same rights and
benefits under the Conditions as if it were the holder of Definitive Notes and the related Coupons in the denomination of Sterling 50,000
and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of this Global Note.

NOTICES

Notwithstanding Condition 15 (Notices), while all the Subordinated Notes are represented by this Global Note (or by this Global Note
and a temporary global note) and this Global Note is (or this Global Note and a temporary global note are) deposited with a common
depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in
accordance with the Condition 15 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; provided, however, that,
so long as the Subordinated Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and its rules so require, notices will also be published

in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort).

AUTHENTICATION

This Global Note shall not be valid for any purpose until it has been authenticated for and on behalf of Kredietbank S.A.
Luxembourgeoise, as Agent.

GOVERNING LAW

This Global Note is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.
AS WITNESS the manual or facsimile signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By:

[manual or facsimile signature]
(duly authorised)

ISSUED as of [issue date]

AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE,
N.A.

as Fiscal Agent

without recourse, warranty or liability

By:
[manual signature]
(duly authorised)
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Date of
payment,
exchange,

delivery or

cancellation

PAYMENTS, EXCHANGES AGAINST TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTE,
DELIVERY OF DEFINITIVE NOTES AND CANCELLATION OF
[SENIOR/SUBORDINATED] NOTES

SCHEDULE 1
TO THE FORM OF PERMANENT GLOBAL NOTES

Aggregate

Amount Principal principal

of amount of amount of
interest Temporary Definitive

then Global Note Notes then
paid then exchanged delivered
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SCHEDULE 2
TO THE FORM OF PERMANENT GLOBAL NOTES
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE [SENIOR/SUBORDINATED] NOTES
[TO BE INSERTED ONCE FINALISED]
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SCHEDULE 3

Part 1
Form of Definitive Notes And Coupons for the Senior Notes

ISIN: XS0214307901

Denomination: £50,000

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)
Sterling 100,000,000
Floating Rate Notes due 2010

This Note is one of a series of notes (the ""Notes') in the denomination of Sterling 50,000 and in the aggregate principal amount of
Sterling 100,000,000 issued by The Northern Trust Company (the "Issuer').

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer the principal sum of

Sterling 50,000
(FIFTY THOUSAND)

on March 11, 2010, or on such earlier date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the conditions endorsed hereon
(the "Conditions'), and to pay interest on such principal sum in arrear on the dates and at the rate specified in the Conditions, together
with any additional amounts payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

Interest is payable on the above principal sum at an interest rate per annum equal to the London Inter Bank offered rate for three month
Sterling deposits as determined by Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise as Agent plus a margin of 0.10 per cent., payable quarterly in
arrear on March 11, June 11, September 11 and December 11 each year except that the final payment of interest will be payable on
March 11, 2010, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

This Note and the interest coupons relating hereto shall not be valid for any purpose until this Note has been authenticated for and on
behalf of Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise as Fiscal Agent.

AS WITNESS the facsimile signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.
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THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By:
[facsimile signature]
(duly authorised)

ISSUED as of [issue date]

AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE

as Agent
without recourse, warranty or liability
By:

[manual signature]
(duly authorised)
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[On the reverse of the Note:]

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

[At the foot of the Terms and Conditions:]

AGENT

Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise
43 Boulevard Royal
L 2955 Luxembourg

PAYING AGENTS

Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise
43 Boulevard Royal
L 2955 Luxembourg

Brown Shipley & Co. Limited
Founders Court, Lothbury
London EC2R 7HE

United Kingdom
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SCHEDULE 3

Part 2
Form of Definitive Notes and Coupons for the Subordinated Notes

ISIN: XS0214307737

Denomination: £50,000

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

(a banking corporation organised under the laws of the State of Illinois)

Sterling 150,000,000

5.375 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2015

This Note is one of a series of notes (the ""Subordinated Notes') in the denomination of Sterling 50,000 and in the aggregate principal
amount of Sterling 150,000,000 issued by The Northern Trust Company (the "Issuer).

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer the principal sum of

Sterling 50,000
(FIFTY THOUSAND STERLING)

on 11 March, 2015, or on such earlier date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the conditions endorsed hereon
(the "Conditions'), and to pay interest on such principal sum in arrear on the dates and at the rate specified in the Conditions, together
with any additional amounts payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

Interest is payable on the above principal sum at the rate of 5.375 per cent. per annum, payable annually in arrear on March 11,

commencing on March 11, 2006, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

This Subordinated Note and the interest coupons relating hereto shall not be valid for any purpose until this Note has been authenticated
for and on behalf of Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise as Fiscal Agent.

AS WITNESS the facsimile signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.

28

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By:
[facsimile signature]
(duly authorised)

ISSUED as of [issue date]

AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A. LUXEMBOURGEOISE

as agent
without recourse, warranty or liability
By:

[manual signature]
(duly authorised)
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[On the reverse of the Note:]

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

[At the foot of the Terms and Conditions:]

AGENT

Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise
43 Boulevard Royal
L 2955 Luxembourg

PAYING AGENTS

Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise
43 Boulevard Royal
L 2955 Luxembourg

Brown Shipley & Co. Limited
Founders Court, Lothbury
London EC2R 7HE

United Kingdom
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Form of Coupon for the Senior Notes
[On the face of the Coupon:]

Denomination:  £50,000
ISIN: XS0214307901
Common Code: 021430790

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2010

Coupon for Sterling [amount of interest payment] due on [interest payment date].

Such amount is payable, subject to the terms and conditions (the "Conditions') endorsed on the Note to which this Coupon relates
(which are binding on the holder of this Coupon whether or not it is for the time being attached to such Note), against presentation and
surrender of this Coupon at the specified office for the time being of any of the agents shown on the reverse of this Coupon (or any

successor or additional agents appointed from time to time in accordance with the Conditions).

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

[On the reverse of the Coupon:]

Agent and Paying Agents: Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise, 43 Boulevard Royal, L 2955 Luxembourg and Brown Shipley & Co.
Limited, Founders Court, Lothbury, London EC2R 7HE, United Kingdom
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Form of Coupon for the Subordinated Notes
[On the face of the Coupon:]

Denomination:  £50,000
ISIN: XS0214307737
Common Code: 021430773

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
5.375 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2015

Coupon for Sterling [amount of interest payment] due on [interest payment date].

Such amount is payable, subject to the terms and conditions (the "Conditions') endorsed on the Subordinated Note to which this
Coupon relates (which are binding on the holder of this Coupon whether or not it is for the time being attached to such Subordinated
Note), against presentation and surrender of this Coupon at the specified office for the time being of any of the agents shown on the

reverse of this Coupon (or any successor or additional agents appointed from time to time in accordance with the Conditions).

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

[On the reverse of the Coupon:]

Agent and Paying Agent: Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise, 43 Boulevard Royal, L 2955 Luxembourg and Brown Shipley & Co.
Limited, Founders Court, Lothbury, London EC2R 7HE, United Kingdom
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SCHEDULE 4

Part 1
Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes

The following (subject to amendment) are the terms and conditions of the Notes which will be endorsed on any Definitive Notes, if issued, and

will be attached and (subject to the provisions thereof) apply to each Global Note.

The £100,000,000 floating rate notes due 2010 (the "Notes", which expression shall include any further notes issued pursuant to Condition 14
(Further Issues) and forming a single series herewith) of The Northern Trust Company (the "Issuer") are the subject of a fiscal agency
agreement (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Agency Agreement'"), dated March 11, 2005, between the Issuer and
Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise, as Fiscal Agent (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor fiscal agent appointed from
time to time in connection with the Notes) and the paying agents named therein (the ""Paying Agents', which expression shall include any
successor or additional paying agents in their capacity as such and any substitute or any additional paying agents appointed from time to time
in connection with the Notes and so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange shall include a Paying Agent whose
Specified Office (as defined in the Agency Agreement) is in Luxembourg). The issue of the Notes was authorised by a resolution of the board
of directors of the Issuer on February 15, 2005. Copies of the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at
the principal office of the Agent (presently at 43 Boulevard Royal, L-2955 Luxembourg) and at the Specified Offices of the Paying Agents.

Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement and are subject to its detailed provisions. The holders of the
Notes (the ""Noteholders') are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of Covenant (the "Deed of Covenant') dated March 11, 2005, and made by
the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the
Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme Luxembourg (" Clearstream, Luxembourg'). The Noteholders
are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes will be serially numbered and will be in bearer form issued in denominations of £50,000 (the "Specified Denomination"). The
Notes will initially be represented by a temporary global note (the "Temporary Global Note') without coupons attached, in the aggregate
principal amount on issue of £100,000,000. Beneficial interests in the Temporary Global Note will, subject to Condition 2 (Exchanges of
Notes), be exchangeable for a permanent global note (the '""Permanent Global Note') without coupons attached or, in certain limited
circumstances, definitive notes (the ""Definitive Notes") with coupons attached.

Title to the Notes will pass by delivery. Interests in Notes represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules
and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as appropriate. The holder of any Global Note, Definitive Note
or coupon may (except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise required by law) be treated at all times by all persons and

for all purposes as the
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absolute owner of that Global Note, Definitive Note or coupon (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or
other interest therein, any writing thereon or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof and no person shall be liable for so treating such
holder).

2. Exchanges of Notes
(A) Exchange of Temporary Global Note

The Temporary Global Note will be deposited on issue with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Beneficial interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchanged for beneficial interests in the Permanent Global Note. Exchanges of
beneficial interests in the Temporary Global Note for a Permanent Global Note will be made only on or after the 40™ day after the Notes have
been issued (the ""Exchange Date") and upon receipt of the written certification required under U.S. Treasury Regulations section 1.163 -
5(c)(2)(1)(D) (in substantially the form set out in the Temporary Global Note or in such other form as is customarily used in such
circumstances by the relevant clearing system) as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (a "Certificate of Non-U.S. Beneficial Ownership").

(B) Payments with Respect to Temporary Global Notes

The bearer of the Temporary Global Note shall not (unless, upon due presentation of the Temporary Global Note for exchange (in whole but
not in part only) for a Permanent Global Note, such exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such withholding or refusal is
continuing at the relevant payment date) be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the Notes represented by the Temporary Global Note
which falls due on or after the Exchange Date or be entitled to exercise any option on a date after the Exchange Date.

(C) Clearing Systems

Subject to Condition 2(B) above, if any date on which a payment of interest is due on the Notes occurs while any of the Notes are represented
by the Temporary Global Note, the related interest payment will be made on the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification as
to the non-U.S. beneficial ownership thereof as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations (in substantially the form set out in the Temporary
Global Note or in such other form as is customarily issued in such circumstances by the relevant clearing system) as set forth in Condition
2(A) has been received by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system.

(D) Exchange of Permanent Global Notes

Interests in the Permanent Global Note will be exchanged by the Issuer in whole but not in part only at the option of the Noteholder of the
Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes, (i) if an Event of Default occurs in respect of any Note; or (ii) if either Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of public
holidays) or announces an intention to cease business permanently or in fact does so, in all cases at the cost and expense of the Issuer. If the
Issuer does not make the required delivery of the Definitive Notes by 6:00 p.m. (London time) on the day on which the relevant notice period
expires or, as the
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case may be, the 30th day after the day on which the Permanent Global Note becomes due to be exchanged and, in the case of (i) above, such
Note is not duly redeemed (or the funds required for such redemption are not available to the Agent for the purposes of effecting such
redemption and remain unavailable for such purpose) by 6:00 p.m. (London time) on the 30th day after the day at which such Note became
immediately redeemable, then each Noteholder or its successors or assigns may, without the consent and to the exclusion of the bearer thereof,
file any claim, take any action or institute any proceeding to enforce, directly against the Issuer, the obligation of the Issuer to pay any amount
due in respect of each Note represented by the Permanent Global Note which is credited to such Noteholders' securities account with a
clearing agent as fully as though such Note were evidenced by a Definitive Note without the production of a Permanent Global Note, provided
that the bearer thereof shall not theretofore have filed a claim, taken action or instituted proceedings to enforce the same in respect of such

instrument.

3. Status of the Notes

The Notes will be direct, unconditional and unsecured general obligations of the Issuer. The Notes do not evidence deposits of the Issuer and
are not insured by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC") or any other U.S. government agency.

The obligations evidenced by the Notes rank pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank pari
passu without preference among themselves, except obligations that are subject to any priorities or preferences, including deposit obligations
of the Issuer. In an insolvency or other resolution of the Issuer, the Notes could be treated differently from, and holders of the Notes could
receive, if anything, significantly less than holders of deposit obligations of the Issuer.

The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes relating to them shall at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and
future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations, except liabilities in respect of deposits and certain other creditors which will rank senior to
payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes relating to them.

The Notes are obligations of the Issuer only. The Notes are not guaranteed by nor are they obligations of the Holding Company.

4. Interest
(A) Interest Payment Dates

The Notes will bear interest on the outstanding principal amount of the Notes from (and including) March 11, 2005 (the "Issue Date'") to (but
excluding) March 11, 2010 at an interest rate per annum (the "Rate of Interest') equal to the London Inter Bank offered rate for three-month
Pound Sterling deposits as determined by the Agent, plus a margin of 0.10 per cent. (the "Margin"'), payable quarterly in arrear on March 11,
June 11, September 11 and December 11 in each year (each an "Interest Payment Date'), (commencing on June 11, 2005) subject as
provided below.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which expression shall in these Conditions mean the period from (and
including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Issue Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date (or date fixed for

redemption), each an "Interest Period").
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If any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day (as defined below), such date shall be postponed to the
next day that is a Business Day, unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (i) such date shall be brought
forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; and (ii) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which
such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment.

In this Condition 4(A), "Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) which is a day on which commercial banks and
foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business in London.

(B) Rate of Interest

On the first day of each Interest Period (the "Interest Determination Date"), the Agent will determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant
Interest Period. The Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

(i) the offered quotation; or
(i) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate (as defined below) which appears or appear, as the case may be, on
Moneyline Telerate, 3750 (the "Relevant Screen Page') as at 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus
the Margin, all as determined by the Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest
(or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest
quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as
provided above) of such offered quotations.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or, if in the case of (i) above, no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of (ii) above, fewer
than three such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the time specified in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant
Interest Period shall be determined as provided in the preceding paragraph by reference to such other page (the "Alternative Screen Page')
on such other information vendor service as is then displaying in the case of (i) above, information comparable to that appearing on the
Relevant Screen Page when such quotation last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page and, in the case of (ii) above, information comparable

to that appearing on the Relevant Screen Page when no fewer than three such offered quotations appeared.

If no Alternative Screen Page is available or, if in the case of (i) above, no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of (ii) above, fewer
than three such offered quotations appear, in each case at the time specified in the preceding paragraph, the Agent shall request the principal
London office of each of the Reference Banks (as defined below) to provide the Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage
rate per annum) for the Reference Rate at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or
more of the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the
arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations, plus the
Margin, all as determined by the Agent.
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If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Agent with such offered quotations as provided in
the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Agent determines as being
the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicated to
(and at the request of) the Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at approximately
11:00 a.m. (London time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, for deposits in Pounds Sterling for a period equal to that which would
have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in the London Inter Bank market as at 11:00 a.m. (London time), plus the Margin or,
if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in Pounds Sterling for a
period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered
rates for deposits in Pounds Sterling for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, at approximately
11:00 a.m. (London time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of
the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the London Inter Bank market as at 11:00 a.m.
(London time), plus the Margin, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this
paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date.

In this Condition 4(B), "Reference Banks' means, in the case of (i) above, those banks whose offered rates were used to determine such
quotation when such quotation last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page and, in the case of (ii) above, those banks whose offered quotations
last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page when no fewer than three such offered quotations appeared. "Reference Rate' means the rate of
interest equal to the London Inter Bank offered rate for three-month Pound Sterling deposits.

(C) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts

The Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the ""Interest Amount') payable on the Notes in respect of each Specified Denomination for
the relevant Interest Period. Each Interest Amount shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to each Specified Denomination,
multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction (as defined below) and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest pence, half of
any such pence being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

"Day Count Fraction' means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest for any Interest Period, the actual number of days in that
Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Interest Payment Date falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days in
that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period
falling in a non-leap year divided by 365).

(D) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be
notified to the Issuer and the Luxembourg Stock
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Exchange or any other stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in accordance with
Condition 15 as soon as possible after their determination, but in no event later than the fourth London Business Day (as defined below)
thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative
arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such
amendment will be promptly notified to the Issuer, the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange on which the Notes are for
the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

In this Condition 4(D), "London Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign
exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business in London.

(E) Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the
purposes of the provisions of this Condition 4, shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the
Agent, the Paying Agents and all Noteholders and (in the absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer and the Noteholders shall attach to the
Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

(F) Accrual of Interest

Each Note will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is
improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to bear interest at such rate (as well after or before judgment) until the
day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder.

5. Redemption and Purchase
(4) Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Notes shall be redeemed by the Issuer at an amount equal to 100 per cent. of their
principal amount (the "Redemption Amount') on March 11, 2010, subject as provided in Condition 6 (Payments).

(B) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

(i) The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60
days' notice to the Noteholders (which shall be irrevocable) at their early redemption amount (the "Early Redemption Amount'), which
shall be equal to 100 per cent. of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes, together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption
and Additional Amounts (as defined under Condition 7 (Taxation)), if any, if the Issuer determines that (A) as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, the laws affecting taxation (or any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder) of the United States or any political
subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, or any change in the official application or interpretation of such laws, regulations or
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rulings which change or amendment becomes effective after the Issue Date, it has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts on the
Notes, or (B) any action (including any of those specified in (A) above) has been taken by any taxing authority of, or any action has been
brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in, the United States, whether or not such action was taken or brought with respect to the Issuer, or
any change, amendment, application or interpretation shall be officially proposed on or after the Issue Date, which, in any such case, in the
written opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing, results in a substantial probability that the Issuer will be required to pay
Additional Amounts on the Notes as described under Condition 7 (Taxation), and in the case of (A) or (B) above, such obligation cannot be
avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it provided however that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than
90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes
then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent (1) a certificate
of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions
precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and (2) if applicable, the written opinion of independent legal advisers referred
to above.

(ii) To the extent Notes are issued in definitive form, if the Issuer shall determine, based upon a written opinion of independent legal advisers
of recognised standing, that any payment made outside the United States by the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents of principal or interest due
in respect of any Definitive Note or coupon would, under any present or future laws or regulations of the United States affecting taxation or
otherwise, be subject to any certification, information or other reporting requirement of U.S. law or regulation with regard to the nationality,
residence or identity of a beneficial owner of such Definitive Note or coupon who is a United States Alien (other than such a requirement (A)
which would not be applicable to a payment made by the Issuer or any one of its Paying Agents (1) directly to the beneficial owner or (2) to
any custodian, nominee or other agent of the beneficial owner, or (B) that can be satisfied by such custodian, nominee or other agent or the
holder of such Definitive Note or coupon certifying that the beneficial owner is not a United States person, provided, that, in any case referred
to in clause (A)(2) or (B), payment by the custodian, nominee or agent to the beneficial owner is not otherwise subject to any such
requirement referred to in this sentence, or (C) would not be applicable to a payment made by at least one other Paying Agent), the Issuer shall
redeem the Notes, as a whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to the Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with accrued
interest to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption. The Issuer shall make such determination as soon as practicable after it becomes
aware of an event that would give rise to such determination, and publish prompt notice (" Tax Notice'") in accordance with Condition 15
stating in the notice the effective date of such requirement and (if applicable) the date on which the redemption of the Notes shall, subject to
the penultimate sentence of this paragraph, take place, which date shall not be later than one year after the publication of the Tax Notice. Prior
to the publication of any notice of redemption of the Notes pursuant to the foregoing, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent the opinion of
independent legal advisers referred to above, together with a certificate of the Issuer setting forth a statement of the facts showing that the
conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred and evidence satisfactory to the Agent of appropriate regulatory
approval. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer shall not so redeem the Notes if (A) the appropriate regulatory approval has been revoked,
rescinded or otherwise withdrawn prior to the redemption of the Notes or (B) the Issuer shall subsequently determine, based upon the written

opinion of

39

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

independent legal advisers of recognised standing, not less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, that subsequent payments on
the Definitive Notes or coupons would not be subject to any such requirement, and in each such case the Issuer shall give prompt notice of
such subsequent determination in accordance with Condition 15 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (or such shorter
time as may be required with respect to clause (A)) and any earlier Tax Notice shall be revoked and of no further effect. The term " United
States person' means an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or
organised in or under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof or therein, an estate the income of which is subject to
United States federal income taxation regardless of its source or a trust if (i) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary
supervision over its administration, or (ii) one or more of the United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the

trust.

(ii1) Notwithstanding Condition 5(B)(ii), if and so long as all certification, information or other reporting requirements referred to in Condition
5(B)(ii) would be fully satisfied by payment of a U.S. backup withholding tax or similar charge, the Issuer may elect, in the Tax Notice, to pay
as Additional Amounts such amounts as may be necessary so that every net payment made following the effective date of such certification,
information or reporting requirements outside the United States by the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents of principal or interest on any Note
or coupon of which the beneficial owner is a United States Alien (as defined in Condition 7 (7axation)) (but without the necessity of satisfying
such certification, information or other reporting requirement), after deduction or withholding for or on account of such backup withholding
tax or similar charge (other than a tax which (A) would not be applicable in the circumstances referred to in the parenthetical phrase of the
first sentence of Condition 5(B)(ii), (B) is imposed as a result of presentation of such Note or coupon for payment more than 10 days after the
date on which such payment becomes due and payable or on which payment thereof was duly provided for, whichever occurs later, or (C) is
imposed as a result of the fact that the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents has actual knowledge that the beneficial owner of such Note or
coupon is within the category of persons described in clause (A)(i) or (D) of Condition 7), will not be less than the amount provided for in
such Note or coupon, such coupon to be then due and payable. If the Issuer elects to pay such Additional Amounts and as long as it is
obligated to pay such Additional Amounts, the Issuer will have the right, subject to the provisions of the fourth sentence of Condition 5(B)(ii),
at its sole option to redeem the Notes, as a whole, but not in part, at a redemption price equal to their Redemption Amount, together, if
appropriate, with accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption including any Additional Amounts required to be paid under this paragraph.

(iv) In the case of a redemption under the circumstances as described in Conditions 5(B)(ii) and 5(B)(iii), notice of redemption of the Notes
shall be given in accordance with Condition 15, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, all as provided
in the Agency Agreement. Notice having been given, the Notes shall (except as otherwise provided in the fourth sentence of Condition
5(B)(ii)) become due and payable on the date fixed for redemption, which date shall not be later than one year after the publication of the Tax
Notice, and (upon presentation and surrender thereof, together with all coupons, if any, maturing subsequent to the date fixed for redemption)
will be paid at the Redemption Amount at the place or places of payment and in the manner specified herein.
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(C) Purchase

The Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise at any price. Any purchase

by tender shall be made available to all Noteholders alike. The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer or such subsidiary
or affiliate, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of
calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Condition 12(A).

(D) Cancellation

All Notes so redeemed or purchased and any unmatured coupons attached to or surrendered with them will be cancelled by the Agent and may
not be re-issued or resold.

6. Payments
(A) Principal in Respect of and Interest on Notes

Payments of principal and interest will be made to the bearer against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of
Notes at the specified offices of any Paying Agent for the time being. The specified offices of the initial Paying Agents appear below.

Payments will be made in Pounds Sterling by credit or transfer to a Pounds Sterling account maintained by the payee with a bank in London,
provided, however, that an amount may not be transferred to an account at a bank located in, the United States or any of its possessions, by
any office or agency of the Issuer, the Agent or any Paying Agent.

Interest payable in respect of a beneficial interest in the Temporary Global Note on an Interest Payment Date occurring prior to the Exchange
Date will be paid only upon certification in accordance with Condition 2(A). Payments of interest due in respect of any Note shall be made
only against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of the relevant Note.

(B) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the
provisions of Condition 7 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such payments.

(C) Presentation of Definitive Notes and Coupons

(i) Except as provided below, payments of principal, if any, in respect of Definitive Notes and coupons will be made as provided in paragraph
(A) above only against surrender of such Definitive Notes and coupons, and payments of interest in respect of such Definitive Notes will be

made only against surrender of coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States.

(i1) Upon the due date for redemption of any Definitive Note, unmatured coupons relating to such Note which are not surrendered therewith
shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
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(D) Payments on Business Days

A Note or coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is a Business Day in the place of presentation. No further interest or
other payment will be made as a consequence of the day on which the relevant Note or coupon may be presented for payment under this
Condition 6(D) falling after the due date. In this Condition 6(D), ""Business Day" means, in respect of any place of presentation, any day on
which banks are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies in such place or
presentation and, in the case of payment by transfer to a Pound Sterling account referred to above, in which dealings in foreign currencies may
be carried on in London, New York City and in such place or presentation.

(E) Partial Payments

If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Note or coupon presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse

thereon a statement indicating the amount and date of such payment.

(F) Agents

The initial Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the
appointment of any Agent and appoint additional or other Agents, provided that it will at all times while any Note is outstanding maintain:

(1) an Agent,

(i) so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a Paying Agent having a specified office in Luxembourg or such other
place as may be approved by the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,

(ii1) such other agents as may be required by the rules of any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed, and

(iv) a Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to
European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other European Union Directive on the taxation of savings or any law implementing or
complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

Notice of any change in the Agents or their specified offices promptly will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

7. Taxation

All payments of principal and interest on the Notes will be made without deduction or withholding for or on account of any present or future
tax, assessment or other governmental charge, of whatever nature, imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within the United
States or by or within any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, except as required by law. The Issuer will, subject to
certain limitations and exceptions set forth below, pay to a Noteholder that is a United States Alien (as defined below) such additional
amounts (""Additional Amounts') as may be necessary so that every net payment by the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents of principal or

interest with respect to the Notes after deduction or withholding for or on account of any such present or future tax, assessment
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or other governmental charge imposed upon such Noteholder, or as a result of such payment, by or within the United States (as defined below)
(or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein), will not be less than the amount provided for in such Notes to be then due
and payable. However, the Issuer will not be required to make any payment of Additional Amounts for or on account of:

(a) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which would not have been so imposed but for (i) the existence of any present or former
connection between such holder (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such
holder, if such holder is an estate, a trust, a partnership or a corporation) and the United States, including, without limitation, such holder (or
such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder or possessor) being or having been present therein, being or having been a citizen
or resident thereof, being or having been engaged in a trade or business therein or having or having had a permanent establishment therein; (ii)
the failure of such holder to comply with any certification, identification or information reporting requirements under the income tax laws and
regulations of the United States, without regard to any tax treaty, or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein to establish
entitlement to an exemption from withholding as a United States Alien or (iii) the presentation of a Note for payment on a date more than 30
days after the Relevant Date or the date on which such payment is duly provided for, whichever occurs later;

(b) any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, or any similar tax, assessment or governmental charge;

(c) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which is payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or interest on
such Note;

(d) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed by reason of such holder's past or present status as a personal holding company,
private foundation or other tax exempt organisation, passive foreign investment company, foreign personal holding company or controlled
foreign corporation with respect to the United States or as a corporation that accumulates earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;

(e) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which is required to be withheld by any Paying Agent from payments of principal of or
interest on any Note, if such payment can be made without such withholding by at least one other Paying Agent;

(f) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed by reason of such holder's past or present status as the actual or constructive
owner of 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer entitled to vote;

(g) any withholding or deduction where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made
pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive on the taxation of savings implementing the conclusions of the
ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th-27th November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to,
such Directive; or

(h) any withholding or deduction in respect of any Note or coupon presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder or a couponholder
that would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or coupon to another Paying Agent in a
Member State of the European Union,

43

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

nor shall Additional Amounts be paid with respect to a payment of principal of or interest on any Note to a holder that is not the beneficial
owner of such Note to the extent that the beneficial owner thereof would not have been entitled to the payment of such Additional Amounts
had such beneficial owner been the holder of such Note.

As used in these Conditions, the term "United States" means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia),
its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction; the term "United States Alien" means any person who is, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, as to the United States: (i) a foreign corporation; (ii) a foreign partnership; (iii) a non-resident alien individual; or
(iv) a foreign estate or trust.

As used in these Conditions, the term "Relevant Date' in respect of any Note means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes
due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is
made or (if earlier) the date seven days after the date on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the
Note being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such
presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes,
Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it,
(ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 4 and (iii) "principal" and/
or "interest" shall be deemed to include any Additional Amounts that may be payable under this Condition.

8. Events of Default
If any of the following events ("'Events of Default') shall have occurred and be continuing:

(a) failure on the part of the Issuer to pay when due the principal of any of the Notes as and when the same shall become due and payable,

whether at maturity, upon redemption or otherwise;

(b) failure on the part of the Issuer to pay when due any instalment of interest or any Additional Amounts upon any Notes as and when the

same shall become due and payable, and such failure shall have continued for a period of 30 days;

(c) failure on the part of the Issuer duly to observe or perform in any material respect any other term, covenant or agreement on its part
contained in the Notes or the Agency Agreement for a period of 60 days after the date on which written notice of such failure requiring the
Issuer to remedy the same shall have been given to the Issuer and the Agent by the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount
of the Notes then outstanding;

(d) a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree or order for relief in respect of the Issuer in an involuntary case under any
applicable United States federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, and such decree or order shall

remain unstayed and in effect for a period of 60 consecutive days; or

(e) the Issuer shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable United States federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganisation or

other similar law now or hereafter in effect or consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law,
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then each Noteholder, at its option, may give written notice (""Default Notice') to the Issuer and the Agent declaring that any Notes held by
such Noteholder and all interest then accrued thereon (if applicable) are due and payable immediately upon the date written notice thereof is
received by the Issuer, and unless all such defaults shall have been cured by the Issuer or waived prior to receipt of such written notice, the
Notes together with interest (if any) accrued thereon shall become and be due and payable 7 days after receipt by the Issuer of such Default
Notice. However, any acceleration of a Note's maturity is subject to the FDIC's authority to prevent any such acceleration under the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act. The amount payable in respect of the Notes upon an Event of Default shall be an amount equal to 100% of their
principal amount, any Additional Amounts and all unpaid interest accrued to such date.

9. Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest shall be prescribed and become void unless presentation for payment is made as required by
Condition 6 within a period of 10 years in the case of principal and five years in the case of interest from the appropriate Relevant Date.

10. Consolidation and Merger

(A) The Issuer may consolidate with or merge into any other corporation, banking association or other legal entity or sell, convey, transfer or
lease the property of the Issuer as an entirety or substantially as an entirety if and only if: (i) any successor or purchaser is organised under the
laws of the United States of America or any state thereunder or the District of Columbia; (ii) any such successor or purchaser expressly
assumes the due and punctual payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest (including Additional Amounts) on the Notes; and
(iii) immediately after such consolidation, merger, sale or conveyance, such successor or purchaser is not in default in the performance or

observance of any of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Notes or the Agency Agreement to be observed or performed by the Issuer.

(B) Upon any merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance as provided in paragraph (A) above, the successor or purchaser shall succeed to and
be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of and be subject to all the obligations of, the Issuer under the Notes and Agency
Agreement, with the same effect as if the successor or purchaser had been named as the Issuer therein and herein and the Issuer shall be

released from its liability as obligor under the Notes and Agency Agreement.

11. Replacement of Notes

If any Note is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Agent subject to all applicable
laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in
connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require (provided
that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Notes must be surrendered before
replacements will be issued.
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12. Meetings of Noteholders and Modifications
(A) Meetings of Noteholders

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the
sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Agency Agreement insofar as it
relates to the Notes. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10% in principal amount of the Notes for the time
being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting to consider an Extraordinary Resolution other than one relating to a Reserved Matter (as
defined below) will be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of the Notes for the time being
outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons holding or representing Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes
held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (each, a "Reserved Matter") (i) to
change any date fixed for payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the amount of principal or interest payable on any
date in respect of the Notes or to alter the method of calculating the amount of any payment in respect of the Notes on redemption or maturity
or the date for any such payment; (ii) to effect the exchange or substitution of the Notes for, or the conversion of the Notes into, shares, bonds
or other obligations or securities of the Issuer or any other person or body corporate formed or to be formed; (iii) to change the currency in
which amounts due in respect of the Notes are payable; (iv) to change the quorum required at any meeting or the majority required to pass an
Extraordinary Resolution; or (v) to change or modify any of the preceding Reserved Matters, in which case the necessary quorum will be two
or more persons holding or representing not less than 75%, or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25%, in principal amount of the Notes
for the time being outstanding. An "Extraordinary Resolution" is defined in the Agency Agreement to mean a resolution passed at a
meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions by a majority of at least 75% of the votes cast. A written
resolution of holders of not less than 90% in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding shall take effect as an Extraordinary
Resolution for all purposes. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on all Noteholders (whether or not they were present

or represented at the meeting at which such resolution was passed).

(B) Modification and Waiver

The Agent may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement
which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification (except as provided in
(A) above), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement which is in
the opinion of the Agent not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be
binding on the Noteholders and, if the Agent so requires, notice of such modification shall be mailed to the Noteholders as soon as practicable.

(C) Modification of Agency Agreement

The Issuer only shall permit modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach, or proposed breach of or any failure to comply
with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.
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13. The Agent

In acting under the Agency Agreement and in connection with the Notes, the Agent is acting solely as agent of the Issuer and does not assume
any obligation towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with the owner or holder of any Note appertaining thereto, except that any
funds held by the Agent for payment of principal of or interest on, or Additional Amounts with respect to, any Note shall be held in trust by it
and applied as set forth herein, but need not be segregated from other funds held by it, except as required by law. For a description of the
duties and the immunities and rights of the Agent under the Agency Agreement, reference is made to the Agency Agreement, and the
obligations of the Agent to the holders of the Notes are subject to such immunities and rights.

14. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders create and issue further securities having the same terms and
conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) so that such further issue shall be
consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Notes. References in these Conditions to the Notes include (unless the context

requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition and forming a single series with the Notes.

Any further securities forming a single series with the then outstanding Notes issued under the Agency Agreement or any amendment to it
shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Agent), be issued pursuant to the Agency Agreement as so amended.

15. Notices

Notices to holders of Notes will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in London (which is expected to be the
Financial Times) and (so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that Exchange so require) in a
leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or, if such publication shall not
be practicable, in an English language newspaper of general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the
date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made.

Each Noteholder (which term shall include any person to whom title to any Notes has been lawfully transferred or transmitted in accordance
herewith) agrees, by its acceptance of the Notes, to be bound by the obligations expressed under these Conditions to be binding on it.

16. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

17. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

The Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales.

The Issuer irrevocably agrees for the benefit of each Noteholder that courts of England shall have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes which may arise out of or in connection
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with the Agency Agreement, the Notes and/or the coupons and that, accordingly, any suit, action or proceedings arising out of or in
connection therewith (together referred to as "Proceedings') may be brought in such courts.

The Issuer hereby irrevocably waives any objection which it may have now or hereafter to the laying of venue of any such Proceedings in any
such court and any claim that any such Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and hereby irrevocably agrees that a
judgment in any such Proceedings brought in the English courts shall be conclusive and binding upon it and may be enforced in the courts of
any other jurisdiction pursuant to any Proceedings in such other jurisdiction.

Nothing contained in this Condition 17 shall limit any right to take Proceedings against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction,
nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction, whether

concurrently or not.

The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other documents required to be served in relation to those
Proceedings may be served on it by being delivered to Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP, 11 Pilgrim Street, London EC4V 6RW, acting as
the Issuer's agent for service of process in England. If such person is not or ceases to be effectively appointed to accept service of process on
behalf of the Issuer, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a further person in England to accept service of process on its behalf and deliver to the
Agent a copy of the new agent's acceptance of such appointment within 15 days. Nothing in this Condition 17 shall affect the right of any
Agent to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. This Condition applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.
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SCHEDULE 4

Part 2
Terms and Conditions of the Subordinated Notes

The following (subject to amendment) are the terms and conditions of the Notes which will be endorsed on the Definitive Notes, if issued, and

will be attached and (subject to the provisions thereof) apply to each Global Note.

The £150,000,000 5.375 per cent. subordinated notes due 2015 (the "Subordinated Notes", which expression shall include any further notes
issued pursuant to Condition 14 (Further Issues) and forming a single series herewith) of The Northern Trust Company (the "Issuer") are the
subject of a fiscal agency agreement (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Agency Agreement"), dated March 11, 2005,
between the Issuer and Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise, as Fiscal Agent (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor fiscal
agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Subordinated Notes) and the paying agents named therein (the "Paying Agents",
which expression shall include any successor or additional paying agents in their capacity as such and any substitute or any additional paying
agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Subordinated Notes and so long as the Subordinated Notes are listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange shall include a Paying Agent whose Specified Office (as defined in the Agency Agreement) is in Luxembourg).
The issue of the Subordinated Notes was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer on February 15, 2005. Copies of the
Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the principal office of the Agent (presently at 43 Boulevard
Royal, L-2955 Luxembourg) and at the Specified Offices of the Paying Agents.

Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement and are subject to its detailed provisions. The holders of the
Subordinated Notes (the "Noteholders") are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of Covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") dated March 11, 2005,
and made by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as
operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme Luxembourg ("Clearstream, Luxembourg").
The Noteholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Subordinated Notes will be serially numbered and will be in bearer form issued in denominations of £50,000. The Subordinated Notes
will initially be represented by a temporary global note (the "Temporary Global Note") without coupons attached, in the aggregate principal
amount on issue of £150,000,000. Beneficial interests in the Temporary Global Note will, subject to Condition 2 (Exchanges of Notes), be
exchangeable for a permanent global note (the "Permanent Global Note") without coupons attached or, in certain limited circumstances,
definitive notes (the "Definitive Notes") with coupons attached.

Title to the Subordinated Notes will pass by delivery. Interests in Subordinated Notes represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in
accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as appropriate. The holder of any
Global Note, Definitive Note or coupon may (except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise required by law) be treated
at all times by all persons and
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for all purposes as the absolute owner of that Global Note, Definitive Note or coupon (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any
notice of ownership, trust or other interest therein, any writing thereon or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof and no person shall
be liable for so treating such holder).

2.  Exchanges of Notes
(A) Exchange of Temporary Global Note

The Temporary Global Note will be deposited on issue with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
Beneficial interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchanged for beneficial interests in the Permanent Global Note.

Exchanges of beneficial interests in the Temporary Global Note for a Permanent Global Note will be made only on or after the 40" day after
the Notes have been issued (the "Exchange Date") and upon receipt of the written certification required under U.S. Treasury Regulations
section 1.163 - 5(¢c)(2)(i)(D) (in substantially the form set out in the Temporary Global Note or in such other form as is customarily used in
such circumstances by the relevant clearing system) as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (a "Certificate of Non-U.S. Beneficial
Ownership").

(B) Payments with Respect to Temporary Global Notes

The bearer of the Temporary Global Note shall not (unless, upon due presentation of the Temporary Global Note for exchange (in whole but
not in part only) for a Permanent Global Note, such exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such withholding or refusal is
continuing at the relevant payment date) be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes represented by the
Temporary Global Note which falls due on or after the Exchange Date or be entitled to exercise any option on a date after the Exchange Date.

(C) Clearing Systems

Subject to Condition 2(B) above, if any date on which a payment of interest is due on the Subordinated Notes occurs while any of the
Subordinated Notes are represented by the Temporary Global Note, the related interest payment will be made on the Temporary Global Note
only to the extent that certification as to the non-U.S. beneficial ownership thereof as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations (in substantially
the form set out in the Temporary Global Note or in such other form as is customarily issued in such circumstances by the relevant clearing
system) as set forth in Condition 2(A) has been received by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system.

(D) Exchange of Permanent Global Notes

Interests in the Permanent Global Note will be exchanged by the Issuer in whole but not in part only at the option of the Noteholder of the
Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes, (i) if an Event of Default occurs in respect of any Subordinated Note; or (ii) if either Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason
of public holidays) or announces an intention to cease business permanently or in fact does so, in all cases at the cost and expense of the
Issuer. If the Issuer does not make the required delivery of the
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Definitive Notes by 6:00 p.m. (London time) on the day on which the relevant notice period expires or, as the case may be, the 30th day after
the day on which the Permanent Global Note becomes due to be exchanged and, in the case of (i) above, such Subordinated Note is not duly
redeemed (or the funds required for such redemption are not available to the Agent for the purposes of effecting such redemption and remain
unavailable for such purpose) by 6:00 p.m. (London time) on the 30th day after the day at which such Subordinated Note became immediately
redeemable, then each Noteholder or its successors or assigns may, without the consent and to the exclusion of the bearer thereof, file any
claim, take any action or institute any proceeding to enforce, directly against the Issuer, the obligation of the Issuer to pay any amount due in
respect of each Subordinated Note represented by the Permanent Global Note which is credited to such Noteholders' securities account with a
clearing agent as fully as though such Subordinated Note were evidenced by a Definitive Note without the production of a Permanent Global
Note, provided that the bearer thereof shall not theretofore have filed a claim, taken action or instituted proceedings to enforce the same in
respect of such instrument.

3. Status of the Subordinated Notes

(i) The indebtedness evidenced by the Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinate and junior in right of payment to the Issuer's
obligations to its depositors, the Issuer's obligations under bankers' acceptances and letters of credit, and the Issuer's obligations to its other
creditors (including any Federal Reserve Bank and the FDIC, except cross-guarantee liability to the FDIC for a loss of a commonly controlled
institution), whether outstanding on or incurred after the date of this Offering Circular, other than any obligations which state expressly that
they rank equally with or junior to the Subordinated Notes. In the event of any insolvency proceeding, receivership, conservatorship,
reorganisation, readjustment of debt, marshalling of assets and liabilities or similar proceeding or any liquidation or winding up of the Issuer,
whether voluntary or involuntary, all of the Issuer's obligations (except obligations which state expressly that they rank equally with or junior
to the Subordinated Notes) will be entitled to be paid in full before any payment is made on account of the Subordinated Notes. In the event of
any such proceeding, after payment in full of all amounts with respect to senior obligations, the Noteholders, together with the holders of any
obligations of the Issuer ranking equally with the Subordinated Notes, will be entitled to be paid, from the Issuer's remaining assets, the unpaid
principal of and interest on the Subordinated Notes or such other obligations before any payment or other distribution may be made on
account of any capital stock or other obligations of the Issuer ranking junior to the Subordinated Notes.

(ii) Subject to applicable law, no Noteholder may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, compensation or retention in respect of any
amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Subordinated Notes and each Noteholder shall, by virtue of being the

holder of any Subordinated Note, be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, compensation or retention.

The aggregate amount of outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2004 that by the terms of such indebtedness would be senior to the
Subordinated Notes is approximately $29.9 billion.

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the only indebtedness of the Issuer that would rank equally with the Subordinated Notes are (i) the
$100 million of 6.70 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2005, (ii) the $100 million of 7.30 per cent Subordinated Notes due 2006, (iii) the
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$100 million of 6.25 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2008, (iv) $200 million of 7.10 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2009, (v) the $150
million of 6.30 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2011, and (vi) the $200 million of 4.60 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2013.

4. Interest

The Subordinated Notes will bear interest on the outstanding principal amount of the Subordinated Notes from and including March 11, 2005
(the "Issue Date") to (but excluding) March 11, 2015 at the rate of 5.375 per cent. per annum (the "Rate of Interest"), payable annually in
arrear on March 11 in each year (each an "Interest Payment Date"), (commencing on March 11, 2006) subject as provided below.

Each Subordinated Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation of the Subordinated
Note for redemption as provided for in these Conditions, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue
to bear interest at such rate (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of: (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of
such Subordinated Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the
Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Subordinated Notes up to such seventh day (except to the
extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

Interest on the Subordinated Notes will be payable annually on the Interest Payment Date and calculated on the basis of the actual number of
days elapsed and a year of 365 days or (in the case of a leap year) 366 days. If either an Interest Payment Date or a redemption date falls on a
day that is not a Business Day, the payment due on such date will be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and no further interest will
accrue in respect of such delay.

Where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period which is shorter than an Interest Period, the day-count fraction applied to calculate the
amount of interest payable in respect of each Subordinated Note shall be the number of days in the relevant period, from and including the
date from which interest begins to accrue to, but excluding the date on which it falls due, divided by 365 (or, in the case of a leap year, 366)
and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest pence (half a pence being rounded upwards). Each period beginning on (and including) the
Issue Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date is called an "Interest Period").

In this Condition 4 "Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) which is a day on which commercial banks and foreign
exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business in London.

5. Redemption and Purchase
(A) Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Subordinated Notes shall be redeemed by the Issuer at an amount equal to 100
per cent. of their principal amount (the "Redemption Amount") on March 11, 2015, subject as provided in Condition 6 (Payments).
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(B) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

(ii) Subject to the approval of the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago and any other appropriate regulatory approval, the Subordinated Notes
may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to
the Noteholders (which shall be irrevocable) at their early redemption amount (the "Early Redemption Amount'), which shall be equal to
100 per cent. of the outstanding principal amount of the Subordinated Notes, together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption
and Additional Amounts (as defined under Condition 7 (Taxation)), if any, if the Issuer determines that (A) as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, the laws affecting taxation (or any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder) of the United States or any political
subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, or any change in the official application or interpretation of such laws, regulations or rulings
which change or amendment becomes effective after the Issue Date, it has or will become obliged to pay Additional Amounts on the
Subordinated Notes, or (B) any action (including any of those specified in (A) above) has been taken by any taxing authority of, or any action
has been brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in, the United States, whether or not such action was taken or brought with respect to the
Issuer, or any change, amendment, application or interpretation shall be officially proposed on or after the Issue Date, which, in any such case,
in the written opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing, results in a substantial probability that the Issuer will be required
to pay Additional Amounts on the Subordinated Notes as described under Condition 7 (Taxation), and in the case of (A) or (B) above, such
obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it provided however that no such notice of redemption shall
be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Amounts were a payment
in respect of the Subordinated Notes then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall
deliver to the Agent (1) a certificate of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of
facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and (2) if applicable, the written opinion of
independent legal advisers referred to above.

(iii) To the extent Subordinated Notes are issued in definitive form, if the Issuer shall determine, based upon a written opinion of independent
legal advisers of recognised standing, that any payment made outside the United States by the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents of principal
or interest due in respect of any Definitive Note or coupon would, under any present or future laws or regulations of the United States
affecting taxation or otherwise, be subject to any certification, information or other reporting requirement of U.S. law or regulation with
regard to the nationality, residence or identity of a beneficial owner of such Definitive Note or coupon who is a United States Alien (other than
such a requirement (A) which would not be applicable to a payment made by the Issuer or any one of its Paying Agents (1) directly to the
beneficial owner or (2) to any custodian, nominee or other agent of the beneficial owner, or (B) that can be satisfied by such custodian,
nominee or other agent or the holder of such Definitive Note or coupon certifying that the beneficial owner is not a United States person,
provided, that, in any case referred to in clause (A)(2) or (B), payment by the custodian, nominee or agent to the beneficial owner is not
otherwise subject to any such requirement referred to in this sentence, or (C) would not be applicable to a payment made by at least one other
Paying Agent), the Issuer shall redeem the Subordinated Notes, as a whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to the Redemption
Amount together, if appropriate, with accrued interest to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption. The Issuer shall make such

53

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

determination as soon as practicable after it becomes aware of an event that would give rise to such determination, and publish prompt notice
("Tax Notice") in accordance with Condition 15 stating in the notice the effective date of such requirement and (if applicable) the date on
which the redemption of the Subordinated Notes shall, subject to the penultimate sentence of this paragraph, take place, which date shall not
be later than one year after the publication of the Tax Notice. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption of the Subordinated Notes
pursuant to the foregoing, the Issuer shall deliver to the Agent the opinion of independent legal advisers referred to above, together with a
certificate of the Issuer setting forth a statement of the facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have
occurred and evidence satisfactory to the Agent of appropriate regulatory approval. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer shall not so
redeem the Subordinated Notes if (A) the appropriate regulatory approval has been revoked, rescinded or otherwise withdrawn prior to the
redemption of the Subordinated Notes or (B) the Issuer shall subsequently determine, based upon the written opinion of independent legal
advisers of recognised standing, not less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, that subsequent payments on the Definitive Notes
or coupons would not be subject to any such requirement, and in each such case the Issuer shall give prompt notice of such subsequent
determination in accordance with Condition 15 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (or such shorter time as may be
required with respect to clause (A)) and any earlier Tax Notice shall be revoked and of no further effect. The term "United States person"
means an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organised in or under
the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof or therein, an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal
income taxation regardless of its source or a trust if (i) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over its
administration, or (ii) one or more of the United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

(iv) Notwithstanding Condition 5(B)(ii), if and so long as all certification, information or other reporting requirements referred to in Condition
5(B)(ii) would be fully satisfied by payment of a U.S. backup withholding tax or similar charge, the Issuer may elect, in the Tax Notice, to pay
as Additional Amounts such amounts as may be necessary so that every net payment made following the effective date of such certification,
information or reporting requirements outside the United States by the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents of principal or interest on any
Subordinated Note or coupon of which the beneficial owner is a United States Alien (as defined in Condition 7 (Taxation)) (but without the
necessity of satisfying such certification, information or other reporting requirement), after deduction or withholding for or on account of such
backup withholding tax or similar charge (other than a tax which (A) would not be applicable in the circumstances referred to in the
parenthetical phrase of the first sentence of Condition 5(B)(ii), (B) is imposed as a result of presentation of such Subordinated Note or coupon
for payment more than 10 days after the date on which such payment becomes due and payable or on which payment thereof was duly
provided for, whichever occurs later, or (C) is imposed as a result of the fact that the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents has actual knowledge
that the beneficial owner of such Subordinated Note or coupon is within the category of persons described in clause (A)(i) or (D) of Condition
7), will not be less than the amount provided for in such Subordinated Note or coupon, such coupon to be then due and payable. If the Issuer
elects to pay such Additional Amounts and as long as it is obligated to pay such Additional Amounts, the Issuer will have the right, subject to
the provisions of the fourth sentence of Condition 5(B)(ii), at its sole option to redeem the Subordinated Notes, as a whole, but not in part, at a
redemption price equal to their Redemption Amount, together, if appropriate, with accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption including
any Additional Amounts required to be paid under this paragraph.
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(v) In the case of a redemption under the circumstances as described in Conditions 5(B)(ii) and 5(B)(iii), notice of redemption of the
Subordinated Notes shall be given in accordance with Condition 15, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for
redemption, all as provided in the Agency Agreement. Notice having been given, the Subordinated Notes shall (except as otherwise provided
in the fourth sentence of Condition 5(B)(ii)) become due and payable on the date fixed for redemption, which date shall not be later than one
year after the publication of the Tax Notice, and (upon presentation and surrender thereof, together with all coupons, if any, maturing
subsequent to the date fixed for redemption) will be paid at the Redemption Amount at the place or places of payment and in the manner
specified herein.

(C) Purchase

Subject to appropriate regulatory approval, the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates may at any time purchase Subordinated Notes in
the open market or otherwise at any price. Any purchase by tender shall be made available to all Noteholders alike. The Subordinated Notes so
purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer or such subsidiary or affiliate, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the
Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the
purposes of Condition 12(A).

(D) Cancellation

All Subordinated Notes so redeemed or purchased and any unmatured coupons attached to or surrendered with them will be cancelled by the
Agent and may not be re-issued or resold.

6. Payments
(A) Principal in Respect of and Interest on Notes

Payments of principal and interest will be made to the bearer against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of
Subordinated Notes at the specified offices of any Paying Agent for the time being. The specified offices of the initial Paying Agents appear
below.

Payments will be made in Pounds Sterling by credit or transfer to a Pounds Sterling account maintained by the payee with a bank in London,
provided, however, that an amount may not be transferred to an account at a bank located in, the United States or any of its possessions, by
any office or agency of the Issuer, the Agent or any Paying Agent.

Interest payable in respect of a beneficial interest in the Temporary Global Note on an Interest Payment Date occurring prior to the Exchange
Date will be paid only upon certification in accordance with Condition 2(A). Payments of interest due in respect of any Subordinated Note

shall be made only against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of the relevant Subordinated Note.
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(B) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws
All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the
provisions of Condition 7 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such payments.

(C) Presentation of Definitive Notes and Coupons

(i) Except as provided below, payments of principal, if any, in respect of Definitive Notes and coupons will be made as provided in paragraph
(A) above only against surrender of such Definitive Notes and coupons, and payments of interest in respect of such Definitive Notes will be
made only against surrender of coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States.

(i1) Upon the due date for redemption of any Definitive Note, unmatured coupons relating to such Subordinated Note which are not
surrendered therewith shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.

(D) Payments on Business Days

A Subordinated Note or coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is a Business Day in the place of presentation. No further
interest or other payment will be made as a consequence of the day on which the relevant Subordinated Note or coupon may be presented for
payment under this Condition 6 (D) falling after the due date. In this Condition 6(D), "Business Day" means, in respect of any place of
presentation, any day on which banks are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies in
such place or presentation and, in the case of payment by transfer to a Pound Sterling account referred to above, in which dealings in foreign

currencies may be carried on in London and in such place or presentation.

(E) Partial Payments

If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Subordinated Note or coupon presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will
endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount and date of such payment.

(F) Agents

The initial Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the
appointment of any Agent and appoint additional or other Agents, provided that it will at all times while any Subordinated Note is outstanding

maintain:

(i) an Agent,

(i) so long as the Subordinated Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a Paying Agent having a specified office in Luxembourg
or such other place as may be approved by the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,

(iii) such other agents as may be required by the rules of any other stock exchange on which the Subordinated Notes may be listed, and
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(iv) a Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to
European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other European Union Directive on the taxation of savings or any law implementing or
complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

Notice of any change in the Agents or their specified offices promptly will be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

7. Taxation

All payments of principal and interest on the Subordinated Notes will be made without deduction or withholding for or on account of any
present or future tax, assessment or other governmental charge, of whatever nature, imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or
within the United States or by or within any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, except as required by law. The Issuer
will, subject to certain limitations and exceptions set forth below, pay to a Noteholder that is a United States Alien (as defined below) such
additional amounts ("Additional Amounts") as may be necessary so that every net payment by the Issuer or any of its Paying Agents of
principal or interest with respect to the Subordinated Notes after deduction or withholding for or on account of any such present or future tax,
assessment or other governmental charge imposed upon such Noteholder, or as a result of such payment, by or within the United States (as
defined below) (or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein), will not be less than the amount provided for in such
Subordinated Notes to be then due and payable. However, the Issuer will not be required to make any payment of Additional Amounts for or
on account of:

(a) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which would not have been so imposed but for (i) the existence of any present or former
connection between such holder (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such
holder, if such holder is an estate, a trust, a partnership or a corporation) and the United States, including, without limitation, such holder (or
such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder or possessor) being or having been present therein, being or having been a citizen
or resident thereof, being or having been engaged in a trade or business therein or having or having had a permanent establishment therein; (ii)
the failure of such holder to comply with any certification, identification or information reporting requirements under the income tax laws and
regulations of the United States, without regard to any tax treaty, or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein to establish
entitlement to an exemption from withholding as a United States Alien or (iii) the presentation of a Subordinated Note for payment on a date
more than 30 days after the Relevant Date or the date on which such payment is duly provided for, whichever occurs later;

(b) any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, or any similar tax, assessment or governmental charge;

(c) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which is payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or interest on
such Subordinated Note;

(d) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed by reason of such holder's past or present status as a personal holding company,
private foundation or other tax exempt organisation, passive foreign investment company, foreign personal holding company or controlled

foreign corporation with respect to the United States or as a corporation that accumulates earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;
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(e) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which is required to be withheld by any Paying Agent from payments of principal of or
interest on any Subordinated Note, if such payment can be made without such withholding by at least one other Paying Agent;

(f) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed by reason of such holder's past or present status as the actual or constructive
owner of 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer entitled to vote;

(g) any withholding or deduction where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made
pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive on the taxation of savings implementing the conclusions of the
ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th-27th November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to,
such Directive; or

(h) any withholding or deduction in respect of any Subordinated Note or coupon presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder or a
couponholder that would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Subordinated Note or coupon to
another Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union,

nor shall Additional Amounts be paid with respect to a payment of principal of or interest on any Subordinated Note to a holder that is not the
beneficial owner of such Subordinated Note to the extent that the beneficial owner thereof would not have been entitled to the payment of
such Additional Amounts had such beneficial owner been the holder of such Subordinated Note.

As used in these Conditions, the term "United States" means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia),
its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction; the term "United States Alien" means any person who is, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, as to the United States: (i) a foreign corporation; (ii) a foreign partnership; (iii) a non-resident alien individual; or
(iv) a foreign estate or trust.

As used in these Conditions, the term "Relevant Date" in respect of any Subordinated Note means the date on which payment in respect of it
first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount
outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after the date on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further
presentation of the Subordinated Note being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in
fact made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) "principal” shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect
of the Subordinated Notes, Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any
amendment or supplement to it, (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to
Condition 4 and (iii) "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any Additional Amounts that may be payable under this
Condition.

8. Events of Default
If any of the following events ("'Events of Default') shall have occurred and be continuing:

(a) the Issuer consents to the appointment of a receiver or other similar official in any liquidation, insolvency or similar proceeding with

respect to the Issuer or all or substantially all of its property; or
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(b) a court or other governmental agency enters a decree or order for the appointment of a receiver or other similar official in any liquidation,
insolvency or similar proceedings with respect to the Issuer or all or substantially all of its property and the decree or order remains in force
for 60 days,

then each Noteholder, at its option, may give written notice ("Default Notice") to the Issuer and the Agent declaring that any Subordinated
Notes held by such Noteholder and all interest then accrued thereon (if applicable) are due and payable immediately upon the date written
notice thereof is received by the Issuer, and unless all such defaults shall have been cured by the Issuer or waived prior to receipt of such
written notice, the Subordinated Notes together with interest (if any) accrued thereon shall become and be due and payable 7 days after receipt
by the Issuer of such Default Notice.

However, any acceleration of a Subordinated Note's maturity is subject to the FDIC's authority to prevent any such acceleration
under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. Moreover, no payment on a Subordinated Note may be made before its scheduled maturity
without the prior approval of the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago. The amount payable in respect of the Subordinated Notes upon
an Event of Default shall be an amount equal to 100% of their principal amount, any Additional Amounts and all unpaid interest
accrued to such date.

9. Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest shall be prescribed and become void unless presentation for payment is made as required by
Condition 6 within a period of 10 years in the case of principal and five years in the case of interest from the appropriate Relevant Date.

10. Consolidation and Merger

(A) The Issuer may consolidate with or merge into any other corporation, banking association or other legal entity or sell, convey, transfer or
lease the property of the Issuer as an entirety or substantially as an entirety if and only if: (i) any successor or purchaser is organised under the
laws of the United States of America or any state thereunder or the District of Columbia; (ii) any such successor or purchaser expressly
assumes the due and punctual payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest (including Additional Amounts) on the Subordinated
Notes; and (iii) immediately after such consolidation, merger, sale or conveyance, such successor or purchaser is not in default in the
performance or observance of any of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Subordinated Notes or the Agency Agreement to be observed

or performed by the Issuer.

(B) Upon any merger, consolidation, sale or conveyance as provided in paragraph (A) above, the successor or purchaser shall succeed to and
be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of and be subject to all the obligations of, the Issuer under the Subordinated Notes
and Agency Agreement, with the same effect as if the successor or purchaser had been named as the Issuer therein and herein and the Issuer

shall be released from its liability as obligor under the Subordinated Notes and Agency Agreement.
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11. Replacement of Notes

If any Note is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Agent subject to all applicable
laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in
connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require (provided
that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Subordinated Notes must be surrendered
before replacements will be issued.

12. Meetings of Noteholders and Modifications
(A) Meetings of Noteholders

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the
sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Agency Agreement insofar as it
relates to the Subordinated Notes. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10% in principal amount of the
Subordinated Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting to consider an Extraordinary Resolution other than one
relating to a Reserved Matter (as defined below) will be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of
the Subordinated Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons holding or representing Noteholders
whatever the principal amount of the Subordinated Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of
proposals, infer alia, (each a "Reserved Matter") (i) to change any date fixed for payment of principal or interest in respect of the
Subordinated Notes, to reduce the amount of principal or interest payable on any date in respect of the Subordinated Notes or to alter the
method of calculating the amount of any payment in respect of the Subordinated Notes on redemption or maturity or the date for any such
payment; (ii) to effect the exchange or substitution of the Subordinated Notes for, or the conversion of the Subordinated Notes into, shares,
bonds or other obligations or securities of the Issuer or any other person or body corporate formed or to be formed; (iii) to change the currency
in which amounts due in respect of the Subordinated Notes are payable; (iv) to change the quorum required at any meeting or the majority
required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution; or (v) to change or modify any of the preceding Reserved Matters, in which case the necessary
quorum will be two or more persons holding or representing not less than 75%, or at any adjourned meeting not less than 25%, in principal
amount of the Subordinated Notes for the time being outstanding. An "Extraordinary Resolution" is defined in the Agency Agreement to
mean a resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions by a majority of at least
75% of the votes cast. A written resolution of holders of not less than 90% in principal amount of the Subordinated Notes for the time being
outstanding shall take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution for all purposes. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on all
Noteholders (whether or not they were present or represented at the meeting at which such resolution was passed).

(B) Modification and Waiver

The Agent may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement

which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification (except as provided in

(A)
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above), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement which is in the
opinion of the Agent not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be
binding on the Noteholders and, if the Agent so requires, notice of such modification shall be mailed to the Noteholders as soon as practicable.

(C) Modification of Agency Agreement

The Issuer only shall permit modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach, or proposed breach of or any failure to comply
with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

13. The Agent

In acting under the Agency Agreement and in connection with the Subordinated Notes, the Agent is acting solely as agent of the Issuer and
does not assume any obligation towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with the owner or holder of any Subordinated Note
appertaining thereto, except that any funds held by the Agent for payment of principal of or interest on, or Additional Amounts with respect
to, any Subordinated Note shall be held in trust by it and applied as set forth herein, but need not be segregated from other funds held by it,
except as required by law. For a description of the duties and the immunities and rights of the Agent under the Agency Agreement, reference
is made to the Agency Agreement, and the obligations of the Agent to the holders of the Subordinated Notes are subject to such immunities
and rights.

14. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders create and issue further securities having the same terms and
conditions as the Subordinated Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) so that such further
issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Subordinated Notes. References in these Conditions to the
Subordinated Notes include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition and forming a single
series with the Subordinated Notes.

Any further securities forming a single series with the then outstanding Subordinated Notes issued under the Agency Agreement or any
amendment to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Agent), be issued pursuant to the Agency Agreement as so

amended.

15. Notices

Notices to holders of Subordinated Notes will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in London (which is
expected to be the Financial Times) and (so long as the Subordinated Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of
that Exchange so require) in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort)
or, if such publication shall not be practicable, in an English language newspaper of general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be
deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which
publication is made.
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Each Noteholder (which term shall include any person to whom title to any Subordinated Notes has been lawfully transferred or transmitted in
accordance herewith) agrees, by its acceptance of the Subordinated Notes, to be bound by the obligations expressed under these Conditions to
be binding on it.

16. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Subordinated Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act
1999.

17. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

The Subordinated Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England and Wales provided, however that
Condition 3 (Status) shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois.

The Issuer irrevocably agrees for the benefit of each Noteholder that courts of England shall have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, the Subordinated Notes and/or the coupons and that,
accordingly, any suit, action or proceedings arising out of or in connection therewith (together referred to as "Proceedings") may be brought in

such courts.

The Issuer hereby irrevocably waives any objection which it may have now or hereafter to the laying of venue of any such Proceedings in any
such court and any claim that any such Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and hereby irrevocably agrees that a
judgment in any such Proceedings brought in the English courts shall be conclusive and binding upon it and may be enforced in the courts of

any other jurisdiction pursuant to any Proceedings in such other jurisdiction.

Nothing contained in this Condition 17 shall limit any right to take Proceedings against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction,
nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction, whether

concurrently or not.

The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other documents required to be served in relation to those
Proceedings may be served on it by being delivered to Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP, 11 Pilgrim Street, London EC4V 6RW, acting as
the Issuer's agent for service of process in England. If such person is not or ceases to be effectively appointed to accept service of process on
behalf of the Issuer, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a further person in England to accept service of process on its behalf and deliver to the
Agent a copy of the new agent's acceptance of such appointment within 15 days. Nothing in this Condition 17 shall affect the right of any
Agent to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. This Condition applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.
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SCHEDULE 5
PROVISIONS FOR MEETINGS OF THE NOTEHOLDERS

DEFINITIONS
In this Agreement and the Conditions, the following expressions have the following meanings:
"Block Voting Instruction" means, in relation to any Meeting, a document in the English language issued by a Paying Agent:

(a) certifying that certain specified Notes (the "deposited Notes') have been deposited with such Paying Agent (or to its order at a
bank or other depositary) or blocked in an account with a clearing system and will not be released until the earlier of:

(1) the conclusion of the Meeting; and

(i)  the surrender to such Paying Agent, not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting (or, if the Meeting has been
adjourned, the time fixed for its resumption), of the receipt for the deposited or blocked Notes and notification thereof by
such Paying Agent to the Issuer;

(b) certifying that the depositor of each deposited Note or a duly authorised person on its behalf has instructed the relevant Paying
Agent that the votes attributable to such deposited Note are to be cast in a particular way on each resolution to be put to the
Meeting and that, during the period of 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting, such instructions may not be amended or

revoked;

(c) listing the total number and (if in definitive form) the certificate numbers of the deposited Notes, distinguishing for each resolution
between those in respect of which instructions have been given to vote for, or against, the resolution; and

(d) authorising a named individual or individuals to vote in respect of the deposited Notes in accordance with such instructions;
"Chairman'' means, in relation to any Meeting, the individual who takes the chair in accordance with paragraph 7 (Chairman);,

"Extraordinary Resolution" means a resolution passed at a Meeting duly convened and held in accordance with this Schedule by a

majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast;

"Meeting'" means a meeting of Noteholders (whether originally convened or resumed following an adjournment);
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"Proxy" means, in relation to any Meeting, a person appointed to vote under a Block Voting Instruction other than:

(a)

(b)

any such person whose appointment has been revoked and in relation to whom the Agent has been notified in writing of such
revocation by the time which is 48 hours before the time fixed for such Meeting; and

any such person appointed to vote at a Meeting which has been adjourned for want of a quorum and who has not been re-appointed
to vote at the Meeting when it is resumed;

"Relevant Fraction' means:

(2)
(®)
(©)

for all business other than voting on an Extraordinary Resolution, one tenth;

for voting on any Extraordinary Resolution other than one relating to a Reserved Matter, one more than half; and

for voting on any Extraordinary Resolution relating to a Reserved Matter, three quarters;

provided, however, that, in the case of a Meeting which has resumed after adjournment for want of a quorum it means:

(1) for all business other than voting on an Extraordinary Resolution relating to a Reserved Matter, the fraction of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding Notes represented or held by the Voters actually present at the Meeting; and

(i)  for voting on any Extraordinary Resolution relating to a Reserved Matter, one quarter;

"Reserved Matter' means any proposal:

(@

(b)

(©)
(d
(e)

to change any date fixed for payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the amount of principal or interest
payable on any date in respect of the Notes or to alter the method of calculating the amount of any payment in respect of the Notes
on redemption or maturity or the date for any such payment;

to effect the exchange or substitution of the Notes for, or the conversion of the Notes into, shares, bonds or other obligations or
securities of the Issuer or any other person or body corporate formed or to be formed;

to change the currency in which amounts due in respect of the Notes are payable;
to change the quorum required at any Meeting or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution; or

to amend this definition;
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"Voter' means, in relation to any Meeting, the bearer of a Voting Certificate, a Proxy or the bearer of a Definitive Note who produces
such Definitive Note at the Meeting;

"Voting Certificate' means, in relation to any Meeting, a certificate in the English language issued by a Paying Agent and dated in
which it is stated:

(a) that certain specified Notes (the "deposited Notes') have been deposited with such Paying Agent (or to its order at a bank or other

depositary) or blocked in an account with a clearing system and will not be released until the earlier of:
(1) the conclusion of the Meeting; and
(i)  the surrender of such certificate to such Paying Agent; and
(b) that the bearer of such certificate is entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting in respect of the deposited Notes;

"Written Resolution" means a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of holders of not less than 90 per cent. in principal amount
of the Notes for the time being outstanding, whether contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by

or on behalf of one or more such holders of the Notes;

""24 hours" means a period of 24 hours including all or part of a day upon which banks are open for business in both the places where
the relevant Meeting is to be held and in each of the places where the Paying Agents have their Specified Offices (disregarding for this
purpose the day upon which such Meeting is to be held) and such period shall be extended by one period or, to the extent necessary,
more periods of 24 hours until there is included as aforesaid all or part of a day upon which banks are open for business as aforesaid; and

""48 hours" means 2 consecutive periods of 24 hours.

ISSUE OF VOTING CERTIFICATES AND BLOCK VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

The holder of a Note may obtain a Voting Certificate from any Paying Agent or require any Paying Agent to issue a Block Voting
Instruction by depositing such Note with such Paying Agent or arranging for such Note to be (to its satisfaction) held to its order or
under its control or blocked in an account with a clearing system not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the relevant Meeting. A
Voting Certificate or Block Voting Instruction shall be valid until the release of the deposited Notes to which it relates. So long as a
Voting Certificate or Block Voting Instruction is valid, the bearer thereof (in the case of a Voting Certificate) or any Proxy named
therein (in the case of a Block Voting Instruction) shall be deemed to be the holder of the Notes to which it relates for all purposes in
connection with the Meeting. A Voting Certificate and a Block Voting Instruction cannot be outstanding simultaneously in respect of the
same Note.

REFERENCES TO DEPOSIT/RELEASE OF NOTES

Where Notes are represented by the Temporary Global Note and/or the Permanent Global Note or are held in definitive form within a
clearing system, references to the deposit, or release, of Notes shall be construed in accordance with the usual practices (including

blocking the relevant account) of such clearing system.
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VALIDITY OF BLOCK VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

A Block Voting Instruction shall be valid only if it is deposited at the Specified Office of the Agent, or at some other place approved by
the Agent, at least 24 hours before the time fixed for the relevant Meeting or the Chairman decides otherwise before the Meeting
proceeds to business. If the Agent requires, a notarised copy of each Block Voting Instruction and satisfactory proof of the identity of
each Proxy named therein shall be produced at the Meeting, but the Agent shall not be obliged to investigate the validity of any Block
Voting Instruction or the authority of any Proxy.

CONVENING OF MEETING

The Issuer may convene a Meeting at any time, and shall be obliged to do so upon the request in writing of Noteholders holding not less
than one tenth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes.

NOTICE

At least 21 days' notice (exclusive of the day on which the notice is given and of the day on which the relevant Meeting is to be held)
specifying the date, time and place of the Meeting shall be given to the Noteholders and the Paying Agents (with a copy to the Issuer).
The notice shall set out the full text of any resolutions to be proposed and shall state that the Notes may be deposited with, or to the order
of, any Paying Agent for the purpose of obtaining Voting Certificates or appointing Proxies not later than 48 hours before the time fixed
for the Meeting.

CHAIRMAN

An individual (who may, but need not, be a Noteholder) nominated in writing by the Issuer may take the chair at any Meeting but, if no
such nomination is made or if the individual nominated is not present within 15 minutes after the time fixed for the Meeting, those
present shall elect one of themselves to take the chair failing which, the Issuer may appoint a Chairman. The Chairman of an adjourned
Meeting need not be the same person as was the Chairman of the original Meeting.

QUORUM

The quorum at any Meeting shall be at least two Voters representing or holding not less than the Relevant Fraction of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding Notes; provided, however, that, so long as at least the Relevant Fraction of the aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Notes is represented by the Temporary Global Note and/or the Permanent Global Note, a single Proxy
representing the holder thereof shall be deemed to be two Voters for the purpose of forming a quorum.

ADJOURNMENT FOR WANT OF QUORUM
If within 15 minutes after the time fixed for any Meeting a quorum is not present, then:

(a) in the case of a Meeting requested by Noteholders, it shall be dissolved; and
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10.

11.

12.

13.

(b) in the case of any other Meeting, it shall be adjourned for such period (which shall be not less than 14 days and not more than 42
days) and to such place as the Chairman determines; provided, however, that:

(1) the Meeting shall be dissolved if the Issuer) so decides; and

(i1))  no Meeting may be adjourned more than once for want of a quorum.

ADJOURNED MEETING

The Chairman may, with the consent of (and shall if directed by) any Meeting, adjourn such Meeting from time to time and from place
to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned Meeting except business which might lawfully have been transacted at the
Meeting from which the adjournment took place.

NOTICE FOLLOWING ADJOURNMENT
Paragraph 6 (Notice) shall apply to any Meeting which is to be resumed after adjournment for want of a quorum save that:

(a) 10 days' notice (exclusive of the day on which the notice is given and of the day on which the Meeting is to be resumed) shall be
sufficient; and

(b) the notice shall specifically set out the quorum requirements which will apply when the Meeting resumes.

It shall not be necessary to give notice of the resumption of a Meeting which has been adjourned for any other reason.

PARTICIPATION

The following may attend and speak at a Meeting:

(a) Voters;

(b) representatives of the Issuer and the Agent;

(c) the financial advisers of the Issuer;

(d) the legal counsel to the Issuer and the Agent; and

(e) any other person approved by the Meeting.

SHOW OF HANDS

Every question submitted to a Meeting shall be decided in the first instance by a show of hands. Unless a poll is validly demanded before
or at the time that the result is declared, the Chairman's declaration that on a show of hands a resolution has been passed, passed by a
particular majority, rejected or rejected by a particular majority shall be conclusive, without proof of the number of votes cast for, or

against, the resolution.
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14.

15.

16.

17.

POLL

A demand for a poll shall be valid if it is made by the Chairman, the Issuer or one or more Voters representing or holding not less than
one fiftieth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes. The poll may be taken immediately or after such adjournment as
the Chairman directs, but any poll demanded on the election of the Chairman or on any question of adjournment shall be taken at the
Meeting without adjournment. A valid demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuation of the relevant Meeting for any other
business as the Chairman directs.

VOTES
Every Voter shall have:
(a) on ashow of hands, one vote; and

(b) on apoll, one vote in respect of each Sterling 50,000 in aggregate face amount of the outstanding Note(s) represented or held by
him.

In the case of a voting tie the Chairman shall have a casting vote.

Unless the terms of any Block Voting Instruction state otherwise, a Voter shall not be obliged to exercise all the votes to which he is

entitled or to cast all the votes which he exercises in the same way.

VALIDITY OF VOTES BY PROXIES

Any vote by a Proxy in accordance with the relevant Block Voting Instruction shall be valid even if such Block Voting Instruction or
any instruction pursuant to which it was given has been amended or revoked, provided that the Agent has not been notified in writing of
such amendment or revocation by the time which is 24 hours before the time fixed for the relevant Meeting. Unless revoked, any
appointment of a Proxy under a Block Voting Instruction in relation to a Meeting shall remain in force in relation to any resumption of
such Meeting following an adjournment; provided, however, that no such appointment of a Proxy in relation to a Meeting originally
convened which has been adjourned for want of a quorum shall remain in force in relation to such Meeting when it is resumed. Any
person appointed to vote at such a Meeting must be re-appointed under a Block Voting Instruction Proxy to vote at the Meeting when it
is resumed.

POWERS

A Meeting shall have power (exercisable by Extraordinary Resolution), without prejudice to any other powers conferred on it or any
other person:

(a) to approve any Reserved Matter;

(b) to approve any proposal by the Issuer for any modification, abrogation, variation or compromise of any of the Conditions or any

arrangement in respect of the obligations of the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes;
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18.

19.

20.

(©)

(d

(e)

®

(2)
(h)

to approve any proposal by the Issuer for any modification of any provision of the Deed of Covenant or any arrangement in respect
of the obligations of the Issuer thereunder;

to approve the substitution of any person for the Issuer (or any previous substitute) as principal obligor under the Notes and the
Deed of Covenant;

to waive any breach or authorise any proposed breach by the Issuer of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Deed

of Covenant or any act or omission which might otherwise constitute an event of default under the Notes;

to authorise the Agent or any other person to execute all documents and do all things necessary to give effect to any Extraordinary
Resolution;

to give any other authorisation or approval which is required to be given by Extraordinary Resolution; and

to appoint any persons as a committee to represent the interests of the Noteholders and to confer upon such committee any powers
which the Noteholders could themselves exercise by Extraordinary Resolution.

EXTRAORDINARY RESOLUTION BINDS ALL HOLDERS

An Extraordinary Resolution shall be binding upon all Noteholders and holders of Coupons whether or not present at such Meeting and

each of the Noteholders shall be bound to give effect to it accordingly. Notice of the result of every vote on an Extraordinary Resolution

shall be given to the Noteholders and the Paying Agents (with a copy to the Issuer) within 14 days of the conclusion of the Meeting.

MINUTES

Minutes shall be made of all resolutions and proceedings at each Meeting. The Chairman shall sign the minutes, which shall be prima

facie evidence of the proceedings recorded therein. Unless and until the contrary is proved, every such Meeting in respect of the

proceedings of which minutes have been summarised and signed shall be deemed to have been duly convened and held and all

resolutions passed or proceedings transacted at it to have been duly passed and transacted.

WRITTEN RESOLUTION

A Written Resolution shall take effect as if it were an Extraordinary Resolution.
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The Agent:

Address:

Facsimile no:

For the attention of:

SCHEDULE 6
SPECIFIED OFFICES OF THE PAYING AGENTS

Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise
43 Boulevard Royal
L 2955 Luxembourg

+ 3524797 73907

The B.O. Emissions/Fiscal Agencies

The other Paying Agents:

Address:

Facsimile no:

For the attention of:

Address:

Facsimile no:

For the attention of:

Kredietbank S.A. Luxembourgeoise
43 Boulevard Royal
L 2955 Luxembourg

+352 4797 73907
The B.O. Emissions/Fiscal Agencies

Brown Shipley & Co. Limited
Founders Court, Lothbury
London EC2R 7HE

United Kingdom

+44 207 796 3045

Operations Department
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EXECUTION:

The parties have shown their acceptance of the terms of this Agreement by executing it below after the Schedules.

The Issuer

SIGNED by Duane S. Rocheleau, duly
authorised for and on behalf of THE
NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

The Agent

SIGNED by Jean-Paul Dekerk, Head of
Corporate Banking and International
Loans, and Marc Pedretti, Head of
Corporate Trusts and Agencies, duly
authorised for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A.
LUXEMBOURGOISE

)Duane S. Rocheleau

)
)

)Jean-Paul Dekerk
)Marc Pedretti

)
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The other Paying Agents

SIGNED by Jean-Paul Dekerk, Head of
Corporate Banking and International
Loans, and Marc Pedretti, Head of
Corporate Trusts and Agencies, duly
authorised for and on behalf of
KREDIETBANK S.A.
LUXEMBOURGOISE

SIGNED by Jean-Paul Dekerk, and Marc
Pedretti, Directors, duly authorised for and
on behalf of BROWN SHIPLEY & CO
LIMITED

) Jean-Paul Dekerk
)Marc Pedretti

)

) Jean-Paul Dekerk
)Marc Pedretti

)

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

Exhibit 10(i)

SIXTH AMENDMENT
OF THE
NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION
SUPPLEMENTAL THRIFT-INCENTIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, the Northern Trust Corporation (the “Corporation”) sponsors the Northern Trust Corporation Supplemental Thrift-
Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective as of July 20, 1999, (the “Plan”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7.1 of the Plan, the Corporation has the right to amend the Plan when the Corporation deems such

amendment to be advisable; and

WHEREAS, the Corporation deems it advisable to amend the Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Plan is hereby amended to add the attached as Supplement #1 to the Plan.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this amendment to be executed on its behalf this 10th of February, 2005
effective such 10th day of February, 2005.

NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

By: /s/ Timothy P. Moen
Name: Timothy P. Moen

Title: Executive Vice President and
Human Resources Department Head
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SUPPLEMENT #1

Special 2005 Supplemental Before-Tax Deposit Agreement

This Supplement #1 to the Northern Trust Corporation Supplemental Thrift-Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective as of July 20,

1999 (the “Plan”), is made a part of the Plan and supersedes any provisions thereof to the extent that they are not consistent with this

Supplement. Unless the context clearly implies or indicates to the contrary, a word, term or phrase used or defined in the Plan is similarly used

or defined for purposes of this Supplement #1.

4.

Effective Date. February 10, 2005.

Application. This Supplement #1 shall apply to all Participants who were eligible to make a Supplemental Before-Tax Deposit for the
Plan Year beginning January 1, 2005 (the “2005 Plan Year”), but who failed to execute and deliver a Supplemental Before-Tax Deposit
Agreement to the Committee prior to the date specified by the Committee before the beginning of the 2005 Plan Year (individually, a
“Special Election Participant” and, collectively, the “Special Election Participants™).

Special Provision. The following special provision shall apply to the Special Election Participants:

Special 2005 Election: Pursuant to and in accordance with Notice 2005-1 issued by the U.S. Treasury Department and the Internal

Revenue Service, each Special Election Participant shall have the opportunity to execute and deliver to the Committee a Supplemental
Before-Tax Deposit Agreement for the 2005 Plan Year to be applied only to Salary in excess of Code Section 401(a)(17) limitations, in
any amount equal to at least one percent (1%), but not to exceed forty percent (40%), subject to the requirements specified in paragraphs
4 through 6 below.

Special Election Deadline. To be effective, a Supplemental Before-Tax Deposit Agreement referred to in paragraph 3 above must be
executed and delivered to the Committee by the Special Election Participant on or before the date specified by the Committee that is
after the Effective Date of this Supplement #1, but no later than March 15, 2005.

Special Salary Limitation. A Supplemental Before-Tax Deposit Agreement executed and delivered by a Special Election Participant

pursuant to this Supplement #1 shall only apply to Salary of the Special Election Participant that has not been paid or become payable at
the time the Special Election Participant executes and delivers such Supplemental Before-Tax Deposit Agreement.

Limitations on Supplement. Nothing in this Supplement #1 shall be construed to provide any Special Election Participant with any rights

or benefits under the Plan other than those described in Paragraphs 3 through 5 above.
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Exhibit 10(ii)

SECOND AMENDMENT
OF THE
NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION
SEVERANCE PLAN

WHEREAS, the Northern Trust Corporation (the “Corporation’) maintains the Northern Trust Corporation Severance Plan (the
“Plan”); and

WHEREAS, amendment of the Plan is now considered desirable;

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue and in exercise of the amending power reserved to the Corporation under Section 6.1 of the Plan, the
Plan is hereby amended as follows effective as of January 1, 2005:

1. Paragraph (A) of Section 2.13 of Plan shall be deleted in its entirety and the following substituted therefor:

“(A) comparable employment with an Employer (as determined by the Employer in the Employer’ s sole discretion) in a position which

does not require relocation to a non-commutable distance, or.”
2. The second and third sentences of Section 3.3(iii) of the Plan shall be deleted in their entirety and the following substituted therefor:

“If such an Eligible Employee is able to return to active employment within six (6) months from such Eligible Employee’ s first day of
absence due to disability, such Eligible Employee’ s employment will be terminated, and such Eligible Employee will be entitled to
Severance Benefits, subject to Section 4.4. However, if such an Eligible Employee is absent from employment due to disability for more
than six (6) months, such Eligible Employee will no longer be entitled to any Severance Benefits regardless of the reasons for or timing
of such Employee’ s Termination of employment.”

3. The first two sentences of Section 4.2 of the Plan shall be deleted in their entirety and the following sentence substituted therefor:

“An Eligible Employee will receive Severance Benefits in the form of a lump sum cash payment to be made as soon as practicable
following Termination Based on Employer Action.”

4. (a) To delete the third sentence of Section 5.6 of the Plan in its entirety and to substitute the following therefor:

“The Committee shall render a decision on the appeal no later than the date of the Committee meeting which immediately follows
the
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Committee’ s receipt of the claimant’ s request for review, unless the request for review is filed within thirty (30) days preceding
the date of such meeting. In such case, a decision will be made no later than the date of the second meeting following the
Committee’ s receipt of the claimant’ s request for review. The Committee may extend this review until no later than its third
meeting following the claimant’ s request for review if special circumstances apply and the Committee notifies the claimant of

such extension.”
(b) To delete the fifth sentence of Section 5.6 of the Plan in its entirety and to substitute the following therefor:

“The Committee shall notify the claimant of its decision in writing or electronically within a reasonable time (but not later than
five (5) business days) after the Committee meeting at which the claimant’ s request for review is considered.”

(¢) To add the following at the end of Section 5.6 of the Plan:

“The Committee has full discretion and authority to construe and interpret all provisions of the Plan. The claimant may not bring a
legal action in any court under the Plan until the claim and appeal rights described in this Section have been exercised and
exhausted, and the eligibility or benefits requested in the appeal have been denied, in whole or in part.”

To delete the Severance Schedule for Termination by Employer Action in its entirety and to substitute therefor the Several Schedule for
Termination by Employer Action that is attached to this Second Amendment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this amendment to be executed on its behalf this 9th of March, 2005 effective
as of January 1, 2005.

NORTHERN TRUST CORPORATION

By:  /s/ Timothy P. Moen
Name: Timothy P. Moen

Title: Executive Vice President and Human Resources
Department Head
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REVISED EFFECTIVE 1/1/05

Severance Schedule for Termination By Employer Action*

SEVERANCE BENEFITS PAYMENTS**

Official Status Years of Service
Less than 3 Years Greater than or equal to 3 Years Greater than or equal to 25 Years
but less than 25 Years
Officer* 4 weeks of Base Pay 2 weeks of Base Pay per 52 weeks of Base Pay

completed Year of Service
Non-Officer* 2 weeks of Base Pay 1 week of Base Pay per completed 26 weeks of Base Pay
Year of Service
**  Minimum Severance Benefits Pay is 2 weeks of Base Pay and Maximum Severance Benefits Pay is 52 weeks of Base Pay. Total
Severance Benefits payments may not exceed twice an Eligible Employee’ s annual Base Pay in the year prior to Termination.
Severance Benefits Payments and any COBRA Subsidy will be paid as a lump sum.

WELFARE BENEFITS

COBRA Continuation Coverage: An Eligible Employee and eligible dependents have the right to continue medical, dental and vision
coverage in accordance with the time periods set forth under the provisions of the federal Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of
1985 (“COBRA”). Medical, dental and vision coverage will automatically cease on the last day of the month in which an Eligible Employee’ s
Termination of employment occurs unless an Eligible Employee elects such continuation coverage under the provisions of COBRA. The costs
of such coverage shall be payable by the Eligible Employee for the duration of the COBRA coverage, to be paid monthly by personal check,
as the premiums become due.

COBRA Subsidy*: The Employer shall provide a COBRA subsidy payment to assist the Eligible Employee in paying the costs of coverage
under applicable employee welfare benefit plans (medical and dental). The amount of the COBRA subsidy payment shall equal the difference
between an Eligible Employee’ s active employee medical and/or dental premium(s) as of the first day of the Notification Period (described in
Section 4.2) and the rate under COBRA on such date, including the 2% administrative fee, multiplied by the number of weeks to which an
Eligible Employee is eligible for Severance Benefits Payments as described above. The COBRA subsidy payment shall be made in the form
of a lump sum.
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Outplacement Assistance*: Varied levels of outplacement assistance will be offered through a firm selected by the Employer. Outplacement

assistance will be available on the first day of an Eligible Employee’ s Notification Period. The level and duration of outplacement assistance

will be determined by an Eligible Employee’ s official status in accordance with the Employer’ s policies and practices. In order to use

outplacement assistance, an Eligible Employee must begin outplacement assistance no later than 30 days after Termination of employment.

Non-contributory Life Insurance, Business Travel, Workers
Compensation

Contributory Life Insurance, Dependent Life Insurance, 24-Hour
Accident Insurance

Health Care Account, Day Care Account

Educational Assistance*

Short-Term Disability, Long-Term Disability

Family Assistance and LifeCare® Programs

Coverage ends upon Termination.

Coverage ends on the last day of the month for which a premium
contribution from an Eligible Employee’ s salary was made.

Eligible Employees may submit claims for expenses incurred prior
to Termination date in accordance with applicable plan terms and
administrative requirements. Claims must be submitted prior to end
of first quarter of the year following Termination. Health Care
Account may be extended on after-tax basis through a valid
COBRA election.

Existing tuition reimbursement repayment obligations will be
waived. At the Eligible Employee’ s Termination of employment, if
enrolled and attending course(s), the Eligible Employee will be
reimbursed in accordance with the Educational Assistance Program.

Coverage ends upon Termination, unless disabled on the date of
Termination. If disabled on the date of Termination, coverage will
generally continue until individual determined to be medically able
to return to work, in accordance with applicable disability plan
terms. See also Plan Section 3.3 (ii) and (iii).

Eligible Employees will have access to these programs for 90 days

following Termination.
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ENHANCED RETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS

Pension Plan and TIP* Enhanced retirement eligibility, vesting and related benefits will be
provided in accordance with the applicable retirement plans.

Stock Options* Enhanced vesting and other benefits may be provided in accordance
with the applicable stock option plan and the Eligible Employee’ s
stock option agreements.

* NOTE: Eligibility for receipt of all benefits is conditioned on execution (and non-revocation) of a settlement agreement, waiver and release
(“Release”) in accordance with Section 4.4., provided that an Eligible Employee who does not execute (or who revokes within the
revocation period) such a Release shall be entitled to (i) severance benefits, payable in the form of a lump sum, in the amount of one (1)
week of Base Pay for non-officers and two (2)weeks of Base Pay for officers, (ii) access to (A) the Employer’ s Family Assistance and
LifeCare® Programs for 90 days following Termination and (B) basic outplacement assistance and (iii) the opportunity to work with a
recruiting consultant to perform an internal search for a new position during the Notification Period.

-3
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Exhibit 10(iii)

DATED MARCH 31, 2005

BARING ASSET MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

-and -

ING BANK N.V.

-and -

THE NORTHERN TRUST INTERNATIONAL BANKING CORPORATION

-and -

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

-and -

NORTHERN TRUST GFS HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEED OF NOVATION AND AMENDMENT TO

SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

- relating to -

THE SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE ENTIRE SHARE CAPITAL OF

FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP LIMITED

NOTE: Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment. Such omissions are indicated by the phrase

“[*confidential treatment requested/material filed separately*].”
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THIS DEED is made on the 31st day of March 2005

BETWEEN

(1

Baring Asset Management Holdings Limited, a company registered in England and Wales, under number 1131971, whose registered
office is at 155 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 3XY (the “Seller”);

(2) ING Bank N.V., a company incorporated in the Netherlands, whose registered office is at Amstelveensweg 500, 1081 LK, Amsterdam,
The Netherlands (the “Seller’ s Guarantor™);

(3) The Northern Trust International Banking Corporation, a company incorporated in the United States whose head office is at 40
Broad Street, New York, New York 10004, USA (“Original Purchaser”);

(4) The Northern Trust Company, a company incorporated in the United States whose head office is at 50 South La Salle Street, Chicago,
Illinois 60675, USA (the “Purchaser’ s Guarantor”); and

(5) Northern Trust GFS Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Guernsey (registered number 42674) whose registered office is at
Coutts House, Le Truchot, St Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 IWD (the “New Purchaser”).

WHEREAS:

(A) The Seller, the Seller’ s Guarantor, the Original Purchaser and the Purchaser’ s Guarantor entered into a sale and purchase agreement on

B)

22 November 2004 relating to the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of Financial Services Group Limited (“FSG”) (the
“Sale and Purchase Agreement”).

The Seller, the Seller’ s Guarantor, the Original Purchaser and the Purchaser’ s Guarantor wish to amend the Sale and Purchase
Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Deed and the Original Purchaser wishes to novate the Sale and Purchase Agreement in
accordance with the terms of this Deed.

IT IS AGREED:

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1

1.2

1.3

Unless the context otherwise requires, the words and expressions defined in the Sale and Purchase Agreement have the same meaning in
this Deed and its Recitals.

The Recitals to this Deed form part of it.

Any reference in this Deed to a document being “in the agreed terms” is to a document in the terms agreed between the parties for
identification purposes only signed or initialled by them or on their behalf on or before the date of this Deed.
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2. NOVATION OF THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On and with effect from the date of this Deed:

(a)

(b)

(©)

the Original Purchaser on the one part and the Seller and the Seller’ s Guarantor on the other part hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally release and discharge each other from any and all obligations and liabilities under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the Seller and the Seller’ s Guarantor accept the liability of the New Purchaser under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement in place of the liability of the Original Purchaser and the Seller and the Seller’ s Guarantor agree that the New
Purchaser has the rights of the Original Purchaser under the Sale and Purchase Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
the guarantee and indemnity given in clause 14 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement in respect of the Seller’ s obligations) in each
case from the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement as if the New Purchaser were and at all times had been an original party to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement in place of the Original Purchaser;

the New Purchaser agrees to be bound by the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and to perform the obligations of the
Original Purchaser thereunder in every way as if it were an original party to the Sale and Purchase Agreement in place of the
Original Purchaser; and

the Purchaser’ s Guarantor agrees that the guarantee and indemnity given in clause 14 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement in
respect of the Original Purchaser’ s obligations shall be given in respect of the obligations of the New Purchaser and the Seller and
the Seller’ s Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally release and discharge the Purchaser’ s Guarantor from any and all
obligations and liabilities under the Sale and Purchase Agreement in respect of the Original Purchaser’ s obligation.

3. AMENDMENT OF SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On and with effect from the date of this Deed the parties hereby agree that the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be amended as set out
in clauses 4 to 18 of this Deed.

4. DEFINITIONS

4.1

The following definitions shall be inserted into clause 1.1 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement in alphabetical order:

(@

(b)

(©)

“Asset Transfer Agreement” means the asset transfer agreement entered into between BISL and International Fund Mangers UK
Limited on or about the date hereof;

“BAML ASA” means the administration services agreement between Baring Asset Management Limited (“BAML”),
International Fund Managers UK Limited and Ravensbourne Registration Services Limited to be entered into on Completion in the
agreed terms;

“Baring Toshin Fund ASA” means the administration services agreement between Baring Mutual Fund Management (Ireland)
Limited, IFMI and BIL to be entered into on Completion in the agreed terms;

-2
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4.2

(d) “Baring Global Investment Umbrella Fund ASA” means the administration services agreement between The Baring Global
Investment Umbrella Fund (No.1) PLC, BIFMI and IFMI to be entered into on Completion in the agreed terms;

(e) “BFM ASA” means the administration services agreement between Baring Fund Managers Limited, International Fund Managers
UK Limited and Ravensbourne Registration Services Limited to be entered into on Completion in the agreed terms;

() “BIFMI ASA” means the administration services agreement between BIFMI, IFMI and BIL to be entered into on Completion in
the agreed terms;

(g) “Baring Multi-Manager Funds ASA” means the administration services agreement between Baring Multi-Manager Funds plc,
BIFMI and IFMI to be entered into on Completion in the agreed terms;

(h) “Prospectuses” means the supplemental prospectuses in the agreed terms in respect of each of the Irish Funds; and
(i) “Trust Deeds” means the supplemental trust deeds in agreed terms in respect of each of the Irish Funds.

The definition of Administration Services Agreements in clause 1.1 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced
with the following:

“Administration Services Agreements” means (i) the BFM ASA, (ii) the BAML ASA; (iii) the Baring Toshin Fund ASA; (iv) the
Baring Global Investment Umbrella Fund ASA; (v) the Baring Multi-manager Funds ASA; and (vi) the BIFMI ASA together with the
service level agreements where relevant each in the agreed terms (subject in each case to any changes to be made as required by IFSRA
or as otherwise agreed).

5. CONDITION 2

5.1

5.2

The second sentence of clause 3.2 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and the following sentence substituted therefore:

“For the purposes only of determining whether Condition 2 is satisfied, on or before the date which is three Business Days before the
Completion Date, the Seller shall deliver to the Purchaser a draft Run Rate Revenue Statement showing run rate revenues as at the
month end prior to Completion”.

And Condition 2 in Schedule 2 shall be deleted and the following words substituted therefore:

2. The run rate revenues of the Group for the period February 2005 multiplied by 12 being no less than 70% of the Initial Run Rate

Revenues”.

6. CONSIDERATION

Clause 3.11 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and the following clause 3.11 substituted therefore:

“Any amount to be paid to the Seller pursuant to this Agreement shall be paid by telegraphic transfer into the account details of which
are as follows: [*confidential treatment requested/material filed separately*].

-3
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7. PRE-COMPLETION COVENANTS

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

Clause 5.11 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“The Seller shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that Barings Isle of Man (“BIOM™) by Completion has in place all
outstanding know your client documentation and information and changes its know your client procedures so that they satisfy in all

material respects the relevant regulatory requirements.”

The parties agree that, in respect of clause 5.2 (s) of the Sale and Purchase Agreement the process for obtaining the consent of the

Purchaser shall be as follows:
(a) for exposures from £500,000 to £5,000,000 and periods up to a maximum of one month which constitute either:

(1) accommodations with Approved Collateral (as defined in Appendix C of the Seller’ s Guarantor Delegated Authorities
attached in Schedule 1) held by Barings (Guernsey) Limited but not formally charged; and

(il))  accommodations to mutual funds where assets are held with Barings (Guernsey) Limited but are not formally charged and

exposures do not exceed 10% of the net asset value of the mutual fund,

consent shall be deemed to have been obtained if approval has been received from the Barings Guernsey Credit Committee, which

at least one representative of the Purchaser shall be entitled to attend; and

(b) for exposures in excess of £5,000,000 the Purchaser’ s express written consent shall be required, not to be unreasonably withheld

or delayed.

The parties agree that in respect of clause 5.2(s) of the Sale and Purchase Agreement indicative terms sheets will continue to be sent to a

representative of the Purchaser and the Purchaser’ s Guarantor for consideration and agreement before they are sent to clients.

The parties agree that the process for obtaining the consent of the Purchaser set out in clauses 7.2 and 7.3 of this Deed shall be deemed

to have had effect from 13 December 2004.

The Seller confirms to the Purchaser that, as at the date of this Deed, all contracts with private clients of Barings (Guernsey) Limited
have either been novated to Baring Asset Management (C.I.) Limited or been terminated.

-4 .
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8. FIXED ASSETS
8.1 Clause 5.5(a) of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“(a) the IT fixed assets held by BISL which relate to the business of the Group as referred to in the Fixed Asset Memorandum will be
transferred to the Group at book value of £360,008 as at September 2004 and the fit out and tenants fixtures relating to the 5th
Floor, 155 Bishopsgate, having a book value of £1,918,549 as at 30 September 2004 (referred to in the Fixed Assets
Memorandum) shall be sold to the Group for £1,918,549; and”

8.2 Clause 11.3 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“At the expiry or sooner determination of the Term the Purchaser shall procure that the Group shall transfer to the Seller or a Seller
Group Company the fit out and other items in the nature of tenant’ s fixtures in 5th Floor Bishopsgate transferred to the Group under
Clause 5.5(a) for the aggregate consideration of £501,530 and otherwise on the same terms as those contained in the Asset Transfer
Agreement in respect of those items.”

8.3 The parties agree that the information contained in Schedule 2 of this Deed shall be the Fixed Assets Memorandum in the agreed terms
in place of the Fixed Assets Memorandum initialled on 22 November 2004.

9. ADMINISTRATION SERVICES AGREEMENTS

9.1 The words set out in clause 5.9 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and the words “intentionally left blank™ substituted
therefor.

9.2 Clause 6.3(a) of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“(a) evidence in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser of the completion of the Pre-Completion Reorganisation pursuant to
clause 6.2;”.

9.3 The following shall be inserted into the Sale and Purchase Agreement as an additional clause 6.3(K):
“(K) each of the Trust Deeds duly executed by the parties thereto.”

9.4 Paragraph 8 of Schedule 2 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted.

10. GUERNSEY LICENCE AGREEMENT

10.1 Clause 6.3(j) of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted.

11. NET ASSET CALCULATION
11.1 Paragraph 3.14 of Schedule 9 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“For the avoidance of doubt to the extent that any payments are made by any member of the Group to any Seller Group Company or any
provisions made in respect of the guarantees referred to in clause 8.3(b) between the date hereof and the Completion Date such payments
or provisions shall not be taken into account for the purpose of preparing the Net Asset Statement and no provisions shall be made in the
Net Asset Statement in respect of the guarantees referred to in clause 8.3(b).”

-5-
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12. SCHEDULE 11

The first paragraph of paragraph 4(b) of Schedule 11 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the
following:

“for all Existing Clients who have changed the nature of their customer relationship with the Group within the three month or four
month period (as the case may be) prior to the Relevant Date then, in the case of withdrawals of assets, revenues will be adjusted (in line
with existing management practice) as if such withdrawals had taken place at the beginning of the relevant three (or four) month period
prior to the Relevant Date by deducting the amount set out in the row headed “[*confidential treatment requested/material filed
separately*]” in the relevant Run Rate Revenues Statement and the resulting amount shall be multiplied by four (or three), and in the
case of increases in mandates revenues will be adjusted (in line with existing management practice) as if such increases in mandates had
taken place at the beginning of the relevant three month or four month period prior to the Relevant Date adding the amount set out in the
row headed “[*confidential treatment requested/material filed separately*]” in the relevant Run Rate Revenues Statement and the
resulting amount shall be multiplied by four (or three) in line with existing management practices for estimating Recurring Revenues in

accordance with paragraph 5.”; and

the second paragraph of paragraph 4(b) of Schedule II shall be amended by the deletion of the words “paragraph 4(b)” and the
substitution therefore of the words “paragraph 7”.

13. PENSIONS

13.1 Schedule 7 Part B of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:
“Part B - Guernsey
4.  Itis hereby acknowledged and agreed that the following members of the Guernsey Scheme, [*confidential treatment requested/
material filed separately*] shall cease to be in pensionable service under that scheme with effect on and from the Completion Date

[*confidential treatment requested/material filed separately*].

14. GUARANTEES

14.1 The information contained in Schedule 16 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the information
contained in Schedule 3 of this Deed.

15. FSG IT CONTRACTS

Schedule 14 Part 1 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with Schedule 4 of this Deed.

-6-
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16. PURCHASER BANK ACCOUNT
Clause 3.10 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“Any payment to be paid to the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement shall be paid by telegraphic transfer into the account details of
which are as follows: [*confidential treatment requested/material filed separately*].

17. RETENTION AND ACCESS TO BOOKS AND RECORDS
17.1 There shall be inserted, as a new clause 24.5 of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the following:

*24.5The Seller and the Purchaser shall retain and preserve, or procure that there are retained and preserved, all such books and records
of each Group member relating to the business of the Group (in relation to customers or otherwise), in a manner consistent with
prior practice, and in accordance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements in any relevant jurisdiction, and each shall
permit the other and its agents to have access to and copies of such books and records to the extent reasonably requested by, and at

the expense of, the other.”

17.2 The Seller confirms to the Purchaser that the correspondence relating to the assignment or transfer of the FSG IT Contracts and the

Service Contracts is in the possession of BISL.

18. IRISH FUNDS INDEMNITY
Clause 17.4(i) of the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:

“any claim by [*confidential treatment requested/material filed separately*].”

19. SCHEDULE 8

The reference to “Legal Lending Limit guarantees provided by London Branch” in column 2 of the table set out in Schedule 8 shall be
deleted and the words “Credit facilities guaranteed by Barings (Guernsey) Limited” substituted therefore.

20. GENERAL

20.1 Save as expressly amended by this Deed, the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

21. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION
21.1 This Deed shall be governed by, construed and take effect in accordance with English law.

21.2 The courts of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any claim, dispute or matter of difference which may arise out of or in
connection with this Deed (including, without limitation, claims for set-off or counterclaim) or the legal relationship established by this
Deed.

21.3 Nothing in this Deed confers any rights on any person (other than the parties hereto) pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)
Act 1999.
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SCHEDULE 1

APPENDIX C

ING DELEGATED AUTHORITIES - OMITTED
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SCHEDULE 2

FIXED ASSET MEMORANDUM

CHARTS OMITTED
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SCHEDULE 3

GUARANTEES

CHART OMITTED
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SCHEDULE 4

PART 1

FSG IT CONTRACTS

PART 2

GUERNSEY AND DUBLIN IT CONTRACTS

PART 3

SHARED CONTRACTS

CHARTS OMITTED

o111 -
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IN WITNESS whereof this Deed has been duly executed and delivered on the date set out above.

Executed as a Deed
by Baring Asset Management
Holdings Limited acting by

Executed as a Deed
by ING Bank N.V. acting by

Executed as a Deed
by The Northern Trust International Banking Corporation
acting by

Executed as a Deed
by The Northern Trust Company
acting by

S12 -
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Executed as a Deed
by Northern Trust GFS Holdings Limited
acting by
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Exhibit 31(i)

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, William A. Osborn, Chief Executive Officer of Northern Trust Corporation, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending March 31, 2005 of Northern Trust Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’ s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to

us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is

reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’ s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 2, 2005 /s/ William A. Osborn

William A. Osborn
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31(ii)

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Steven L. Fradkin, Chief Financial Officer of Northern Trust Corporation, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending March 31, 2005 of Northern Trust Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’ s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is

reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’ s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 2, 2005 /s/ Steven L. Fradkin

Steven L. Fradkin
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32(i)

Certifications of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Northern Trust Corporation (the “Corporation”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31,
2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), William A. Osborn, as Chief Executive Officer
of the Corporation, and Steven L. Fradkin, as Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Corporation.

/s/ William A. Osborn

William A. Osborn

Chief Executive Officer

May 2, 2005

/s/ Steven L. Fradkin
Steven L. Fradkin
Chief Financial Officer
May 2, 2005

A signed original of this written statement required by section 906 has been provided to Northern Trust Corporation and will be retained by

Northern Trust Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Exhibit 99(i)

EDITED VERSION OF REMARKS DELIVERED BY
MR. WILLIAM A. OSBORN AT THE ANNUAL MEETING
OF STOCKHOLDERS OF NORTHERN TRUST
CORPORATION HELD APRIL 19, 2005

OVERVIEW

While the votes are being counted, I' d like to give you a brief report on Northern Trust’ s progress last year and in the first quarter and talk

about some of our plans going forward.

Northern Trust remains a unique financial services firm focused on fee revenues and serving the needs of a targeted client set - affluent
individuals in the U.S. and institutional clients worldwide. 2004 was a year of great momentum for Northern Trust as we achieved record
annual revenues and record net income, which rose 25% to $506 million. Our success and growth reflected an improved market in macro-
economic terms, including higher equity markets and rising interest rates, excellent success in winning new clients, and strong relationship

strength in cross-selling our services to existing clients.

We had outstanding growth in all of our key business indicators. Assets under custody were up 22% and reached a record high of $2.6 trillion
at year-end. Global custody assets were up 34% and ended the year at the $1 trillion mark for the first time. And assets under management
were up 19% and reached a record high of $572 billion. Of particular note are the compound annual growth rates achieved during the last 5
years. Compound growth rates of assets under custody over the past 5 years is 10%, global custody assets is 25%, and assets under

management of 14%. This comes at a time of declining markets in all areas.
Now let me briefly review our businesses.

PERSONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES

In Personal Financial Services, we are a leading provider of private banking, investment management, trust, and custody services to affluent

individuals, families, and family offices.

We are ranked as the number one personal trust bank in the U.S. by SNL Financial based on personal trust assets. Throughout our network of
offices, we reach approximately 40% of the U.S. millionaires.

Our Wealth Management Group, which is focused typically on clients with over $75 million of investable assets, serves 24% of the ‘Forbes
400 Richest People in America’ . In fact, last year we surpassed 300 families being served in that area, with over $100 billion in assets.

Delivery of our services is through an 83-office, 17-state network where we have attractive, high-end private banking facilities that offer a full
range of private client services locally. This is evidenced by the number of professionals that we have close to the client in these offices - over
250 trust professionals, over 225 portfolio managers, and over 350 banking professionals.
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CORPORATE & INSTITUTIONAL SERVICES

Corporate & Institutional Services delivers asset servicing, fund administration, investment management, and advisory services to institutional
investors worldwide. Clients are public and private retirement plans, foundations, endowments, global fund managers, and other asset pools
such as governmental entities.

A few facts you might find interesting:
We now have 12 locations worldwide, and we opened a representative office in Beijing this quarter.
We have over 1,750 of our staff located outside of the United States today.
We have clients in 39 countries.

Between 25% and 33% of Northern Trust’ s bottom line is generated by international related businesses.

To give you an idea of some of the clients we won in 2004:

We won Julius Baer Investment Management for all their U.S. operations where they have outsourced their back office to the Northern
Trust.

The Los Angeles Fire and Police Pension Commissioners gave us all their custody assets.

Folksam, which is a very large Swedish insurance company. Our people in the U.K. did an exceptional job of putting together a solution
for their needs, and we have their business.

We also had a terrific win with one of our longtime clients, Exxon Mobil, in being able to expand the amount of index assets that we
manage for that client.

An important strategy for growth in C&IS is to continuously enhance our product capabilities to meet the expanding needs of our target
clients. Our acquisition of the Baring Asset Management’ s Financial Services Group fits that perfectly. This transaction closed on March 31st
of this year with a purchase price of about $500 million.

The Financial Services Group enhances our ability to serve existing global fund manager clients and attract new clients with a stronger and
broader set of capabilities including: hedge fund administration, U.K. fund administration, private equity administration, and property
administration. The professionalism and the expertise their people bring to us is very important to us.

This acquisition complements nicely Northern Trust’ s existing fund services capabilities in London, Dublin, and Luxembourg and our
growing back and middle office outsourcing capabilities. It also adds locations in Guernsey, Jersey, and the Isle of Man.

The acquisition also brings to us an impressive list of new clients to whom we can cross-sell our existing capabilities. The business that we’ ve
acquired generated last year $160 million in revenues and operated at a pre-tax margin of about 33%.
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NORTHERN TRUST GLOBAL INVESTMENTS

Our investment area, as many of you know, has been an area of great emphasis for us over the past 10 years. At the end of March 2005, we
managed $589 billion of client assets. We rank as the ninth largest worldwide asset manager, and we are the third largest institutional index
manager.

We have diversification across both asset classes and investment styles. At the end of March, we had $367 billion under active management,
$194 billion under quantitative or passive management, and $27.5 billion under what we call manager of managers programs, or what you
might call open architecture. This manager of managers program is a business that has been growing substantially. The assets have doubled in
that area in the last 2 years.

SUMMARY

We have a number of exciting growth opportunities underway across all of our businesses.

In Personal Financial Services, we continue to develop our people to help lead with advice. In fact, in the last year and a half, we’ ve
extensively trained our professionals to help them do a better job of being able to work with and give advice to our clients and prospects. It' s a
big part of how our business is developing. We continue to sharpen our focus on expanding relationships with existing clients as well as
increasing our share in both existing and new markets. Of course, we continue to evaluate and move into new markets, with Minneapolis and
Boston both opening during 2005. As many of you know, the last couple of years we’ ve gone into the East Coast with offices in New York,

Stamford, Connecticut, and Delaware.

In Corporate & Institutional Services, we have a very significant focus on developing our business with large institutional investors across the
globe. We also see the global fund managers as a great growth market and our recent wins, as well as our acquisition of FSG, demonstrate our
ability to succeed in that attractive market space. We remained focused on our clients and have a proven track record of expanding
relationships with them. In fact, if you go over the past 10 years or 15 years, half of our new business in C&IS has come from our existing

clients.

In Northern Trust Global Investments, as I mentioned, we have been building out our product capability and array significantly over the past
10 years. Our growth strategies now are focused a great deal on a variety of sales and distribution initiatives. We find that our client bases,
both our institutional and personal, remain an important growth area for our asset management business. We have also found in some markets,
particularly outside the U.S., that we lead with investment sales. That has allowed us to establish relationships on the investment side and then

cross-sell back into our custody and banking areas.

STOCK PERFORMANCE

Our stock was up 5% in 2004. Our long-term performance has been quite strong. Ten year compound growth rate in the stock is 19%
compared to 10% for the S&P 500, and 15% for the KBW50 Bank Index.
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I would be remiss if I didn’ t comment about the middle of the stock performance chart. I would remind you that in 2000 the PE multiple of
Northern Trust was over 45. Realism came in as the market contracted over the next few years. I would comment that I think long run the
stock price is going to be driven primarily by earnings growth as opposed to any expansion in the PE multiple.

FIRST QUARTER 2005 EARNINGS HIGHLIGHTS

This morning we announced our First Quarter earnings. We had record earnings in the First Quarter with net income up 9% from last year to
$139 million. And earnings per share up 11% to 63 cents.

This was driven by strong top-line revenue growth, including record fees in both Corporate Institutional Services and Personal Financial
Services and record net interest income. We saw our assets under custody increase 18% from a year ago to $2.6 trillion. We’ re up modestly
from the end of the year. Assets under management were up 13% to $589 billion. That is also up from the end of the year.

We are very confident and have a good feeling that the momentum that we experienced in the latter part of last year, particularly in the
personal business, is carrying forth this year. We are well positioned for the future.

CLOSING

As I conclude, let me remind you that this presentation may have included forward-looking statements like those described in the projected
slide.

Our 2004 annual report and periodic reports to the SEC contain information about specific factors that could cause actual results to differ from

these statements and you are urged to read them.

Now in closing, I have a number of thank-yous to give.

First I want to thank our employees for their exceptional efforts in 2004. I also want to thank our clients around the world. As I have said to
some groups, our client base, if you put the quality of them up on a screen, they are the best in this business. We really have exceptional
clients. We thank them for their confidence and trust in choosing Northern Trust. I want to thank our Board of Directors for their advice,

counsel, and support. I want all of you to know that we continue to be optimistic about your company.

I’ d be happy to answer any questions you may have.
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Mr. Osborn’ s above remarks may be deemed to include forward-looking statements such as statements that relate to Northern Trust’ s
financial goals, dividend policy, expansion and business development plans, anticipated expense levels and projected profit improvements,
business prospects and positioning with respect to market and pricing trends, strategic initiatives, re-engineering and outsourcing activities,
new business results and outlook, changes in securities market prices, credit quality including reserve levels, planned capital expenditures and
technology spending, and the effects of any extraordinary events and various other matters (including developments in litigation and
regulation involving Northern Trust and changes in accounting policies, standards and interpretations) on Northern Trust’ s business and
results. These statements speak of Northern Trust’ s plans, goals, strategies, beliefs, and expectations, and refer to estimates or use similar
terms. Actual results could differ materially from those indicated by these statements because the realization of those results is subject to many
risks and uncertainties. Our 2004 annual report and periodic reports to the SEC contain information about specific factors that could cause
actual results to differ, and you are urged to read them.
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